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Corporate Profile
NI

Established in 1988, Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited is a
leading provider of e-commerce services for Hong Kong business
community. Since 1997, Tradelink has been providing Government
Electronic Trading Services (GETS) for the trading community,
initially under a 7-year exclusive franchise (1997-2003) and
thereafter under licences with the current one expiring by end of
2024, extendable up to three years at the Government's
discretion. Over the years, Tradelink has earned the trust and
support of the trading community; enabling it to stand firmly as
the dominant player in the e-commerce market. With the mission
to empower its clients with business enabled e-solutions for their
commercial and financial activities, Tradelink has diversified its
business beyond GETS into other business areas. In addition to
GETS, Tradelink also offers a wide range of solutions, including
supply chain solutions, digital certification services/identity
management solutions, payment technology solutions and a
Community Logistics Platform through its wholly-owned
subsidiaries Digital Trade and Transportation Network Limited,
Digi-Sign Certification Services Limited, Tradelink PayTech Solutions
Limited and VSHIP Limited.

Tradelink was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 00536) on 28 October 2005.
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Financial Highlights

BB E

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
BE-Z-n& HE-_T—N\&
+=A=+-—-8H +-A=+—H
LEFE 5 E
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Revenue U 2 337,175 271,930
Profit from operations mE R 101,219 104,766
Profit attributable to equity AATRERSEABMEER
shareholders of the Company 82,201 89,768
Total assets EE#E 592,293 552,602
Net assets EEFE 370,927 350,757
Dividend per share (HK cents) FRERE GBI
Interim mRER AR B 3.3 3.5
Proposed final Bk R AR AR B 6.5 6.0
Earnings per share (HK cents) SRERCGEWL)
Basic HAK 10.3 11.3
Diluted e 10.3 11.3
Financial ratios B 7% b =&
Net profit margin (Note 1) Fm AR M) 24.4% 33.0%
Effective tax rate (Note 2) BERBE (W F2) 14.6% 15.4%
Current ratio (Note 3) BV K (f#£3) 1.22 0.96
Quick ratio (Note 4) RENLE R (Hit4) 1.22 0.96
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2018
RZE—-NF
+-A=+—8
‘000
T
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares ERITRBEEEAR
As at 31 December WR+ZA=+—H 794,634 794,634
Weighted average number of ordinary shares HK+ZA=+—HBBE#¥17T
(basic) outstanding as at 31 December T 3B AR B hn 9 2
(EX) 794,634 794,624

Note 1 Net profit margin = profit attributable to equity shareholders of the — [HfzF1 JEFIE = K 2\ Gl RIEFF B A JE 15 % F

Company/revenue i 2%
Note 2 Effective tax rate = taxation/profit before taxation B2 BB ER=FIE BT SF
Note 3 Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities WE3 mBE=pEEE BEE
- — =

Note 4 Quick ratio = current assets minus inventory/current liabilities

Wiita FEHE=THEERNTFE THEE
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Financial Highlights (Continued)
B2 )

% of Segment Revenue of
Total Revenue
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Revenue (HK$ million)
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Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

Dear Shareholders,

Review

To all of us in the trading and financial industry, there is no doubt that
2019 was an exceedingly challenging year. While the rising trade
tensions between the US and China, as expected, continued to dampen
Hong Kong'’s economic performance in the year, the unprecedented local
social unrest that has started since the summer has shaken the Hong
Kong community and taken a toll on Hong Kong's economic activities.
The International Monetary Fund estimates that Hong Kong’s economy
was expected to contract 1.9% in 2019, worse than the government'’s
earlier forecast of a 1.3% decline.

Against such an adverse operating environment and coupled with the
fact that all of our business is based in Hong Kong, | take comfort in
reporting that the Group’s overall performance for 2019, though
recording a drop on a year-on-year basis, has improved with the drop
narrowing compared with the results in the first half of the year. In fact,
due to the revenue from the supplies of goods to our solutions
contracts entered into with customers, the Group recorded a revenue
increase of 24.0% from HK$271.9 million in 2018 to HK$337.2 million
in 2019. On the costs side, largely due to the significant increase in the
cost of purchase of goods and coupled with an exchange loss of HK$2.1
million in 2019 versus a gain of HK$1.0 million in 2018 causing a swing
of almost HK$3.1 million, the Group’s total operating costs in 2019
jacked up 38.2% to HK$252.6 million from HK$182.7 million in 2018.
As a result, the operating profit of the Group was down from HK$104.8
million in 2018 to HK$101.2 million in 2019, a drop of 3.4%, a
significant improvement over the 13.5% drop for our 2019 Interim
Results.

BEMRE

[ B8

HEEEZREMENS  —T-NLFHREME
BB —F - —mpe - pExE5/NAE
SENTEREAEENRLERE  BAEFMN
HERMMAARNABHESHE BRPIELLE
EEARERYTXIZE BREBESHEBS
AOBRBE ST -NAFEBLBESRAE9% LK
5 B TR M 1 3% E2 = -

AETAELERE  MERMEBEBAEEA
B RAMBER #E_T—NFAEEE
BRAASBRFTYR  ERBEERELFEEK
F-FEL BHRERXFIVNBRAIREHNA
HEESHKE  A5EEHBKREE =T —/\F
K75 #271,900,0007T 3 1124 0% £ =T — N FH
75 #337,200,0007T c ER AN FE c TEZHNREE
ERKAKNEEE B - NEHEINERRE
75 #2,100,0007C - T = Z — /\F B B U B %
1,000,0007T * {31547 7% #3,100,0007T * AN B HY
KK A BEER =T — )\ F K% #182,700,0007T
EF38.2% E =T — L4 &% #5252,600,0007T °
At AEENL2 58BN \NFHEE
104,800,0007C T B3.4%%E — T — fL 4 0 8 &
101,200,0007C * B8 = T — N F F B ¥ & Bk 18
13.5% B RN E -
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
ETHEHRES @)

Review (Continued)

Unfortunately, we needed to make a provision of HK$1.3 million for the
impairment loss for the portfolio of corporate bonds holding in our other
financial assets and another provision of HK$4.5 million to write down
part of our investment in our major PRC associate. With these provisions
and together with the reduction of the share of our PRC results, our
profits before tax in 2019 at HK$96.2 million was down 9.4% from
HK$106.2 million in 2018. Taking into account the recognition of the
deferred tax charge arising from utilisation of the unused tax losses of
Digital Trade and Transportation Network Limited (“DTTNCo"”) and the
enhanced tax deductions for certain expenses incurred in relation to our
research and development activities, the Group's after tax profit for
2019 was HK$82.2 million, down 8.4% from HK$89.8 million for 2018,
a slight improvement over the first half net profit drop of 10.7%.

Regarding the performance of our three business segments in 2019,
except E-Commerce which was directly and badly hit by the weakened
Hong Kong economy and inevitably also adversely affected, the other
two business segments, namely Identity Management (“IDM"”) and Other
Services, both recorded pleasing results. As | mentioned in my statement
in the 2019 Interim Report, we were able to compensate for the
shortfall of our IDM business from the first half of the year and achieve
overall positive results for the full year in this segment. Segment profit
of our IDM business increased significantly by 40.0% from HK$7.6
million in 2018 to HK$10.6 million in 2019. Though the top line was
slightly down 2.6% from HK$57.3 million in 2018 to HK$55.8 million in
2019, the segment profit increased due to our shift to higher margin
projects and the decline of our low margin security token delivery
During the reporting period, we have completed
almost all orders carried forward from 2018 for our two-factor biometric
authentication (“2FA") solutions used by banks or major corporations for
identification verification of their clients for conducting online
transactions and/or Know-Your-Customer (“KYC") checks of their client
for mobile bank account opening. During the year, we have received
several sizable orders for our electronic Know-Your-Customer (“eKYC")
solutions from new customers for which development work have been
underway. We are particularly happy that in addition to our traditional
bank customers, banks,
insurance company and Stored Value Facilities ("SVF") licensees.

services business.

we have new customers who are virtual

[ B (4%)

AEME RMEAREGHGEEEREOLERE
HH 6 R E B 18 5 R B #75%51,300,0007T K Bt il
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RITHRPRAETRBROEL ([RBHEHER])
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BMPENEFEESZEAREFLRBROES
([EFERBIROBTPDBAFERIE - AR
TEBEHETT BREHBRITELIN HMALH
REEFEF HEAREBRRBT RBRARKEE
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Review (Continued)

As for our Other Services business, its revenue at HK$35.0 million, grew
significantly by 53.1% compared to the revenue at HK$22.9 million last
year. The revenue increase mostly came from our Smart Point-of-Sales
("PoS") business for which the revenue in 2019 recorded a more than
three-fold increase from that in 2018. We are pleased to see the harvest
of this business after many years of hard plowing work. Continuing the
momentum from the first half of the year, we received orders from our
existing major bank customer for more Smart PoS deployments for their
clients, although the pace slowed down somewhat in the last couple of
months due to the impact of the social events on the local retail
industry. As our Government Electronic Trading Services-related business
remained stable, with the higher cost of purchase and staff to fulfill
customer orders for the increased number of Smart PoS devices,
reportable profit for Other Services was at par year-on-year at HK$14.8
million.

Turning back to our E-Commerce business segment, though the total
revenue increased 28.5% from HK$191.7 million in 2018 to HK$246.3
million in 2019, the segment profit of HK$69.2 million, was down 4.8%
compared with the segment profit of HK$72.7 million in 2018. Affected
by the gloomy economy in 2019, the overall Government Electronic
Trading Services (“GETS”) market shrank by 4.8% year-on-year. As a
result, revenue of our GETS business also plunged 4.0% year-on-year
from HK$168.6 million last year to HK$161.8 million this year. The
increase in the E-Commerce segment’s total revenue was from our
Supply Chain Solutions sub-segment with revenue soared remarkably to
HK$84.5 million in 2019, almost treble the 2018 revenue of HK$23.1
million, due to an exceptional revenue amount from the supplies of
goods for our mega-warehouse automation project. On the other hand,
as correspondingly we have a much higher cost of purchase, though we
have introduced effective cost control measures for our GETS costs, the
reportable profit of our E-Commerce business was still down by 4.8%.

T -NFFR

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
EFRHEE B

[ B (48)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
ETHEHRES @)

Review (Continued)

As for the GETS business sub-segment, aside from factors affecting its
operating environment which are outside our control (global and local
economic and/or social issues), we successfully achieved higher average
prices for most of our services and effectively reduced our costs without
compromising our high service quality through various measures
introduced since last year in anticipation of the upcoming touch business
environment. And for our Supply Chain Solutions sub-segment, 2019
was also a challenging year following its success in securing the mega-
warehouse automation project last year from a major retail chain store in
Hong Kong. While several new orders were received during the year and
the related development work started, a significant amount of resources
were deployed in executing and/or coordinating with subcontractors on
different aspects of the implementation work of this mega-warehouse
automation project. The successful delivery of this project is of
paramount importance and key strategic value to us as being the
biggest and most sophisticated automated warehouse project of its kind
in Asia (ex-China). The project would become our key reference site for
those who are looking for similar solutions to address their warehouse
operation issues, not only in Hong Kong but also in the region. We are
pleased that the work to date has proceeded smoothly and was close to
completion as at the time of my writing this Statement. At the same
time, we are reasonably confident of the successful deployment of the
project to the satisfaction of our retail chain store client during early
2020.

The performance of our PRC associate, Guangdong Nanfang Haian
Science & Technology Service Company Limited (“Nanfang”) during the
year was rather disappointing as the Group's share of profit in 2019
from Nanfang dropped to HK$0.8 million compared with the share profit
in 2018 at HK$1.5 million, down 48.2%. Given our share of profit for
the first half of the year was HK$1.4 million, Nanfang was actually
running in the red in the second half of the year with relatively more
costs incurred for research and development work conducted in the
latter part of the year and hence causing a reduction of the Group’s
share profit for the year. With the uncertainty about the Nanfang's
business prospect, we decided to write down part of this investment
during 2019, by HK$4.5 million.

[ B (4%)
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Prospects

While the US and mainland China have reached a first-phase trade
agreement in early 2020, global economic growth has yet to improve
and the external environment is still subject to various challenges.
Locally, economists and researchers warn that our economic outlook will
continue to be afflicted by uncertainties with the softening of global
demand, the lingering contentious relationship between Washington and
Beijing, China’s economic slowdown, rising trade barriers as well as
shifts in manufacturing, all of which will adversely affect growth in Hong
Kong,

To make matters worse, the outbreak of the novel coronavirus epidemic
starting near the end of 2019 has spread beyond China, giving rise to
fear not only in China but around the world. The epidemic has provoked
alarm that the world economy may be in for another shock. There is
considerable uncertainty as to how the global economy might react to
the outbreak which would depend on its severity, extent of its spread
and the duration of the outbreak. To China, the shock is hitting just as
it contends with its slowest pace of economic growth in decades.
Though some analysts believed that the novel coronavirus may prove to
be only a temporary shock and may not necessarily have a long-lasting
impact, still, the scale of the impact and timing of the recovery would
mainly be determined by the unfolding course of the epidemic, which is
still unknown at this stage. Also even should the novel coronavirus
outbreak be brought under control more quickly than SARS was in
2003, the economic impact would look likely to be at least on a similar
scale, if not greater.

Going forward, it looks like 2020 will be an even more challenging year
than last year for Hong Kong given all these uncertainties over the
global economy along with our local social issues which have not really
been settled. The Group cannot be exempted from such a tough
operating environment and we cannot predict when the worst will have
passed. At this stage, for the business community at large, the prospects
for 2020 remain unclear, with doubts about any further economic
measures introduced by the Government and their effectiveness in
helping Hong Kong businesses survive the economic downturn and
overcoming the recession as further aggravated by the novel coronavirus
epidemic. All in all, we are bracing ourselves for a pretty dismal 2020.
We would stay vigilant and spare no effort in exercising tight cost
controls and redoubling our efforts in exploring new
opportunities where possible for all of our business segments.

revenue

T -NFFR

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
ETHEHRES @)

Prospects (Continued)

Amongst our three business segments, the E-Commerce and specifically
GETS sub-segment would undoubtedly be the one most affected by the
deteriorating Hong Kong economy as we expect the overall GETS market
would further shrink, though to what extent is hard to predict at this
time. Under a difficult operating environment, though the competition
amongst service providers would likely ease, we expect more price
pressure and negotiation from existing customers and as a result we
might not be able to realize an increase in average price as much as we
could otherwise achieve. Another emerging trend in recent years which
is not to our favor is the shift of trade declaration submission from
shippers to couriers and forwarders who have higher bargaining power
for a lower price from us and, as such, also affecting our overall
average price. On the other hand, as most of our costs for supporting
GETS are sunk or fixed costs, any drop of the top line will almost go
directly to the bottom line. For our GETS business outlook in 2020, it is
not a question of whether there will be a hit, the question is how hard
the hit will be.

Regarding the Government'’s Single Window (“SW") project, according to
their latest status update provided to the Legislative Council Panel on
Commerce and Industry in December 2019, there will be a further delay
to the schedule. While their original plan was to launch Phase 1 in
2018, Phase 2 in Q4 2021 and Phase 3 in Q4 2023 at the earliest, five
out of the 13 documents under Phase 1 were rolled out before the end
of 2018. According to their latest brief to the Legislative Council Panel,
implementation of all Phase 1 documents will be completed by mid-2020
and their latest timetable to launch Phase 2 is 2023. For Phase 3 there
is no schedule at this stage. As | mentioned in my Statements in the
Group's reports in the last couple of years, we will closely monitor the
development of this SW project, in particular the likely future operating
environment for Value Added Service Providers (“VASPs”), one of which
we potentially will become when the current GETS licence expires. In the
light of their actual progress in the last two years, we have set up a
small team in 2020 taking up a new function of exploring business
opportunities relating to SW documents from a VASP point of view.

Al 5= (%)
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Prospects (Continued)

For our Supply Chain Solutions sub-segment under E-Commerce and the
other two business segments, namely IDM and Other Services, we should
have reasonable confidence of their prospects in 2020, if not because of
the recent novel coronavirus epidemic affecting the global economy. As
for the Supply Chain Solutions sub-segment, we already have on hand a
couple of target customers who are interested in implementing
warehouse automation solutions similar to the mega-warehouse project
we deployed for the major retail chain store, albeit likely on a smaller
scale. As for our major retail chain store customer, upon successful
deployment of the automated solution for their warehouse for ambient
goods, they plan to proceed to automate their other warehouses in
Hong Kong and elsewhere in the region. However, whether these
customers would hold back their decision to invest in relatively large
scale projects due to the gloomy economic environment is certainly a risk
to us. That said, on the other side of the coin, one of the lessons
learned from the current novel coronavirus outbreak affecting most
business’ normal operation is that it might offer us a golden opportunity
to promote our automated solutions to corporates so that they no
longer need to bear the ever increasing staff costs and more
importantly, rely on staff availability. We believe that some corporates
would find justification for automation of their operations to be easier
and more logical. As the sales cycle of cases of this nature would
usually take a longer time, we would at the same time look for any
low-hanging fruit, that is, projects of a smaller scale and more
affordable to our customers which could help them run their business
more cost effectively under an adverse operating environment.

Regarding our IDM business, again continuing our strong growth
momentum with strong leads already on hand expressing keen interest
in our IDM products, in particular eKYC solutions from traditional as well
as virtual banks, insurance companies, stockbrokers and SVF licensees,
prior to the novel coronavirus outbreak, we have been rather confident
in our IDM business performance in 2020. However with the spreading
of the novel coronavirus in Hong Kong affecting the business and
operations of many corporates in Hong Kong including our target
customers in the banking and financial industry, we are afraid that some
of the strong prospects we previously had a high probability of winning
might not materialise in the near future. In any event, we believe that
the demand from our prospective customers is still there and it is only a
matter of time before they would confirm their orders with us once the
outbreak passes and their businesses and operations return to normal.
Meanwhile we would continue our research and development (“R&D")
work on relevant technology to apply to our IDM products to keep pace
with the technological trends and market demand.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Prospects (Continued)

Our Other Services segment will face the same, if not more intense
challenges as the other business segments. Retailers in Hong Kong, key
customers of our Smart PoS solutions, have had their businesses badly
hit due to the local social movement in the latter half of last year. With
the novel coronavirus outbreak since earlier in the year rubbing salt into
the wound, they are facing one of the most severe operating
environments ever. We are not so hopeful that our bank customers
would continue placing big orders for Smart PoS deployment for their
retailer clients as they did in the first-half of last year, at least in the
near future. In view of the emerging threat, we have refined our
strategy to work with a payment gateway partner to deploy Smart PoS
solutions for SME retailers, a market generally not well-covered by banks.
As for our GETS-related business under the Other Services, we would
expect that it would as usual largely follow the direction of our core
GETS business, and plummet in 2020. However the good news was that
through its tendering exercise, we have won back the partner which
provides paper collection services for trade declaration. We lost this
partner to our competitor in early 2019 but due to the early-termination
of their two-year contract, we successfully seized the opportunity and
won the tender issued by this partner in late 2019. As our new contract
with the partner will commence in early 2020, we expect revenue from
our paper-to-electronic conversion services for trade declaration users
would increase. That said, with the degree of decline expected in our
Smart PoS business, the outlook of our Other Services business in 2020
is still on the pessimistic side.

Last but not least, regarding our PRC associate Nanfang, we also are not
so optimistic about its prospects in 2020, The business of Nanfang will
continue to be hit for several reasons, topmost being its cessation of its
profitable since the
implementation of the national single window. Also damaging is the

most river manifest declaration services
negative impact on its business reputation and relationship with partners
caused by the shareholder who was involved in legal cases with Nanfang
and other outside parties. We would stay vigilant and keep a close
watch on its development under the lead of its controlling shareholder
who is a major state-owned enterprise. As such, unless they make a
major breakthrough, we believe the Group’s share of profit from

Nanfang would drop in 2020.
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Dividends

As always we take our shareholders’ interests as our priority. As
Tradelink remains debt-free, with a healthy cash reserve, the board of
directors of the Company (the “Board” or the “Board of Directors”) has
decided to recommend a nearly 92% payout of the Group's profit of
HK$85.0 million after excluding the deferred tax charge of DTTNCo at
HK$2.8 million relating to tax loss for 2019. This means a final dividend
of HK 6.5 cents per share, which together with the interim dividend of
HK 3.3 cents per share payout for the first half of 2019, will result in a
total dividend of HK 9.8 cents per share for the entire year, higher than
the total dividend for 2018 of HK 9.5 cents per share by 3.2%.

Acknowledgment

Finally, 1 would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to
our shareholders and my fellow Board members for their continuing
support of the Group. My thanks also go to our staff for their hard
work in the past year which certainly was a challenging and tough time.

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, sBsS., J.P.
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2020
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Business Review

E-Commerce Business Review

The rising trade tensions between the US and China and heightened
political and economic uncertainty have undoubtedly blunted Hong
Kong’s 2019 economic performance. The weakening economic
conditions have further been double hit by the social events that have
shaken the Hong Kong community starting the second half of the year.
Our E-Commerce business which largely depends on the Hong Kong
economy and export activities as a result has no doubt been undermined
considerably, recording a slump in its segment performance. In terms of
turnover, with the exceptional income from the supplies of goods for
fulfillment of the mega warehouse automation project, our E-Commerce
business recorded a growth from HK$191.7 million last year to
HK$246.3 million this year, an increase of HK$54.6 million or 28.5%.
Including the additional cost of purchase of goods for that mega
project, total costs of the E-Commerce segment surged to HK$177.1
million in 2019, up 48.8% from HK$119.0 million in 2018. Accordingly,
the segment profit dropped from HK$72.7 million last year to HK$69.2
million this year, down 4.8% on a year-on-year basis.

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

Looking closer into the GETS sub-segment as the core component of our
E-Commerce business, against a poor operating environment affected by
the slowdown of Hong Kong external trade causing a shrinkage of the
overall market by 4.8% year-on-year, its revenue dropped HK$6.8 million
or 4.0% from HK$168.6 million in 2018 to HK$161.8 million in 2019.
Compared with the first half of the year when there was a revenue drop
of 4.6%, there actually was a slight improvement in the second half of
the year resulting in a marginally narrowing decline in revenue for the
full year. As mentioned in the 2019 Interim Report, because of our
ability to achieve an overall price increase of our services, we managed
to contain our GETS revenue loss to a level less than that of the market
shrinkage.

As regards our Supply Chain Solutions sub-segment, its revenue rose
markedly to HK$84.5 million in 2019, HK$61.4 million more than the
revenue of HK$23.1 million in 2018. The revenue recorded in 2019
included two income items totally amounting to almost HK$62.8 million
for the supply of goods required under our mega warehouse automation
project on a work-in-progress basis for the major retail chain client. On
the other hand, in 2018, revenue was recorded for the same project,
also on a work-in-progress basis for the software licence delivered to the
client. Excluding the revenue recognized for this mega warehouse
project in 2018 and 2019, our Supply Chain Solutions sub-segment
recorded a slight drop in top line in 2019 of about 2.3% year-on-year.
Aside from the Warehouse Management System (“WMS") project for a
major express courier as mentioned in the 2019 Interim Report, we have
confirmed several interesting projects in the second half of 2019 for
which work has started and revenue recognized on a work-in-progress
basis. One of these was a WMS project supporting the operation of
physical stores and eShop of a leading retail chain selling consumer
electronic products and home appliances. Another new project was a
WMS and Transportation Management System for use by a major service
provider offering storage,
abandoned regulated electrical equipment. The client was required by

reprocessing and recycling services for
the regulatory authority to implement a technical solution to manage
their recycled home appliance operations. Following the formal
requirements of the regulatory authority, we successfully won the tender
issued by this client for this project. Another interesting case worth
mentioning was an order confirmed by a group of enterprises involved in
music internationally to use our WMS for managing their warehouse
inventory of musical instruments and publications. These new orders
demonstrated the versatility and adaptability of our WMS through its
application across a diverse range of industries.
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Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

As for the mega automated warehouse project for our leading retail
chain client, the Automated Guided Vehicles (“AGVs") integrated with
our WMS/Warehouse Execution System (“WES") have been deployed for
a pilot run before the end of 2019. Construction of the racking on
which the 4-way shuttles would run has also been completed and a test
run of the first batch of 4-way shuttles received have as well been
successfully executed before the end of the year. Subject to further
performance tuning and delivery of the remaining batches of the 4-way
shuttles by our partners, we expect the project to be completed in early
2020. Turning back to our major express courier customer who ordered
our WMS in the first half of the year to support their new business-to-
business (B2B) e-business operations, they have requested further
enhancement work from us to support integration and connection to
their new business customers in the second half of the year.

As mentioned in the 2019 Interim Report, we have commenced our
nine-month R&D project for which Government IT supporting funding
had been sought as scheduled in June. The project involves the
development of a middleware that enables our WES to support AGVs of
different brands, thus providing flexibility to warehouse operators to
implement automated warehousing solutions. The project is scheduled to
be completed in early 2020.

Looking ahead to 2020, hit hard by the already dismal economy as
further aggravated by the novel coronavirus epidemic, the operating
environment for our E-Commerce business is expected to be seriously
grim. Further shrinkage of the GETS market is clearly inevitable and what
is uncertain is the extent of the fall. Barring such macroeconomic factors
which are beyond our control, our GETS business would otherwise
remain steadfast given a stable competitive environment and the
devoted support of our massive customer base. With business volume
dropping, we would strive to achieve a higher average price per
transaction to minimize the revenue loss. To this end, we would
continue to deliver quality service in which our customers find value-for-
money. Nevertheless we would look into implementation of more
stringent cost control measures while upholding our service quality.
Admittedly this is a major challenge to us.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEEN®RED T @)

Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

Regarding the Government's SW project, in the light of its latest
development as mentioned in the Chairman’s Statement in this Annual
Report, we would stay vigilant and continue to monitor closely its
progress particularly with regard to its implementation schedule for
phase 2 and phase 3. As soon as the opportunity arises, we would get
involved in the consultation forum set up by the Government for
potential VASPs offering our views from the perspective as a VASP under
the future SW environment. Meanwhile, taking advantage of the
Government’s SW development, our new business development team
would conduct research and explore potential related business
opportunities which we could offer to our customers, enhancing their

stickiness with us before full implementation of the SW.

Though our Supply Chain Solutions business could not be immune to the
tough operating environment expected in 2020, we are not as
pessimistic about its prospects as we are about our GETS business. With
our mega automated warehouse project close to completion and using
this as a reference case to showcase our ability to provide advanced
supply chain solutions, entailing usage of automated material handling
equipment and Internet-of-Things (“loT”) technology for modern
warehouse operations, we have already had on hand several potential
customers interested in implementing similar solutions to support their
business operations. As for our major retail chain customer, while
working with us on the solution supporting their warehouse for ambient
goods, they already have started engaging in discussions with us on
deploying similar automated solutions for their warehouse for wet goods
and cold storage in Hong Kong in 2020 and beyond. As through the
project, we can clearly not only demonstrate savings in warehouse labor
cost but also address the labor scarcity issue, our solution can easily be
justified on the basis of return on investment. Indeed, for various
reasons such as manual work not being desirable or even permitted as in
the case of the recent novel coronavirus epidemic, our automated
warehouse solution offers an ideal way out to that addresses practical
operation issues faced by some businesses. Furthermore with the
middleware ready as a deliverable from our Government funded R&D
project in early 2020, we believe it would help to promote adoption of
warehouse automation and further enhance the attraction of our
solutions and hence potentially realize more business opportunities.

That said, there is still the risk that the decision to invest in sizable
automation projects might well be held back by our potential customers.
Anyhow we would seize the opportunity to sell our solutions to those
customers whose business has not been affected or may have actually
grown under the current operating environment in Hong Kong.
Meanwhile though of smaller size, we have on hand some low-hanging
fruits from which we can readily pluck the projects.
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Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

Last but not least, we are finalizing a new four-year contract
commencing early 2020 with our long-term customer who is one of the
largest mail order houses in the world. Based in Germany, this customer
has been using our vendor/flight management system since 2007
connecting their vendors and forwarders globally (in countries spanning
Asia, Europe and Africa) for better management of their supply chain.
Under the renewed contract, we would expand our scope of services to
support this customer’s new businesses as well as their vendors and
forwarders in the Middle East.

All things considered, we hope to achieve a stable supply chain solutions
business in 2020 helping to narrow slightly the shortfall expected from
the drop of our GETS business. Nevertheless, taking a prudent and
perhaps more pessimistic view on the outlook of Hong Kong's business
environment in 2020, we expect a rather dismal performance overall for
our E-Commerce business in 2020.

Identity Management (“IDM") Business Review

As foreshadowed in the 2019 Interim Report, our IDM business caught
up significantly in the second half of 2019, turning the segment profit
drop of almost 60% for the first half of 2019 into a growth of 40.0%
on a year-on-year basis, and achieving a pleasing result for the full year.
Segment revenue at HK$55.8 million for 2019 was slightly down 2.6%
compared with the revenue for 2018 at HK$57.3 million. While revenue
from our IDM projects in 2019 recorded an increase of 9% compared
with 2018, our ongoing recurrent revenue including our security token
and related delivery service business dropped about 17.0%. As expected
and explained in our 2018 Annual Report, due to the replacement by
our major bank customer of hard tokens issued to their retail clients
with soft tokens, our security token and related delivery service business
overall contracted in 2019 compared with 2018. That said, the business
in fact picked up slightly as there was an increase in the corporate
clients of our major bank customers using hard tokens in the second
half of the year. Thus the drop in this business narrowed to HK$4.5
million for the full year compared to the drop of HK$5.3 million for first
half of the year. As for project revenue in 2019, more than 60% came
from our most sought-after eKYC solutions with that business growing
more than 1.5 times compared to 2018. Project revenue recorded
included a number of completed projects carried forward from last year
and new projects signed up during the year with work-in-progress. On
the cost side, due to the reduction of cost of purchase of hard tokens to
meet the declining demand and the fact that our products are becoming
more commoditized requiring less customization work for individual
customers, our total segment cost dropped to HK$45.2 million in 2019,
down 9.1% from HK$49.7 million in 2018. In addition, the cost decline
was also due to the fact that we no longer need to bear those costs on
R&D work on enhancing our eKYC solution to support the New Smart
Hong Kong Identity (“HKID") Card which we completed early during the
second half of the year. All in all, our IDM business recorded a
remarkable growth of 40% in segment profit from HK$7.6 million in
2018 to HK$10.6 million in 2019.

— =

T -NFFR

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EBREN®mED T @)

5 E e (&)

EFHEXHOE(E)

B&E - BRMERRATFZE O B
Z_RFEFVERPNF ZEFPRERFZAH
BRAAZ - WEPHEEE B _TTLFE
EEARMNEER BEETERS  BEEIRK
HEELEERE BB BN RIEMNZ
CEHEEEREEEEE -RBEENSLH
BMEHRBEREREN SEEPNHER U
RERPROHEERHREERE -

BEEBBEBERL RMPEHERERATREER
R-T_ZFAMFIEE BRI EGETSER
TR S ERWER - A UEEEHBE
BHAEEESN_Z_TFLRBRENR R
MEREREFHEEBREAN_S_ZFIH

SHEB(SNEBRDEKDE

M- NEFPHERERES FHEEREBER
BEE #BZFT—NFLEFHBEMNTBKER
60%1H & A 17 F I RA0.0% 2 FEHE S AR
E-RZZT—NF 5B A B ES5,800,000
JC B =T — )\ F 778 %#57,300,0007T B R
26%  BEHEMHEBRBEEMN_ZT—LFRER
ZE-)\FENI%  BEFEELEHKE (BER
ZiRSEE MAABR N RIS ER) BB A 417.0% °
M-—FT—-N\FFRABEHKEE  T2RTEF
HEERPRLEFREBEE UNRETERS
B RZE-NF RLFEHRLRBBAIGRS
E¥EBBER_ZT-N\FEHFE -HAMY TEHR
TEFHNGEZRFN T FFEAFTLERRD
BOEBEEEEMEA - At -t EKHKIE
W %= &= 2 4 #4,500,0007T © RE X EBI T %
715,300,000 c —E— NFEMEE kS BB
60%RE HITEMNE T RBIRNZ LR
R ZEBBR-_ZT—)\FHBEI15F - IEREMNE
BUEeEZEEEAFAENERKRER RAF
EEIMETHPHER ERAFTE BERED
BERTR RERATH®K BEEREAB®
It EOENEFPEIRIERL  RZT—N
FooBRALBBA_ZT - N\NFHEE
49,700,0007T )8 4°9.1% = /& %45,200,0007T ° It
S BRPIRTEFUNE R AR BB S
NETEEFHEB)MEAEFREBEOES
BRRT R HABAERERS Bt AR
Lo BMIEME BNEBREXSBENBE T
— \ER B 7,600,000 TIENE -~ T — NENE
#10,600,0007T ' £ 1840% M) ] B 18 & -

EZBETESARLST 19




Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEEN®RED T @)

ol
j 4

Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM”) Business Review (Continued)
In terms of new orders received during the reporting period, apart from
those confirmed in the first half of the year and mentioned in the 2019
Interim Report, we have secured several major eKYC projects including
one for our second virtual bank customer, one for our first SVF and a
local Chinese bank in Hong Kong. Our eKYC solutions would be used by
these bank/SVF customers for digital onboarding of their clients. For our
second virtual bank customer, they have also ordered our 2FA solutions
for their clients in conducting business transactions. With the successful
completion of our R&D work to overcome the challenge with the
advanced and sophisticated security features embedded in the new 2018
Smart HKID cards, we are one of the few service providers that can
provide eKYC solutions that support the new HKID cards. We have
received orders for such solutions from existing and new customers
including three banks, one of which is a virtual bank and an insurance
company. Also following our successful deployment of a Public Key
Infrastructure solution for digital signing for a private hospital for signing
of medical records in early 2018, the hospital placed an order for the
same solution to be implemented for their new hospital location. During
the reporting period, revenue recorded included a number of completed
projects carried forward from last year and new projects signed up
during the year with work-in-progress.
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Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM") Business Review (Continued)
Over the vyears, with the solid customer references on our quality
solutions, sound domain knowledge and the ability to continuously
enhance our solutions, we have gained a strong foothold in the local
IDM market, in particular serving the banking and financial industry.
Looking ahead in 2020, with the strong demand from the market, we
would focus on promoting and selling our eKYC solutions to potential
customers for digital onboarding of their clients. We would continue to
pursue opportunities in the banking and financial industries including
banks, in particular virtual banks, insurance companies, stockbrokers and
SVF licensees. Our targets actually go beyond the banking and financial
institutions to large corporates which have a need to authenticate
individuals, be it their staff or customers, for operational needs or
authorization of business transactions. We have built a healthy pipeline
and several hot leads already on hand. For the ongoing enhancement of
our products to meet new market requirements, we are working on a
couple of new initiatives, one of which, upon successful development,
would enable our eKYC solutions to further stand out from others in the
market. At the same time, to keep pace with the evolving technology
changes and to cope with the potential security risks to our customers
and products that might be brought about by such changes, we are
constantly appraising our products and exploring opportunities for
enhancement or new products. We are pleased to be making promising
progress with these new initiatives. However, with the spread of the
novel coronavirus since the beginning of 2020 disrupting the operations
and affecting the business of our target customers, we are afraid that
realistically we have to reset our expectation on the outlook of our IDM
business this year which would otherwise, be rather promising to at
best, cautiously optimistic, depending on how long the epidemic would
last and how fast the recovery would be. We believe the customers
demand and their interests in our IDM products remain unchanged. For
those hot leads which we have been pursuing, we have confidence that
it is only a matter of time before they would confirm their orders with
us
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review

Continuing the favorable performance in the first half of 2019, our
Other Services business which includes GETS-related services, Smart PoS
business and VSHIP, the community logistics platform recorded a strong
growth in revenue from HK$22.9 million in 2018 to HK$35.0 million in
2019, up 53.1%. The increase largely came from our Smart PoS business
which surged more than four times from HK$3.5 million in 2018 to
HK$14.8 million in 2019. Revenue from our GETS-related services which
include primarily our Road Cargo System (“ROCARS") service, the call
centre services offered to the Customs and Excise Department’s
ROCARS, and the paper-to-electronic conversion services for our GETS
paper users, rose slightly due to our success in achieving price increases
for most of our services under this category. This increase was more
than offset by the transaction volume drop which was largely in line
with that of our GETS business. Due to the higher cost of purchase and
staff cost to fulfill the Smart PoS growth, the total cost of our Other
Services rose to HK$20.2 million and compared with the cost at HK$8.2
million in 2018, represented an increase of more than 148.4%. As a

result,
HK$14.8 million.

segment profit recorded was at par with that of 2018 at

Performance of our Smart PoS business in 2019 was encouraging. As
stated in the 2019 Interim Report, growth momentum of our Smart PoS
business gathered since the second half of 2018 continued into 2019.
Our two bank customers, a major local bank and a bank whose parent
is a large commercial bank in China, continued to place orders with us,
although admittedly the total quantity of Smart PoS ordered in the
second half of the year was slightly less than that of the first half due
to the local social incidents adversely affecting the retail business in
Hong Kong. In any event, the number of Smart PoS we installed in the
market in 2019 was more than three times than the total deployed in
2018. That was a remarkable result. We are pleased that before the end
of 2019, we have confirmed a third bank customer who will use our
Smart PoS for their retail clients. This third customer is the commercial
banking business platform of a major Chinese bank in Hong Kong. Also
during the year, we have confirmed a multi-year contract with our major
local bank customer. Going forward, 2020 would be a challenging year
for our Smart PoS business. Retailers as the end users of our Smart PoS
would have an extremely tough operating environment severely hit by
the novel coronavirus outbreak as well as the unresolved local social
issues causing the consumer market to plummet. We are fairly certain
that fewer Smart PoS would be ordered by our bank customers and
deployed for their retail clients in 2020. What we are uncertain about is
the extent of the hit which depends on a number of factors including
how long the novel coronavirus outbreak would last, how fast the Hong
Kong economy could recover and what measures the Government might
introduce to help Hong Kong business. On a more positive front, as we
have signed up a new bank customer, we expect orders to be placed by

this new customer.

We are also working on a new partnership

arrangement with a payment gateway to target SME retailers for
deployment of our Smart PoS. Anticipating our business challenge
ahead, apart from working with banks, we have refined our strategy at
the end of last year to also target SME retailers, a market generally not
so well covered by banks.
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Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review (Continued)

For our in 2019, we achieved a
satisfactory result. We were in particular gratified with our paper-to-
electronic conversion services business for which we had concern due to
the loss of one of our partners providing the paper collection service to
our competitor since early 2019. With the new outlets set up through
one of our other partners and the new service delivery mode we
introduced, we successfully salvaged a handsome portion of business
volume which we otherwise would have lost. Even more exciting was
that we captured back the partner whom we lost in 2019. Following the
early termination of the contract between our partner and our
competitor, this partner issued an open tender which we successfully
won and a new two-year contract commencing February 2020 was
awarded to us. As for the outlook of our GETS-related service business,
except for the good news about our winning back of a paper collection
service partner, we expect a rather dismal year in 2020 similar to our
GETS business for reasons explained earlier in this Annual Report.

GETS-related services business

Last but not least, regarding our community logistics platform, VSHIP,
which was soft-launched in April 2018, we continued to ramp up
shipper and freight forwarder registration and their usage of the
platform for bid and offer of sea/air freight arrangements. Compared to
the first year of operations in 2018, the number of shippers/freight
forwarder users, Requests for Quote (“RFQ”) and Offers all recorded a
more than two-fold increase in 2019. More encouraging was the
number of success matching of RFQ and Offers in 2019 which was four
times more than that in 2018. Our VSHIP platform was certainly
gathering growth momentum, though due to the escalated trade tension
between the US and China during the year, the uptrend slowed down
slightly, particularly since the second half of the year. Upon a closer
review of the business taking into consideration the emerging challenges
before the end of the year, we have re-oriented our strategy to focus on
working with specific logistics service providers and possibly forming
partnerships with them. As such, to rationalize our cost to reduce the
burn rate, we have held back our earlier plan to develop new features/
modules to extend the scope of the VSHIP services. In fact, we are
making progress with some strategic customers. Also as part of our
revised strategy, we would accelerate our plan to extend the VSHIP
customer base beyond Hong Kong and would start our expansion plan in
China during 2020. Meanwhile, we will continue to offer VSHIP services
free of charge, at least for users in Hong Kong. We will strive to find
the earliest opportunity, hopefully within 2020, to introduce a charging
model to users. Anyhow, as a strategic component of our supply chain/
e-logistics ecosystem, VSHIP is tactically important and valuable to us and
our consideration of this initiative extends beyond its profitability.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Review (Continued)

Investment in PRC Associate Review

The performance of our major associate in China, Nanfang in 2019 was
disappointing as our share of gain from it of HK$0.8 million was down
48.2% compared to the HK$1.5 million share gain in 2018. As
mentioned in the 2019 Interim Report, Nanfang received a one-off lump
sum payment from the local government as compensation for cessation
of their river manifest declaration service since the nationwide single
window was implemented in China in late 2018. Effectively, Nanfang
received no revenue from users for their core river manifest declaration
service in 2019 except the one-off compensation payment from the
government which was only about 50% of what they normally would
have recorded as the annual revenue from this service in the past.
Though Nanfang has shifted their business focus to government projects,
they have had success in some projects but not so in others due to the
damage to their business reputation and relationship with some
government agencies caused by the shareholder involved in litigation
with some outside parties in addition to Nanfang. The damage to their
reputation was serious and would need considerable time to recover if at
all possible. As such, Nanfang has undertaken a major review and
revamped its business with the support of their controlling shareholder,
a reputable state-owned enterprise. Meanwhile, with a view to exploring
new business opportunities, Nanfang has deployed more resources on
research and development work on new services and products since the
latter part of the year. These measures described above have generally
summed up Nanfang’s business situation and difficulties in 2019.

As China’s economy is slowing down and Nanfang’s internal issues
would unlikely be completely resolved in the near future, we expect
Nanfang’s business outlook to be rather gloomy and our share of profit
from Nanfang would further drop in 2020.
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Financial Review

The Group’s revenue in 2019 was HK$337.2 million, an increase of
24.0% or HK$65.3 million year-on-year. The increase was mainly
attributable to an exception income recorded for the supply of goods for
a project of the Supply Chain Solutions. Revenue of E-Commerce,
coming from GETS and the Supply Chain Solutions, was HK$246.3
million in 2019, up by HK$54.6 million year-on-year. The GETS revenue
at HK$161.8 million, was less than the revenue of 2018 at HK$168.6
million by 4.0% or HK$6.8 million. The decrease was due to the impact
of the economic headwinds on Hong Kong's external trade activities
during 2019. The Supply Chain Solutions recorded a strong revenue
growth in 2019 at HK$84.5 million, higher than 2018 at HK$23.1
million by HK$61.4 million. The increase mainly came from the supply of
goods for our mega-warehouse automation project which was
substantially completed in 2019 for a major retail chain customer.
Revenue also came from WMS solutions delivered to other retail chain
customers and several existing customers. Revenue of IDM segment in
2019 was HK$55.8 million, dropped slightly by 2.6% or HK$1.5 million.
The eKYC solutions and biometric authentication projects performed well
which had not only compensated the decrease in revenue from the
security token delivery service but also became a major revenue stream.
Revenue dropped slightly in 2019 for other security solutions projects
which explained the gap. The revenue of Other Services in 2019 was
HK$35.0 million, increased by 53.1% or HK$12.1 million. The revenue
increase came from more units of Smart PoS and services provided for
our major bank client, resulting in a three-fold revenue growth by
HK$11.3 million for the Smart PoS business in 2019.

The Group’s operating expenses before depreciation in 2019 were
HK$244.5 million, an increase of 39.1% or HK$68.7 million from
HK$175.8 million in 2018. Staff costs increased from HK$114.1 million
to HK$119.1 million, up by 4.4% or HK$5.0 million as compared to the
last financial year. The amount of cost of purchases rose by HK$58.6
million to HK$87.9 million in 2019 which was in line with the revenue
growth. The other operating costs at HK$37.5 million incurred in 2019
were 15.6% or HK$5.1 million higher than that of the last financial
year. This was mainly attributable to the fluctuation of the US dollar on
our bond portfolio, from an exchange gain of HK$1.0 million in 2018 to
a loss of HK$2.1 million in 2019. Depreciation charges in 2019
amounted to HK$8.0 million, were HK$1.1 million higher than 2018.

The Group's profit from operations in 2019 was HK$101.2 million, a
decrease of HK$3.5 million or 3.4% as compared to 2018.
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Financial Review (Continued)

The impairment loss of other financial assets in 2019 amounting to
HK$1.3 million, represented the net increase in the estimation of the
expected credit losses on the Group's other financial assets held during
the year.

The share of results in 2019 from PRC associates was a profit of HK$0.8
million, as compared to the share of profit amounted to HK$1.5 million
in 2018. There was an impairment loss on the interest in an associate
recorded in 2019 amounted to HK$4.5 million.

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, DTTNCo providing e-solutions to its
customers recorded a deferred tax asset of HK$3.7 million as at the end
of 2018, of which HK$3.5 million was arising from unused tax losses. As
DTTNCo continued to generate profit this year, the deferred tax asset
was utilized and gave rise to a deferred tax charge of HK$2.8 million for
the year 2019, as compared to HK$3.3 million for 2018.

Included in the taxation for 2019 was HK$1.5 million enhanced tax
deductions for certain research and development expenditures under the
new tax regime introduced from the year of assessment 2018/19.
Excluding the effect of the enhanced tax deductions, the Group’s
taxation for 2019 would be HK$15.5 million as compared to HK$16.4
million for 2018.

The Group's after tax profit for 2019 was HK$82.2 million, decreased by
8.4% as compared to 2018.

Basic earnings per share for 2019 were HK 10.3 cents, lower than that
for 2018 at HK 11.3 cents by HK 1.0 cent. Diluted earnings per share
for 2019 were also HK 11.3 cents, lower than that for 2018 at HK 10.3
cents by HK 1.0 cent.

Dividend

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK 6.5 cents per share
for 2019 (2018: HK 6.0 cents per share). The proposed final dividend,
which together with the interim dividend of HK 3.3 cents per share
(2018: HK 3.5 cents per share) paid on 9 October 2019, will result in a
total dividend of HK 9.8 cents for 2019, higher than the total dividend
for 2018. The total amount of interim and proposed final dividend for
2019 represents a payment of 91.6% of the Group’s profit attributable
to shareholders after excluding the deferred tax charge of HK$2.8 million
relating to tax loss for 2019.
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Financial Review (Continued)

The proposed final dividend will be submitted to shareholders for
approval at the annual general meeting on 8 May 2020. If approved, the
final dividend will be paid to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 14 May 2020, on or about 29
May 2020.

The Board reminds shareholders that the Company’s dividend policy
enunciated at the time of our IPO in 2005 is that it will pay no less
than 60% of its distributable profit as dividend. The fact that the
Company has paid out all of its attributable profit in the past and nearly
92% of profit attributable to shareholders this year does not mean that
the policy has changed.

Liquidity and Financial Position

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had total cash and bank deposits
of HK$143.4 million (2018: HK$86.5 million). The increase in the Group's
cash balance was mainly due to the maturity and early redemption of
two corporate bonds respectively in the other financial assets during
2019 and the cash reserves were placed to deposit with banks.

The other financial assets as at 31 December 2019 in the non-current
and current assets amounted to HK$279.1 million (2018: HK$305.5
million) and HK$38.5 million (2018: HK$42.2 million) respectively,
represented the fair value of the fixed income USD-denominated
corporate bonds with no more than US$3.0 million nominal value each
invested in any single issuer with maturity dates less than five years. As
at 31 December 2019, the weighted average of the portfolio coupon
and yield were about 4.1% (2018: 3.9%) and 3.8% (2018: 3.7%)
respectively. As at 31 December 2019, 65% (2018: 71%) of the total
invested in investment grade corporate bonds. The
remaining 35% (2018: 29%) was invested in non-investment grade or
non-rated corporate bonds. All corporate bonds held as at 31 December
2019 were tradable in open market.

amount was

To balance risk and returns, all investments in corporate bonds were
made in accordance with the investment guidelines which had been
approved by the Investment Committee comprising three Independent
Non-executive Directors and one Non-executive Director of the Company.
Before any opportunities were identified to acquire new businesses, the
cash surplus were parked in corporate bonds as part of our treasury
operations to improve the yield of the Group's cash surpluses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEEN®RED T @)

Financial Review (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Position (Continued)

Total assets and net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2019
amounted to HK$592.3 million (2018: HK$552.6 million) and HK$370.9
million (2018: HK$350.8 million) respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no borrowings. (2018: Nil).

Capital and Reserves

As at 31 December 2019, the capital and reserves attributable to
shareholders was HK$370.9 million (2018: HK$350.8 million), an increase
of HK$20.1 million from the end of 2018.

Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has obtained two bank guarantees
totaling HK$2.1 million (2018: three bank guarantees of HK$4.2 million)
issued to the Government for the due performance by the Group
pursuant to the terms of the contracts with the Government. The bank
guarantees are secured by a charge over deposits totaling HK$2.1 million
(2018: HK$4.2 million).

Other than the foregoing, the Group did not have any other charges on
its assets.

Capital Commitments

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2019 not provided
for in the financial statements amounted to HK$3.7 million (2018:
HK$1.5 million), mainly in respect of the purchase of leasehold
improvements and office equipment for the Group.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 275 staff (2018: 268), of
which 243 are in Hong Kong and 32 in Guangzhou. The related staff
costs for the year came to HK$119.1 million (2018: HK$114.1 million).

The Group's remuneration policy is that all employees are rewarded on
the basis of market levels. In addition to salaries, the Group provides
staff benefits including medical insurance and contribution to staff's
mandatory provident fund. To motivate and reward staff, the Group has
various commission, incentive and bonus schemes to drive performance
and growth.

The Company operates a share option scheme to reward the
performance of staff at senior vice president grade and above.
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Financial Review (Continued)

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates and Related
Hedges
As at 31 December 2019, other than its investments in the PRC and
Macau incorporated entities and debt securities denominated in US
dollars, the Group had no foreign exchange exposure and related
hedges.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s accounting policies and
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. It also
had independent discussions with the internal auditor and the external
auditor, KPMG, without the presence of the management team.

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Directors

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P., aged 77, was appointed a Director
on 19 September 2000. He is also our Chairman. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Electrical Engineering from the Imperial College, London, the
United Kingdom and a Doctorate from Brown University, the United
States. He joined Textile Alliance Limited in Hong Kong in 1973 and in
1983, was appointed Managing Director (title changed to Chief
Executive since 2010) of TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL"), which currently
employs over 26,000 employees. Dr. LEE is now the Chairman of TAL.
He was a Director of The Link Management Limited (now known as
“Link Asset Management Limited”) and of Phillips-Van Heusen
Corporation. He has over 40 years’ experience in the textile and garment
industry. Dr. LEE is actively involved in a number of trade organizations
and public services in Hong Kong. He is the Honorary Chairman of
Textile Council of Hong Kong Limited and the Hong Kong Garment
Manufacturer’s Association. In addition, he is currently holding the
position of the Advisor, Chairman Emeritus of the Hong Kong Research
Institute of Textiles & Apparel Ltd (HKRITA) and the Chairman of the
Committee of Overseers of Lee Woo Sing College of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Dr. LEE was awarded the Honorary Fellowship
of the Textile Institute in 2019 in Manchester, United Kingdom. He was
named in the Queen’s birthday honours list as an Officer of the British
Empire (“OBE"”) in 1996. He was appointed a Justice of Peace (“J.P.”) in
1997 and was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star (“S.B.S.”) at the Fourth
Anniversary of the Establishment of the HKSAR in 2001.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung, aged 60, was first appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in March 2013 and subsequently
took over the CEO position in July 2015.

Before joining the Company, Mr. TSE had worked mostly in the financial
industry covering the Asia Pacific region. He began at State Street in
1993 to develop and lead its investment servicing business in the region
and completed his career there as an advisor till early 2015. Before State
Street, he had worked for Standard Chartered, Ogilvy & Mather, Baring
Securities and the Hong Kong Government.

Mr. TSE has served on many committees and boards. He is currently on
the Process Review Panel of the Financial Reporting Council and the
Hang Seng Index Advisory Committee. He also serves as Chairman of the
Pan Asian e-Commerce Alliance, Hon. Treasurer of the New Life
Psychiatric Rehabilitation Association, Board member of the Global Legal
Entity Identifier Foundation, and Overseer of Lee Woo Sing College of
the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. TSE received the CW Chu Scholarship to study in the US and
obtained his BA from Lawrence University. He got his MBA from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and also got the Government's
sponsorship to obtain his MPA from the University of Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Directors (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew, aged 50, was appointed a Director
and acting DCEO of the Company on 15 November 2011. He was the
DCEO of the Company and re-designated to be the Chief Technology
Officer of the Company on 1 January 2017. He is also a Director of the
Company’s various subsidiaries and associates. Mr. CHENG holds a
Master of Commerce degree in Information Systems from the University
of New South Wales, a Master of Engineering degree from the
University of Sydney, a Bachelor of Engineering degree with Honours in
Electrical Engineering from the University of Sydney and a Bachelor of
Science degree from the University of Sydney. Mr. CHENG has over 24
years’ experience in IT-related business,
domestic and international supply chain, logistics and finance. He was a

covering internet security,
specialist in the consultancy on the setting up of a Public Key
Infrastructure by the Hong Kong Government and is currently a member
of the Advisory Committee on the Code of Practice for Recognized
Certification Authorities of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, a member of the Expert Review Panel of Hong
Kong R&D Centre for Logistics and Supply Chain Management Enabling
Technologies and a member of the Fintech Advisory Group of the
Securities and Futures Commission.

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily, aged 63, was appointed a Director on
2 September 2008. She joined the Company in 1992. She is currently
the Chief Operations Officer of the Company and is also a Director of
the Company’s various subsidiaries and associates. Ms. CHUNG
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Science
degree and a Master of Science degree in Engineering. Prior to joining
the Company, Ms. CHUNG worked in the then Government of Hong
Kong for over 11 years providing management consultancy services to
government bureaux and departments. Since joining the Company in
1992, she has gained over 27 years of solid and diversified experience in
the management of various aspects of e-commerce business in both the
public and private sectors.
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Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman, aged 52, was appointed a Director of the Company on
29 October 2012. Dr. LEE Delman holds a doctorate from the University
of Oxford and a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical & Electronics Engineering
from the Imperial College, London. He is the President and Chief
Technology Officer for TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL"). He is responsible
for driving TAL's long-term strategy in operations, technology and value-
added services to customers. He looks after information technology and
supply chain projects — from IT infrastructure to logistics management
throughout the entire organization. He is the architect behind TAL's
current enterprise resource planning (ERP) system. He is also responsible
for global operations initiatives such as standardization of work methods,
cultivation of a continuous improvement organization and corporate
social responsibility.

Dr. LEE Delman joined TAL in 2000. He was appointed a member of the
TAL Group’s Executive Committee in 2006 and became President and
Chief Technology Officer in 2010. He has a strong background in
research. Prior to joining TAL, he was a researcher at UK based Sharp
Laboratories of Europe for three years. There, he was responsible for the
commercial application of modern computer vision techniques to stereo
photography and stereoscopic displays. He has worked as a research
fellow at University of Pennsylvania in the US and University of Leeds in
the UK in various aspects of imaging.

Dr. LEE Delman has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the Risk Committee commencing from 21
March 2017, a member of the Nomination Committee and member of
the Audit Committee commencing from 1 December 2017 of The Bank
of East Asia, Limited (listed on main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited). He joined the board of Dairy Farm International
Holdings Ltd (a standard listing on the London Stock Exchange as its
primary listing, with secondary listings in Bermuda and Singapore) on 9
May 2018.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth, aged 64, was appointed a Director on 26
June 2012. He was a Director of the Company during the period from
16 September 1996 to 9 May 2008. Mr. YING retired from COSCO-HIT
Terminals (Hong Kong) Limited (“CHT") as the Managing Director, Asia
Container Terminals Limited as the Executive Director and the Hutchison
Port Holdings Trust (a trust listed on the Singapore Exchange) as an
EXCO member on 30 April 2016. Mr. YING has over 31 years’
experience in the finance and logistic sector. Prior to joining CHT, he
had held various executive positions at Hutchison Port Holdings Limited
("HPH"). He was the Executive Director of Hongkong International
Terminals Limited and the Finance Director of South China Division of
HPH. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and also a fellow member of the Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom. He was a member of the
Port Development Advisory Group of the HKSAR.

Mr. YUEN Wing Sang Vincent, aged 52, has 25 years of experience in
the maritime industry. He started his career in Hongkong International
Terminals Limited where he held a number of business development,
commercial and management positions. Since 2012, Mr. YUEN has been
a member of the Hutchison Port Holdings Trust (“HPH Trust”) Exco, a
committee of executives that determines the strategy for HPH Trust. HPH
Trust is the world’s first publicly traded container port business trust
listed on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange. As the Managing
Director of Port Services and Logistics Division of HPHT Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of HPH Trust, Mr. YUEN leads both Hutchison
Logistics (HK) and Asia Port Services. Integrating services from container
depot, warehousing and distribution to freight handling, trucking and
feeder service, to provide seamless total supply chain solution across sea,
air and land networks. Mr. YUEN has a Bachelor of Science in Geology
and Geophysics from the University of Hawaii at Manoa and holds a
Master of Science in Environmental Engineering from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. He is a chartered fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong.
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Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAK Hubert, aged 58, was appointed a Director on 21 October
2002. He retired from Link Asset Management Limited (“Link”), the
manager of Link Real Estate Investment Trust, as Director (Finance) in
August 2018. He joined Link in 2010 and was responsible for the
finance and capital markets functions. Mr. CHAK was an executive
director of CSI Properties Limited between 2007 and 2010. He also held
various senior management positions at PCCW Limited between 1999
and 2007 and was an executive director of Pacific Century Premium
Developments Limited until February 2007.

Mr. CHAK began his career with KPMG in Hong Kong and worked as an
investment banker between 1990 and 1999. He holds a Master of
Business Administration Degree and a Bachelor of Science degree in
Mechanical Engineering from University of Wales (now known as Cardiff
University).

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay, aged 77, was appointed a Director of the Company
on 1 September 2009. He was the non-executive Chairman of the board
of directors of the Company from 1998 to 2002. Mr. CHAU graduated
from The University of Hong Kong in 1967. He served in the Hong Kong
Government from 1967 to 2002. Between 1988 and 2002, Mr. CHAU
served in a number of principal official positions in the Government,
including Secretary for Trade and Industry, Secretary for Commerce and
Industry, Secretary for Broadcasting, Culture and Sport, and Secretary for
Health and Welfare. Following his departure from the Government, Mr.
CHAU has been an independent non-executive director of the Hong
Kong Main Board listed SIM Holdings Limited since 2008; and Wheelock
& Company Limited since 2012. Mr. CHAU was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong Government in 2002.
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Directors and Senior I\/Ianagement (Continued)
EENEREREAS &

Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan, aged 58, was appointed a Director of the Company
on 9 February 2015. She has over 30 years of experience in financial
management and planning. Ms. CHAN joined The Dairy Farm Company,
Limited on 16 April 2016 as North Asia Food Finance Director and left
her job as Project Lead — China Expansion (Convenience) on 17
October 2018. The Dairy Farm Company, Limited is a member of Dairy
Farm International Holdings Limited which has a standard listing on the
London Stock Exchange as its primary listing, with secondary listings in
Bermuda and Singapore. Before joining the Dairy Farm Group, Ms. CHAN
was CFO, China Beverage and Senior Region Financial Planning &
Analysis Director, China Region of PepsiCo Inc. in Shanghai. During her
employment with PepsiCo Inc., she had also worked in Guangzhou,
Shenzhen and Hong Kong. PepsiCo Inc. is listed on The New York Stock
Exchange. Prior to joining PepsiCo Inc., Ms. CHAN had worked in Hong
Kong for ExxonMobil Chemical and Nestlé S.A. (listed on SIX Swiss
Exchange). Ms. CHAN graduated from University of Western Ontario,
Canada in 1983 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economic and
Administrative & Financial Studies and obtained a Master of Business
Administration in Marketing from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 1985.

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy, aged 70, was appointed a Director on
11 May 2007. He has over 25 years of experience in financial advisory,
taxation and management. He was a partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers
and retired in June 2005. In October 2005, he joined a professional
consulting firm, Russell Bedford Hong Kong Limited (now known as
Russell Bedford Hong Kong), as Director-Tax & Business Advisory. Mr.
CHUNG is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Taxation Institution of Hong Kong and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA"). He was the President of
the Hong Kong branch of ACCA for the year 2005/06. He is currently
also an Independent Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Audit
Committee of Lee Kee Holdings Limited (listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited).
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Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P., aged 59, was appointed a Director
on 13 May 2005. He holds a Bachelor’'s degree from The University of
Hong Kong. Mr. HO is the Executive Director of the Hong Kong
Shippers’ Council. He has over 25 years’ experience in the Shipping and
Logistics industry. As he now shapes the thrust of the Shippers’ Council
mandate as the voice of the Hong Kong shippers, he has considerable
experience in aspects of trade and transport of goods. Prior to the
Shippers’ Council, he was Deputy Managing Director of Swire Shipping
(Agencies) Limited and Taikoo Maritime Services Ltd, gaining experience
in liner shipping, warehousing and distribution, freight forwarding,
container haulage, mid-stream operations, China feeders, transport and
logistics services. Mr. HO is a member of the Logistics Industry Training
Advisory Committee, the Town Planning Board, and the Private
Columbaria Appeal Board. He is also a member of the Transport &
Shipping Committee of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce
and Logistics Services Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council. He was appointed a member of the Hong Kong
Logistics Development Council, the Port Operations Committee and the
Dangerous Goods Standing Committee for several years and Chairman of
the Hong Kong Liner Shipping Association for 1993-1995. He is the
current Chairman of Hong Kong Logistics Management Staff Association,
Fellow and Council Member of the Chartered Institute of Logistics &
Transport in Hong Kong, Advisor to the China Council for the Promotion
of International Trade of International Trade Guangzhou Sub-Council,
and the Shenzhen Ports & Harbour Association. Mr. HO was elected as a
member of the Election Committee for the Chief Executive in 2011 and
2016.

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Kam Keung — Chief Executive Officer
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew — Chief Technology Officer
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily — Chief Operations Officer
Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie — Chief Financial Officer

Mr. TSE, Mr. CHENG and Ms. CHUNG are also directors of the
Company. Their biographical details have already been set out above
under the sub-heading “Directors”.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EFhEaBEEANB M@

Senior Management (Continued)
The biographical details of Ms. CHU are set out as follows:

Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie, aged 44, is currently the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company which she joined in 2004. Prior to that, Ms.
CHU worked in KPMG for audit services. She holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Professional Accountancy and a Master of Business Administration
degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Ms. CHU is a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has
over 20 years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management.

SREEANB(R)
KR THBERIINT

BELZLT MA0K R-TTEFMNALL
ARECYMBAE BBl ZA REXLE
EEFHRSAMEBMNERIRG TE - 5
BEARNABEXEH BT BN RTIHERE
TEML - RLLTRELGHMAGZEE  UHE
B BN BEETEHEFBB - TENT
(3%

38 Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2019




Corporate Governance Report
TERERBRES

(1)

(2)

(3)

Compliance with Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code"”)

The Company is committed to a high standard of corporate
governance and the Board believes that good corporate
governance is fundamental to effective and proper management
of the Company in the interests of its stakeholders. It has made
every effort to ensure full compliance with the code provisions in
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Company confirms that it has
complied with all code provisions during the year ended 31
December 2019.

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules to govern its Directors’ dealings in the
Company’s securities. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors
have confirmed compliance with the required standards during
2019.

Risk Management & Internal Controls

The Group is committed to the continuous enhancement of its risk
management framework, capabilities and culture across the Group
to strengthen its ability in achieving its business objectives.
Appropriate risk management activities are embedded into the
business planning, project management, contract management,
business operations and organizational procedures. The Group is
willing to take reasonable and manageable risks in pursuit of its
strategic business objectives. The reasonableness and
manageability vary from business segment to business segment.
Once risks, including those which are Environmental, Social and
Governance-related, have been identified, recorded, analysed, and
the agreed treatments have been implemented, an appropriate
monitoring and reporting regime will be established to provide
assurance that the treatment is effective and helps to control the
risk. Appropriate risk treatments are embedded into daily
operations. The risk will be continuously monitored depending on
the subsequent risk rating and the strength of controls to treat
the risks. All staff have the responsibility for the continuous
monitoring of risks and operation of controls within their area of
responsibility. In particular, close attention would be paid to those
risk areas with a strong reliance on internal controls and processes
to bring the risk to an acceptable level.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TtEEABREE B

(3)

40

Risk Management & Internal Controls
(Continued)

The Company believes that effective communication and
consultation is essential throughout the risk management process
as it enhances the understanding of risk identification, analysis
and evaluation among process owners and risk management team
in the Group. During the reporting year, individual departments of
the Company at least monthly reviewed and updated their own
risk logs. The responsible persons of the departments updated and
reported the risk logs to the Risk Manager and the responsible
executive director (the “Responsible ED”) of the Group on a
regular basis. The Responsible ED then presented the consolidated
risk logs to Senior Management for identification and assessment
at management and Group levels. Senior Management updated
the Board on any significant risks and progress via monthly
reports or in Board meetings.

The Board recognizes the need for sound and effective risk
management and internal controls systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. The Board
acknowledges its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. With the support of
Senior Management and the Audit Committee, the Board
reviewed the effectiveness of the systems which covered different
areas, including without limitation, the financial, operational and
compliance controls in compliance with Code Provisions C.2,
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Such systems were designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the
Group’s business objectives, and could only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material mis-statement or loss.

The risk management system framework adopted by the Group
was designed by reference to the principles and process outlined
in the international standard of 1SO31000. Appropriate risk
management activities were embedded into business planning,
project management, contract management, business operations
and organisational procedures. The six steps involved in the risk
management process are:

Establish the scope, context and criteria

Risk assessment (Risk identification, risk analysis, risk
evaluation)

Risk treatment

Monitoring and review

Recording and reporting

Communication and consultation

N =

o v kW

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2019

) EEERAMEE(E

RARBEARBARZAREEARRE
EREFTRELEZN REMFSANEEHRE
Fr BT A A R R B T2 I o S 00 L B sl
DR EHER RBEFER AR
AEMMELBAEHYEMNAERRA
fo BEPIBE AT M A K E R R E R
ARBERTER(BEATEEDER
LREREBRBEFE - AERATEFERBELE
ERBHAZEXRSREEAE  UEEE
32 JE o AN S [ T a  Be R A o AR E IR
ANEEBTBAERINEFEEENES
BREEMERAR RER -

EFEeRANTEARR2AMNAREE
RABEZERR  ARERROKRERE
SEEE -EFNTEYUAKEARE
BEAMEZRGNEBEBET -EaRE
BABRERZEEXRT EFgMm
METRABEENRGEKRY  BFEETER
s 2ERAREENET EHHRAM
BT RAIGXC2 - ZERXMEEEIEM
FEEBRREERAEE XK B ENRR
TARERTEEERNKERMHLIER
R A IFBEMRE -

AEEMRANEREEZERGERIZR
ISO31000E B 1% & AR 4 3t ) R Bl ]2 32 f5 5%
- EERRERTHERAER RS
HEEHERE AHNEHE XBEERAHKE
FeRBRERREFRIRONELSRE:

1. MUEHE ERRELE

[2 B BT A (LB s B - LB o AT - R
R RF &)

[ B B 3

R R

50 8% I [E 3R

BB R

N

o Uk W




Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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(3) Risk Management & Internal Controls (3) EMEIE & R PEE (&)

(Continued)

Our risk management process and risk management framework BMMRARERERERF KEREIRIEZR I

can be represented diagrammatically as follows:

Risk Management Process 1SO31000:2018

BRERET :

JE 2 & FE FE 71SO31000:2018
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EXRERREE #)

(3) Risk Management & Internal
(Continued)

Risk Management Framework

Evaluate the effectiveness of
the risk management system

The Board and Audit Committee
FEERREE RSN
EFeNE%RZES

A

Oversee the im‘plementation of
the risk management system

Senior Management
EERBEERGENER
BREBAS

A

Risk review, assessment, analysis
and reporting
Responsible persons of Individual Departments,
Risk Manager and Responsible ED
BEBREE P 2MAER
ERIFAIAaBEA RABREEARBENTES

A

Risk identification, recording and monitoring
Individual Departments
[ B 3 B~ RO SR AN BE SR
18 51 &6 P9

As an on-going process, the Company has assessed its internal
control system with reference to The Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO") internal

control framework 2013, specifically in relation

elements of: control environment,

activities, communication and monitoring.

42

risk assessment,

Controls (3) EMEER ANZPEEE (F)
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Independent Assurance
Internal Auditor and External Auditors
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(3) Risk Management & Internal Controls

(Continued)

To further strengthen the risk management and internal control
systems, the Company’s internal auditor (“Internal Auditor”) has
been designated by Audit Committee to conduct a review and
audit tests to verify the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems in place. A review report was presented to
Audit Committee, which based on the report formed the opinion
on the effectiveness of Tradelink’s risk management and internal
control systems and reported to the Board accordingly. The
external auditors would obtain an understanding of internal
control relevant to their audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances though not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that they identify during the course of their audit. If
necessary, remedial actions will be taken timely by the Company.

The external auditors would

During the year of 2019, Internal Auditor has conducted a review
of Tradelink’s risk management and internal control systems. In
particular, Internal Auditor has conducted the following:

. A gap analysis and evaluation of effectiveness of risk
management system by using ISO31000:2018 as a basis for
comparison;

3 A COSO entity level control gap analysis (‘{COSO Review’) to

ascertain if the Company has established entity level
controls that are consistent with the key concepts of the
control framework recommended by COSO — ‘Internal

Control — Integrated Framework’;

. Audit tests to verify the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal controls in place.

The Company also has a whistle-blowing procedure in place to
encourage its staff to raise concerns, in confidence, with the
Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any matter
related to the Company. During the reporting year, no whistle-
blowing report received.

(3)
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(3)

44

Risk Management & Internal Controls
(Continued)

Based on the confirmation from Senior Management, the reviews
from the Internal Auditor and the Audit Committee, the Board
considered that the risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective for the reporting year. There were no
significant control failings, weakness or significant areas of
concern identified during 2019.

The Board also considered the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Group’'s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions were
adequate.

The Group handled and disseminated inside information in
compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"). The
Board, with the recommendation of Senior Management, would
identify and determine whether certain information needs to be
disclosed as inside information under the Listing Rules and the
SFO. Once certain information has been determined as inside
information, it would be disclosed as soon as practicable by way
of announcements.

The Company has in place separate internal policies for dealing in
the Company’s shares by Directors, general staff and those staff
who are likely to be in constant exposure to inside information.
All employees and Directors are not allowed to deal in the
securities of the Company when they possess unpublished inside
information. Pre-clearance on dealing in the Company’s securities
is mandatory for Directors and those staff who are likely to be in
constant exposure to inside information.

During the reporting period, Directors and relevant employees, as
identified by Senior Management, were notified of the periods
when dealings in the securities of the Company were prohibited.
All inside information was disclosed timely by way of
announcements. Before the disclosure of inside information by
announcements, it was kept confidential and would only be
disclosed to, and handled by, those employees who had a
genuine need to know. Documents containing inside information
are protected by passwords.

In addition, every employee is subject to the Code of Ethics and
Conduct of the Group and is expected to achieve the highest
ethical and professional standards of behavior.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2019
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(4) Board of Directors

()

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TtEERBREE B

(4) £E8

Board Composition (i)
As at 31 December 2019, the Company was led by a Board
comprising three Executive Directors, four Non-executive
Directors, including the Chairman of the Board, and five
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Independent Non-
executive Directors represent at least one-third of the Board
as required by the Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The five
Independent Non-executive Directors have all confirmed in
writing to the Company that they meet the guidelines for
independence in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
As at the date of this annual report, the members of the
Board are:
Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.
Executive Directors
Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily (Chief Operations Officer)
Non-executive Directors
Dr. LEE Delman*
Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.
(* Dr. LEE Delman is a nephew of Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry,
S.B.S., JP)
The Board oversees the overall management and operations
of the Company. Major responsibilities include determining
the Company’s overall business, financial and technica
strategies, setting key performance targets, approving
budgets and major expenditures, supervising the
performance of management with the objective of
enhancing shareholder value. Matters not specifically
reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily operations
of the Company are delegated to Senior Management
under the supervision of respective Directors and the five
committees of the Board.
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued) 4) EExg(4E)
(i) Board Composition (Continued) (i) E=g4A/KGE
The diversity profile of the Board is set out in the following EE22L TR E IR AT B
charts:
Gender and Age Group
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued)

()

(ii)

Board Composition (Continued)

Work Profile
TR

Business and Industry

[GEZ=6ES
Government

B

Professional (e.g. legal, accounting, IT, investment,
asset management and maritime industry)

B (0 ORF - &E O BB

BE  AEEENREETHE)

Others

Hot

0% 10% 20% 30%
The biographical information of Directors is set out in the
“Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 31 to
37 of this annual report.

Changes of Directors’ and Chief Executive's

Information Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules

There have been no changes in the information of Directors
and Chief Executive of the Company since publication of
the 2019 interim report up to this annual report, save and
except that:

(a) Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. was awarded the
Honorary Fellowship of the Textile Institute in 2019
in Manchester, United Kingdom and he ceased to be
a board member of Global Apparel, Footwear &
Textile Initiative.

(b) Mr. TSE Kam Keung ceased to serve on the Investment
Committee of Hopu Fund.

(c) Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. was awarded the
Medal of Honour (M.H.) by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2019.
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(iii) Appointment,

(iv)

(v)

Rotational Retirement and Re-
election

All non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) were appointed for a period of three
years and all directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with Article 100 of the
Articles of Association of the Company. Pursuant to that,
one half of the Directors (or, if the number is not a
multiple of two, then the number nearest to but not
greater than one half) shall retire each year but are eligible
for re-election at each annual general meeting ("AGM").

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer are held by Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S,,
J.P. and Mr. TSE Kam Keung respectively to maintain
effective segregation of duties. The Chairman is responsible
for overseeing the functioning of the Board and the
strategies of the Group while the Chief Executive Officer is
day-to-day

responsible for managing the Group's

businesses.

The Chairman of the Board held a private session with the
Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence
of the Executive Directors and the Non-executive Directors
immediately after the Directors’ Conference of the

Company held on 20 September 2019.

Directors’ Time Commitments

The Directors have confirmed that, during the course of the
year, they devoted adequate time to discharging their duties
as members of the Board and its Committees. The Directors
also confirmed that they had been provided with monthly
updates on the Group’s operations, performance and
business prospects to enable them to discharge their duties.
Additional information, explanation and clarification were
provided by Senior Management in response to questions
raised by them in the course of their reviews of such
materials.

(4) £ (H)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued)

(vi) Board Meetings and General Meeting
During 2019, four board meetings and an AGM were held.

The attendance of Directors in board meetings and AGM of

the Company is as follows:

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

(4) E5 (&)

®

ot
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(vii EZE2BRBRRAE
R-ZZF-NAF ARBEETHER
BEEegd - RABRRBFEKRE.
EENEZESRLBRRBFRSE

B EENT
Board meetings 2019 AGM
attended/Eligible attended/Eligible
to attend to attend
BHE/SGEHBEE CHE SCERHE
EEg —E-hE
EERE RRBFASRE
Chairman and Non-executive Director IRREUTES
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. =ThiEE L SBS, JP. 4/4 11
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer) #1833 % & (7T B4 #) 4/4 171
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew® BERBEEN(KTAZ 3/4 171
(Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily BIER L (EERE 4/4 171
(Chief Operations Officer)
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Dr. LEE Delman®@ ZEARE L 4/4 0/1
Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth RFXEE 4/4 171
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent® ROKE KA 3/4 171
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKHTES
Mr. CHAK Hubert Z2ihog e 4/4 11
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay® BEER g 3/4 0
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan MERL L 4/4 11
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy EHEALE 4/4 0
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. I SLESEE - MH, JP. 4/4 171
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(vi)

(vii)

Board Meetings and General
(Continued)

Notes:

Meeting

(1) Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew was unable to attend the
Board meeting on 11 June 2019 due to other prior business
commitment.

(2) Dr. LEE Delman was unable to attend the AGM on 10 May
2019 due to overseas engagement.

(3) Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent was unable to attend the Board
meeting on 11 June 2019 due to overseas engagement.

(4) Mr. CHAU Tak Hay was unable to attend the Board meeting
on 11 June 2019 due to other prior business commitment.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group. In this regard, the Directors
have confirmed that appropriate accounting policies have
been selected and applied consistently and that judgments
and estimates made were prudent and reasonable in light
of the information provided by Senior Management.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019, generally
accepted in Hong Kong were adopted and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Financial

the accounting principles

Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the applicable laws were complied
with.

The Board has prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis and is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast
doubt in the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditors of the
Group are disclosed in the “Report of the Auditors”.

(4) £ (H)

(vi)

(vii)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2019

ExgedRRRAE (8
MEE

(1) BWEBEEEREMEENESH
MABERER -_ZT—NFXA
t-HBRTHEEEEE -

(2 FERAELEBIELBLMRE
FR-ZZF—-NFAATHEETH
BRBFRE -

(B WAKEFZEEBINFELTARE
BRZFE—NFRA+T—HBENT
MESEEH -

(4 RBEREEFRAEMEENESH
mMAGEHER =T —-NLFRA
T-RETNEEEEE -

EFERBOMRE AREN
BT
EEHRRERATRE DN
BEEMAFHRRAEREBHINR
MM HE - Bt EFERCER
VEBERBEENGHEE  RE
REREEABRHENEN FH
EEHAENHE KA -

EERBREBE_ZT-NF+A
ST ALFENUBHRERE B
RMEBERAREFRA LERBE
B & B Q& PR M e (BB B 75
&R IR E N RER o

EEgERANBLCEEERRY
BHER BXTMBAETAEMK
BAGFEEATHBREEZ 88
REERBBERENENTFR -

REBIMNEZBE B RE B ER &
ENREEINBE -




(4) Board of Directors (Continued)

(viii) Directors’ and Auditors’ Attendance at the 2019

(ix)

AGM

The Directors’ attendance for 2019 AGM is shown in the
above table under the sub-heading “Board Meetings and
General Meeting”.

The Company’s external auditors, KPMG, also attended the
2019 AGM to confirm the audited financial statements of
the Company and to answer questions from shareholders.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional
Development

It is our practice that each year, all Directors are required to
attend and participate in our in-house Directors’ Conference
and in-house training programme to enhance their
understanding of the Group’s business and operations as
well as their responsibilities and obligations under the

Listing Rules and other legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
arranged a 6-hour in-house conference on 20 September
2019 to brief Directors on business updates, financial
outlook of the Group and to have strategic discussions on
the Company’s business direction. The Company also invited
an external speaker to share his business experience
relevant to the Company’s business with Directors. In
addition, the Company allocated financial resources to
support and encourage the Directors to participate in
continuous professional development training to refresh and
enhance their knowledge and skills regarding their roles,
functions and duties as directors. Eleven Directors namely,
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.,, Dr. LEE Delman, Mr.
YING Tze Man, Kenneth, Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent,
Mr. CHAK Hubert, Ms. CHAN Chi Yan, Mr. CHUNG Wai
Kwok, Jimmy, Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P., Mr. TSE
Kam Keung, Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew and Ms.
CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily participated in the in-house
Directors’ conference. Mr. CHAU Tak Hay was unable to
attend the in-house Directors’ conference due to other prior
overseas engagement.

On 26 November 2019, the Company arranged a directors’
training on the topic “Ethics in Practice: Anti-corruption
Requirements for Board of Directors of Tradelink Electronic
Commerce Limited” which was delivered by an officer of
the Independent Commission Against Corruption. All
Directors participated in the directors’ training.
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(ix)

(x)

(xi)

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional
Development (Continued)

All Directors have provided their training records to the
Company during the year.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
Officers’
liabilities in respect of legal actions arising from its day-to-
day business activities.
coverage was HK$100 million.

and
liability insurance to indemnify them against

During the year, the insurance

Board Evaluation

The Board recognizes the benefits of regular evaluations of
its performance. During the year, an evaluation covering
Board and Board Committees performance was conducted
by the Corporate Governance Committee with the
assistance of Senior Management. Areas covered included
the overall effectiveness of the Board and its Committees,
attendance, participation and contributions both during and
outside meetings. The conclusion was satisfactory.

Board Committees

The Board has established the following committees:

Audit,

Corporate Governance, Remuneration, Nomination and Investment
Committees.

()

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of five Independent
Non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee oversees the overall financial
reporting process as well as the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Company’s risk management and internal controls. In
addition, it is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board for the appointment, reappointment or removal
of the external auditors. It also reviews and monitors the
external auditors’ independence and objectivity as well as
the effectiveness of the audit process to make sure that it
is in full compliance with applicable standards.

(4) £ (H)

(5)
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

()

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee met twice in 2019. The attendance of

members is as follows:

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

L

TEEAHRSE

(5) EBZEE (&)

() ERZEES(H)
R-ZE-NF BERZES

MAE#H ZEHFEENT:

E= -
(#8)

%8

Audit Committee
meetings attended/

Names Eligible to attend

BEHE EEREE
% E ERZEEEERAH
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman) EHBR L (EE) 22
Mr. CHAK Hubert BEatE 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay BAEE LA 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan BRI 2+ 2/2
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. fAISIE A MH., JP. 2/2

During 2019, the Audit Committee performed, among
other matters, the following duties:

(a)

reviewed the Group's financial statements for 2018,
the draft 2018 annual report, the draft 2018 results
announcement and the proposed 2018 final dividend
and recommended them to the Board for approval,

reviewed the Group's interim financial statements for
the 6 months ended 30 June 2019, the draft 2019
interim report, the draft results announcement for
the 6 months ended 30 June 2019 and the
proposed 2019 interim dividend and recommended
them to the Board for approval;

reviewed and approved the various audit plans and
audit reports prepared by the Internal Audit
Department of the Company;

reviewed the reports on risk management and internal
control of the Group and to ensure that the risk
management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective;

reviewed connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions (if any);
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()

(i)

Audit Committee (Continued)
(f) reviewed whistle blowing procedure and any reported
incidents;

(9) met with the Internal Auditor independently to discuss
the work of the Internal Audit Department;

(h) reviewed the remuneration of the Internal Auditor;

(i) met with the external auditors, KPMG, independently
to discuss the financial reporting and internal control
issues encountered during the 2018 annual audit;
and

() reviewed the proposed audit fee for 2019 and
recommended the re-appointment of the external
auditors to the Board for consideration and final
approval by shareholders at the AGM.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During 2019, the audit and non-audit fees payable/paid to
KPMG were: an audit fee of HK$1.03 million (2018:
HK$1.03 million) and a non-audit related service fee of
HK$0.12 million (2018: HK$0.11 The
represented taxation service fees.

million). latter

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee consists of five
Independent Non-executive Directors. The main
responsibilities of the Committee are to ensure and uphold
good corporate governance functions of the Company and

its subsidiaries.
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Corporate Governance Committee (Continued) (i) CXERZEES (E)
During the year of 2019, the Corporate Governance RZZE-NF EELZEEY
Committee met twice. The attendance of members is as BITMAGH ZEHEEXENOT
follows:
Corporate Governance
Committee meetings
attended/
Names Eligible to attend
BHE SEBEE
®E TEEREEEEINK
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman) 88 4B ST A () 2/2
Mr. CHAK Hubert %Lgﬁgﬁﬂi 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay &=L E?EEE 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan rsai:«‘:aﬁ 2/2
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. ﬂ_LES‘EE * M.H., J.P. 2/2
At the two meetings, the Corporate Governance Committee MREZEL EEEEZEEE KE
reviewed, among other matters, the Group’s policies and =B BAANEEHEEER
practices on corporate governance and the relevant Eﬁ(%&%‘%ﬁ& T N\FLEEHR
compliance disclosures in the 2018 Corporate Governance HREBR T -—NFPHERENEE
Report and 2019 Interim Report. WIHAGHREER -
Remuneration Committee (i) FHEES
The Remuneration Committee consists of one Non-executive YWEESH —BIFNTEELW
Director and two Independent Non-executive Directors. BB ITESAEMN -
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making FHEZEESAEREERARER
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure AEMHFWNHELERE MESS
for the remuneration of Directors and Senior Management. REHEBER -
During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one FRN - FHNEEGFLRITREH
meeting. The attendance of members is as follows: ZEHEENT:
Remuneration
Committee meetings
attended/
Names Eligible to attend
BHE SEBEE
%A FTHMEEEEERHE
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman) FEmERLE (£ E) 11

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.

ﬁiffﬁlﬁ‘ﬁi
FTyEE L sBS, JP.

7
7
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(iii)

(iv)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

At this meeting, the Remuneration Committee performed,
among other matters, the following duties: (a) reviewed the
remuneration packages of Directors and Senior
Management and recommended the same to the Board for
approval; (b) made recommendation to the Board to grant
share options to Directors and Senior Management; and (c)
reviewed the Directors’ fees for Non-executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors and recommended the
same to the Board for approval.

Remuneration paid to Executive Directors and Senior
Management

Details of remuneration paid to Executive Directors in 2019
are set out in Note 9 to the Financial Statements.

Remuneration paid to Senior Management in 2019 by band
is as follows:

(5) EBZE=E (&)

(i) FHNZEES (E)

tEeERLt FHZESKREMBER
S BEITATBG  @QleaESE
LEREREABRNFMAFEL I
RREFEHE DEREFEH
EELSREBABRHBRE:
Rl FRTES KB IFNTT
EENEERE YRURAEES
VB o DA H O -

AHTESREREEAEINTHN
#r
RZFB-NAEFEXNTRITESEN
T BEER P BRI T

RZZ-NF RAEREEAEX
REVE BN FIA T EE :

Number of staff
BIAH

HK$8,000,001-HK$9,000,000
HK$4,000,001-HK$8,000,000
HK$3,000,001-HK$4,000,000
HK$2,000,001-HK$3,000,000
HK$1,000,001-HK$2,000,000

7% #.8,000,0017T & 7 #9,000,0007T
75 #£4,000,0017T & 7 #8,000,0007T
7% #3,000,0017T & 7 #4,000,0007T
7% #2,000,0017T 2 7 #3,000,0007T
75 #1,000,0017T & 7 #2,000,0007T

Nomination Committee

(iv) REZE®

The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of the
Board and two Independent Non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, to review the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and
to select suitable candidates for appointment as Directors in
the general meeting of the Company.
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) with measurable objectives.
Selections of Board candidates shall be based on a range of
diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s
business model and specific needs, including but not limited
to gender, age, educational background and work-profile.
The Company recognizes the benefits of having a diverse
Board and sees diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in maintaining its competitive advantage. The Board
composition reflects a full complement of expertise and
skills and diversity appropriate to the Company’s business
activities.

The complete Board Diversity Policy can be found on the
Company’s website.

Nomination Policy

The nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination
Policy”) was adopted on 27 November 2018 to provide
formal, clear and transparent procedures, process and
criteria for the Nomination Committee to nominate and
recommend suitable candidate to the Board.

Selection Criteria

Nomination Committee and the Board may consider the
following factors, which are neither exhaustive nor decisive,
when assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

(a) personal ethics, reputation and integrity;

(b) professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Company's
businesses and corporate development and strategy;

(o) willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge the duties as a director and to make
required commitments;

(d)  the "Board Diversity Policy” adopted by the Company

(as amended from to time); and

(e) applicable legal and regulatory requirements (as
amended from time to time).
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

58

(iv)

Nomination Committee (Continued)
Nomination Procedures

(a)

For filling a causal vacancy or appointing an additional
director to the Board in accordance with Article 92
of the Articles of Association of the Company,
Nomination Committee shall make recommendation
for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting, Nomination Committee shall make
nomination to the Board for consideration and
recommendation.

Shareholder(s) may nominate a candidate to stand for
election as a director at a general meeting in
accordance with the “Procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a director”
published by the Company from time to time.

The nomination proposal should include the
candidate’s biographical information and other
information as required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules and the candidate’s signed written
consent to be appointed as a director and to the
publication of his/her personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose
of or in relation to their standing for election as a
director.

If considered necessary, Nomination Committee may
request the candidate to provide additional
information and documents.

Nomination Committee shall consider the nomination
proposal, evaluate such candidate based on the
selection criteria and review the structure, size and
diversity of the Board to determine whether such
candidate is suitable for recommending to the Board.

A circular with the candidate information such as the
name, brief biography (including qualifications and
relevant experience), proposed remuneration,
independence and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations
will be provided to shareholders before the general
meeting and within the prescribed period as required
under Listing Rules.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to the recommendation of a candidate to
stand for election at a general meeting.

The complete Nomination Policy can be found on the
Company's website.
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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(5) EBZEE (&)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued) (iv) REZEE (&)
During the year, the Nomination Committee held one FR REZEGERIT—REH
meeting. The attendance of members is as follows: ZEHEENT:
Nomination
Committee meeting
attended/
Names Eligible to attend
BHE S&EKREE
e REZEEEINH
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. (Chairman) AL & LA - MH, LP. (/) 11
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy BB kA 11

(v)

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.

FThEE 4 sBS, JP.

7

At the meeting, the Nomination Committee performed,
among other matters, the following duties: (i) reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) reviewed
the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors; and (iii) reviewed and recommended six retiring
Directors for re-election by shareholders at the 2019 AGM.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee consists of one Non-executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors.

The duty of the Investment Committee is to oversee the
Company’s investments in financial instruments and the
management'’s execution of the investment policy guidelines
laid down by the Board.

—E-NEER

(v)
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FE_ZE-NERRBEFRGHR
REEEENREES-

REZEE
REZBEEHM—BHFATEFTR=
FEILIFRITERHEMK -

REZBENBAREBEARAR
TRIANKRENUNRERBHTE
FEMERBEBEESIMIER -

EZBETESARLST 59




Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

s

CEREABREE H)

(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(v) Investment Committee (Continued) (v)
During the year, the Investment Committee convened three
meetings. The attendance of members is as follows:

(5) EBZE=E (&)

REEEE (H)
CRRES S FECEVS S
ERMEENT

Investment
Committee meetings

attended/

Names Eligible to attend
BHE CEREE

o REZEEERRH
Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman) 2 yhos ik () 3/3
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay [E B8R 5 33
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan ﬁfﬁ@ﬁi 3/3
Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth® EF X AED 2/3

Note:

(1) Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth was unable to attend the
Investment Committee meeting on 12 March 2019 due to
overseas engagement.

At the three meetings, the Investment Committee

performed, among other matters, the following duties: (i)

reviewed the execution of the investment policy by Senior

Management; (i) reviewed the portfolio of the Company’s

investment; (iii) discussed new investment ideas and

strategies; and (iv) recommended amendments to the
investment guidelines for the Board's consideration and
approval.

(6) Company Secretary

Mr. HO Chi Kin Joseph, the Group'’s Senior Vice President of Legal

() BT RN E AR
RR-P-AF=A+-ARH
MEAERARRH-

—REHL BREMERN REZR
ERERITUTEE : (RIeRE

EABYHREBRKRORNITIER (i)
B ARAMRERS (i)

REBMSRER: RivERETR
Bl UHEESEERILE -

(6) XEME

AEBEMZREARI SR BEA SR

& Compliance, is the Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. HO FEREKRRH \ﬂ@l\g o fa] 5% A HERR
has confirmed that during the year under review he has taken no WHRBIEFERN2EAD DS/ NEEBNE
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. Sl
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(7) Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholder(s) holding at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
the shareholders of the Company having a right to vote at
general meetings can send a request to the Company to convene
a general meeting pursuant to Section 566 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). The request must state the general nature
of the business to be dealt with at the meeting and may include
the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at the meeting. The request must be
authenticated by the relevant shareholder(s) and sent to the
Company in hard copy form or in electronic form.

Shareholders may also put forward proposals at general meetings
in accordance with Sections 580 or 615 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders who have a relevant
right to vote at the general meeting or at least 50 shareholders of
the Company who have a relevant right to vote at the general
meeting may request the Company to circulate statements
regarding resolutions proposed at the general meeting; or request
the Company to circulate resolutions which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the AGM. The requisition
must be authenticated by the shareholder(s) concerned and sent
to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form where, (i)
in the case of a requisition for the circulation of statements
regarding
requisition must be received by the Company not later than 7

resolutions proposed at a general meeting, such

days before the general meeting; or (ii) in the case of a
requisition for the circulation of resolutions to be moved at the
AGM, the requisition must be received by the Company not later
than six weeks before the relevant AGM or if later, the time

when the notice of the AGM is dispatched.

Pursuant to Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of Association,

no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to
be elected shall have been given to the Company in each case,
during the period (being a period of at least seven days)
commencing on the day after dispatch of the notice of general
meeting at which elections to the office of Director are to be
considered and ending on the day that falls seven days before the
date of the general meeting (both days inclusive). The procedures
for shareholders of the Company to propose a person for election
as a Director are set out in the Corporate Governance Section of

the Company’s website.

(7)
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Communications with Shareholders and
Investors

The Company has established Shareholders Communication Policy
and is available under the “Investor Relations” section of the
Company’s
communication with
understanding of the Group’s performance and developments.
Regular newsletters on the Company's latest business
development are published on the Company’s website. A free
subscription service is available for interested parties to receive
email notification when there are major updates on investor's
information webpages.

website. The Company encourages two-way

its shareholders and investors to enhance

During the year, the Company held two forums for its individual
shareholders on 9 April 2019 and 16 September 2019 to brief the
shareholders on the 2018 annual results and 2019 interim results
respectively and the latest corporate developments. The Company
also arranged meetings for institutional investors and analysts to
discuss the Company’'s latest developments with Senior
Management. In 2019, the Company met with a total of 51
institutional investors, analysts and individual shareholders.

After the announcements of the 2018 annual results and 2019
interim results respectively, the Company organized two media
luncheons with a total of 17 financial reporters and journalists to
brief them about the Company’s financial results and business
developments.

As regards the Company’s 2019 AGM, almost all Board members,
including Chairman of the Board and Chairmen of the respective
Board Committees, and Senior Management of the Company
attended the meeting to answer questions raised by shareholders.

Constitutional Document

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company
(“Constitutional Document”) is available on the Company’s
website and the website of the HKEXnews of the Hong Kong
Exchange and Clearing Limited. There was no amendment to the
Constitutional Document during 2019.

(8)

(9)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report ("ESG Report”)

RR -#H8REREA(R

This ESG Report includes our disclosures related to the requirements as
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
(the "ESG Guide"”), Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("”Listing
Rules”).

About Tradelink

Tradelink is an e-commerce services company and its principal activity is
to provide Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS”) for
processing certain official trade-related documents. Leverage its core
competence, Tradelink has diversified its business in other areas
including supply chain solutions, identity management solutions and
payment technology solutions, some of which being operated by the
Company’s subsidiaries. The mission of the Company is to empower its
clients with business enabled e-solutions for their commercial and
financial activities.

Scope of the ESG Report

This ESG Report focuses on aspects which have been identified as
material to the Group’s business by the Board and its key stakeholders
namely, its employees, investors and shareholders, customers, suppliers
and the community. As our core business is operated in Hong Kong, the
scope of reporting in this ESG Report covers Tradelink and its
subsidiaries in Hong Kong for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2019.

ESG Strategy & Reporting

In accordance with the Listing Rules, the Board has overall responsibility
for the Company’s ESG strategy and reporting. The Company has been
pursuing its ESG strategy since its adoption by the Board on 29 March
2016. Our ESG strategy is summarized as follows:

Environmental

— We are committed to sustainable business practices that help
protect the environment.

— We run our business in a responsible manner and minimize
environmental pollution.

— We implement internal policies to reduce environmental impact and
raise employees’ awareness of the efficient use of resources.

— We support or collaborate with organizations which promote
environmental protection.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Social

—  We manage our human resources and maintain our employer-
employee relationship with the employees in strict compliance
with the relevant labor laws.

— We use our reasonably best endeavors to engage suppliers which
are in compliance with their local environment and labor laws.

— We make positive contributions to the community.

Governance

— Tradelink is committed to a high standard of corporate governance
and detailed information in relation to Governance aspect is
shown separately under the heading
Report” in the annual report.

“Corporate Governance

The Board will identify areas for
improvements from time to time or when appropriate.

review the ESG strategy and

The Board has delegated its responsibilities to the Audit Committee to
evaluate and determine ESG-related risks to ensure that appropriate and
effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place.
The Board has also delegated responsibilities to the Corporate
Governance Committee to review performance and compliance on
corporate governance matters of the Company. Both the Audit
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee would report back to
the Board on their decisions or recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval.

During the year, the Board received a confirmation from Senior
Management on the effectiveness of the ESG risk management and
internal control systems on the basis of the risk management and
internal control reports. The same reports have been endorsed by the
Audit Committee.
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Stakeholders’ Engagement

KOENSHE

The Company values the opinions of its stakeholders and engages them AARIERIFTHEMNELE R TH BB HELHE -
on a continual basis in order to understand their views, meet or even LABFREFEEMEI ML EERBEHEHE
exceed their expectations and implement its ESG strategy more smoothly %ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ%“@ﬁil}]iﬁﬁﬁzﬁ AMERR HEgkE
and successfully. In 2019, the Company collected the following JARE -R_-_ZT—NF ARARBBZKEEREBER
stakeholders’ opinions via various channels: %T@J %ﬂ’i}%ﬂ’l,mﬁu :
Stakeholders Concerned matters Engagement channels
FOE BENEE SHERE
Employees — Employee rights and benefits Staff intranet portal and emails, staff club
EE — Training and development BTREEREE B TEHLI
— The work environment
— Work-life balance
— EE AN KZIEA
— B 3 R
— TERE
— IEEEFZHENTE
Investors and shareholders — Investment returns Announcements, newsletters, circulars, annual
WEERKRRE — Business development report, interim report, annual general meeting,
— Business performance investor forums and shareholder meetings
— Business strategies NE BB FW o RHIWRE  BREBEX
— Corporate governance @ CBEERELRERE
— REE®R
— EBERE
— XBRHE
— EBEE
— hEER
Customers — Product/service quality/service level Product/service terms and conditions, code of
By S — Product/service price conduct, contracts, letter of undertaking on
— Customer information/personal data integrity, meetings and training, after-sales service
confidentiality (customer inquiries or complaints)
— Cyber security E%/E&ﬁ% %%’K&ﬂﬂ# BT EH WE
— Employment practices AGER - R REY E{éﬂ&i‘&( F&EHRKE
— Business ethics (anti-corruption and &)
prevention of bribery)
— Corporate governance
— Euu/ﬂ&ﬂ&g?/ﬂﬁffgﬂ<$
— Em/ R ER
— BPEH /AAERRE M
— P e
— EEER
— BEER(RER L IEHEE)
— EER
Suppliers — Business ethics and credit Negotiation of contracts, meetings
HER — Fair trade EEer g
— Mutually beneficial strategic
alliances
— Corporate governance
—%%ﬁ%&%%
— REFR5
—EEEWQW%ﬁ
— EER
Community — Community development Volunteer work and charitable activities
) — Social welfare ETIRBREZEH
— HRERE
— HEEM
ESG-related risks were also raised and discussed in the Company's risk BEIRE - HEREANEBR ISR AR ATH

management meetings which were held on a regular basis. Comments
and recommendations were reported back to Senior Management.

BITH R R E QE%J:?EHj&uTm W B[R
EEANBERERMIEEES -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Materiality Assessment

During the year, the stakeholders’ opinions collected were reviewed and
assessed. Taking into account the reporting principles as set out in the
ESG Reporting Guide, the business nature and principal activity of the
Company, the relevant information under the Social Areas of the ESG
Guide, which important to its investors and
stakeholders, in details in this ESG Report.
Information on the relevant policies adopted by the Company and how

is considered to be
would be disclosed

such policies comply with the relevant laws and regulations would also
be disclosed.

Given the fact that the Company is an e-commerce services company,
the three aspects under the Environmental Area, namely Emissions, Use
of Resources and the Environment and Natural Resources, are not
considered material enough which need to be disclosed in accordance
with the ESG Guide. The respective reasons are as follows:

For Emissions, the Company’s operation is not involved in air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste in significant
quantities. regulations that have
significant impact on the Company regarding Emissions.

There are no relevant laws and

Similarly, for Use of Resources, the Company's operation is not involved
in direct and/or indirect energy consumption (e.g. electricity, water and
other raw materials) and water consumption in significant quantities. In
addition, the Company’s operation is not involved in packaging materials
used for finished products as the Company does not deliver tangible
products.

For Environment and Natural Resources, the Company considers its
business nature and operation having no significant impact on
environment and natural resources.

Nevertheless, the Company understands the importance of
environmental protection and undoubtedly supports it. In this regard, the
Company constantly reminds its staff to protect the environment and use
energy and resources effectively and efficiently by issuing policies and
guidelines on the related subjects. In this ESG Report, we would
voluntarily disclose the policies and practices which have been adopted
by the Company with a view to conserving the environment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

e REARE (8

IRIE -

Environmental

The Company has implemented several environmental policies to protect
the environment. We have been running and will continue to run our
business in a responsible manner and minimize environmental pollution.

The Company takes actions in daily operations to reduce environmental
impact. They include:

— using LED lamps, reminding staff of turning off lights and air-
conditioning when not in use or out of office,

— keeping air-conditioning at 25°C,

— installing a new air-conditioning system in the office to improve
the air quality and save energy consumption and costs,

— posting internal posters on saving water,

— installing tap water controllers to limit the water flow and speed
to save water consumption,

— setting up timer for air conditioners and water dispensers to save

electricity,
— using e-forms to reduce use of paper, and
— installing recycling bins for metals, plastics and waste paper
collections in office.
Besides, the Company produces corporate stationeries, reports and
souvenirs made by environment-friendly materials, uses recycled papers
and toners, and also adopts green dish in Company Annual Dinner to
raise employees’ of efficient use of resources and
conservation of the environment. The Company is willing to support or

awareness

collaborate with organizations which promote environmental protection.
All these policies aim at not only environmental protection but also cost-
saving for the Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Environmental (Continued)

The Company also promotes environmental awareness of our employees
and the good use of resources through different programs. During the
reporting period, the Company has mobilized our staff to support Non-
Governmental Organizations (“NGOs"”) campaigns such as:

— collecting used red packets for recycling by Greeners Action and
pledging to reduce the printing quantity of company red packets,

— collecting books for recycling in support of the Used Book Recycling
Campaign organized by World Vision Hong Kong,

— collecting mooncake boxes for recycling organized by Greeners
Action, and

— donating food/Chinese New Year gifts to the underprivileged in
support of the campaign organized by Food Grace.

Social

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

Employee profiles and turnover rates in 2019 of our operations in Hong
Kong, breakdown by gender and age are shown at table below.
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Number of Overall turnover rate

employee 2019

EBEAH TE-NFERRLE

Our workforce BT 241 9.6%
Breakdown by gender =3 E (o

Female 7 104 43.2%

Male S 137 56.8%
Breakdown by age RERE D

< 25 <257% 18 7.5%

25-29 255% 22955, 46 19%

30-39 307% £395% 48 20%

40-49 4057 24955, 87 36.1%

> 50 >505% 42 17.4%

The Company manages its human resources and maintains its employer-
employee relationship with the employees in compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap.
608) and the different legislations against discrimination.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE g REAREE)

Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Employment (Continued)

To the Company, employees are valuable assets. The Company provides
equal employment opportunity and competitive remuneration packages
to attract and retain employees. The Company has issued and would
continue to review and update policies and guidelines relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare.

The Company offers employee benefits better than the requirements of
Employment Ordinance like fully-paid sick leave, maternity leave and
paternity and provides birthday
compassionate leave, examination leave, voluntary service leave, medical
insurance and ex-gratia payment to retiring employees. The Company has
employed disabled employees and provided them with disability-friendly
working environment. The Company has adopted a lactation policy and
provided a lactation room to support breastfeeding mothers as part of
the Company’s family-friendly policies and benefits. In addition, during
the reporting period the Company has encouraged staff to have
healthier diets and provided fresh fruits for their consumption every
Monday and Wednesday.

leave, leave, marriage leave,

In order to promote work-life balance, the Company provides flexible
working hours to employees, makes part-time job arrangement for
working parents, and the Tradelink Staff Club has organized different
leisure activities for employees and their family members during
weekends and holidays. The Company has also designated a room to be
the common room for holding staff social activities.

Health and Safety

The Company provides a safe and healthy working environment and
protected employees from occupational hazards in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including without limitation the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) (“OSHO") and the
regulations under the OSHO.

During the year, yoga training, bowling competition, stretching class,
company outing, Christmas party, annual dinner and interest classes
were organized for staff. Fruit is provided to staff on every Monday and
Wednesday. Besides, Automated External Defibrillator (“AED") was
purchased in 2018 and training on AED was provided to staff. From time
to time, the Company provides occupational health and safety
information to its employees so as to raise their awareness on workplace
safety.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Health and Safety (Continued)

The Company always puts office safety as their top priority. The
Company would do its utmost to minimize the risk of fire in office. In
accordance with fire regulations, all Tradelink offices have been installed
with fire sprinklers and fire extinguishers, which are checked annually by
qualified persons. In order to increase the staff's safety awareness, fire
drill is conducted regularly to show the location of fire exits and the way
to the exit in case of a fire. Training on fire safety was also organized
for staff.

Development and Training

The Company has policy on training subsidy. The Company supports
employees to attend external, job-related training courses and seminars
to improve their knowledge and skills for discharging their duties at
work and enhance their career progression. Moreover, the Company
provides training subsidy to staff for payment of course fees and
examination fees for job-related courses or qualifications. During the
year, the Company has organized in-house training and workshops, like
mental health first aid course, briefing on tax deduction for voluntary
health insurance scheme, MPF tax deductible voluntary contributions and
qualifying deferred annuity policy and ICAC talk on anti-corruption.

Labour Standards
The Company abides by the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) and its
regulations and have not employed any child and forced labour.

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Company values mutually beneficial long standing relationships with
the suppliers and customers by providing high quality services to
customers and developing mutual trust with suppliers.

In the Company’s procurement policy, it is specifically stated that the
Company would use its reasonably best endeavors to select and engage
suppliers which are in compliance with their local environmental and
labor laws. Moreover, the Company requests its key suppliers to provide
written compliance confirmations confirming, inter alia, that they are in
compliance with their local environmental laws and regulations and they
in a responsible manner and minimize

will run their businesses

environmental pollution.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Product Responsibility

The Company provides hotline service, on-site technical support and
training for customers who use our services and products. The Company
also pledges to continuously improve its service and products through
enhancements and upgrades with an aim to deliver the best possible
reliable and quality solutions to our customers. The Company does the
best to meet the set service targets and strives to achieve high standard
in different aspects of its operations.

Tradelink observes the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486) (the
“PDPO”) and the data collection principles under the PDPO in
conducting its business. The Company educates and requires its staff to
handle personal data of its customers carefully and properly. Access to
the personal data of the customers is limited to those employees who
have a genuine need to access to such personal data in order to
perform the services to the customers. The Company will only process
the personal data of its customers to the extent, and in such a manner,
as is necessary for the purposes of provision of its services and in
accordance with the customers’ instructions and will not process the
personal data for any other purposes. The Company will not disclose the
personal data of its customers to other third parties without the consent
of its customers. The Company stipulates clearly its obligations in its
Privacy Policy set out in its terms and conditions of services offered to
customers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Anti-corruption

The Company has zero tolerance to corruption. As a matter of fact, the
Company is deemed a “public body” under the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) to reflect the nature of the GETS services and the
Company’s market position as a major service provider with a licence
granted by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Government”) in running important public functions. In this
regard, Senior Management and directors of the Company who will likely
be regarded as “public officials” for the purpose of the common law
offence, have been advised on their various liabilities under the common
law offence on “misconduct in public office”.

For employees in general, in order to comply with Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) and other relevant anti-corruption
regulations, the Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and Conduct
(the “Code"”) which is applicable to all employees of the Group. The
Code which is subject to the review and comment by the Independent
Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC"), provides the details about the
liabilities as employees of a public body. All employees are required to
read the Code and understand and observe them both in letter and in
spirit at all times. They must observe the prescribed standards of
behavior when performing duties at work. The Code addresses, inter
alia, the following key areas:

laws and

— Proprietary and Confidential Information
— Conflict of Interest

— Prevention of Bribery

— Gifts, Gratuities, Hospitality

— Notification of Suspected Corrupt Conduct
— Personal and Private Dealings

To provide education to employees on anti-corruption, the Company
invites ICAC to conduct anti-corruption talk to the employees every year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE g REAREE)

Social (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Anti-corruption (Continued)

Moreover, the Company has whistle-blowing procedures to encourage
staff to report, on a confidential basis, any misconduct, dishonesty,
corruption, illegal activity or wrongdoing within the Company which they
become aware of to the Vice President (Internal Audit), who is the
delegate of the Audit Committee. If the whistle-blower believes that the
Vice President (Internal Audit) has a conflict of interest in the matter, the
report can be made directly to the CEO. Likewise, if it is believed that
the CEO has a conflict of interest in the matter, the report may be made
directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee or the Chairman of the
Board. No such report was received during the reporting period.

Community

Community Investment

With our commitment to help improving the community well-being, we
continuously encourage our staff, their families and friends to participate
in different voluntary activities. To this end, one measure which the
Company has introduced to motivate staff to participate in voluntary
services is our implementation of a voluntary service leave policy under
which a staff can take up to 2 days’ full paid leave in a year for his/her
participation in service of a charitable nature. During the reporting
period, 12.5 days of voluntary service leave were taken by our staff in
total (2018: over 19 days of voluntary service leave were taken by staff).
We encouraged our staff to bring the community involvement in their
daily life by putting words into action.

During the reporting period, the Company joined the following
charitable and community work organized by local NGOs or community
groups.

° Joining World Vision’s Skip-A-Meal Campaign

Tradelink supported World Vision's Skip-A-Meal Campaign held in
June 2019 and encouraged staff to donate their meal money to
help children and families who were facing food crisis due to
climate change. The funds raised from this Skip-A-Meal Campaign
were used to support World Vision’s work in disaster-hit Somalia,
South Sudan and Zimbabwe to meet the needs of the hungry in
these countries.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Social (Continued) HE(E)
Community (Continued) HE (&)
Community Investment (Continued) HERE (&)

. Support to the Charity Sale of Oxfam Rice . TRYBKRE

Tradelink organized a volunteer team to participate in the Oxfam
Rice Event held in May 2019. The Oxfam Rice Event was one of
the biggest annual fundraising events organised by Oxfam Hong
Kong. All funds raised would go to the Oxfam Smallholder
Farmers Development Fund to support smallholder farmers in poor
communities around the world as they face challenges like climate
change, food shortage and poverty.

3 Participating in Walker’s Bag Packing for Oxfam Trailwalker o
Tradelink recruited staff and their families or friends to be
volunteers to pack the walker's bag for the event of Oxfam
Trailwalker in October 2019.
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Charity Donation ZEEX

To promote our care for the community, we not only participated in AREBETE KM TAELXEE TRE MIE
voluntary services and donation, but also encouraged our customers to - NMEBEFLE - RIFAQNTEF EE
join in with us. Under our customer loyalty program, customers could &) BEFAIBEENNESERABZET BET
use their bonus points to make charity donations to charitable BEESEBHELEF LT EESHKE NS

organizations such as the Hong Kong PHAB Association and Oxfam Hong A -

BMENBRETREFPREDBE TAM

Kong. During the reporting period, we had more than 450 customers  [E%& & & -

donating their bonus points to these two charitable organizations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

CHEERERERE ()
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Social (Continued)

Community Recognition

In appreciation of the various social aspects of work we have done, we
are pleased that we currently have the following recognitions awarded

by related organizations.

Award:
#8215 ¢
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Organizer:
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Award for Family-Friendly Employers to Tradelink
RERERE —E5B

Award for Breastfeeding Support to Tradelink
ZREIAREE — 58

Good MPF Employer Award to Tradelink and Digi-Sign
[#E € if 8 = |— & 5 i K&Digi-Sign

Support for MPF Management Award
HBEeERE

Caring Company Logo to Tradelink and Digi-Sign
[ REREIEH — & 5@ &Digi-Sign

List of Barrier-free Companies to Tradelink

BEBAECELE —E58B
Happy Company Label to Tradelink and Digi-Sign

[FOEE IR — B 5| &Digi-Sign
“Green Office” label and "“Eco-Healthy Workplace” label
in Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme (GOALS)
SN E R E(GOALS)W [ B A E R
[ T 1EM

Family Council and Home Affairs Bureau

RERELRBELR

Family Council and Home Affairs Bureau

RERELRBELR

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
BEIMRNESTEHERR

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
BEIMRNESTEHERR

Hong Kong Council of Social Service

ERELEREH S

Hong Kong Council of Social Service

ERLEREH S

The Promoting Happiness Index Foundation and the Hong Kong

Productivity Council

ERRARELEHRESREBEENRER
World Green Organisation

1 SR & 4 A
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Directors’ Report
EEEHREE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their Annual Report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Principal Place of Business

The Company is a company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong
and has its registered office and principal place of business at 11th and
12th Floors, Tower B, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung,
Hong Kong.

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of Government
Electronic Trading Services (“GETS") for processing certain official trade-
related documents. Leveraging its core competence, the Company has
diversified its business into other areas including supply chain solutions,
identity management solutions and payment technology solutions, some
of which being operated by the Company’s subsidiaries.

activities and other particulars of the Company’s
“Notes to the Financial

The principal
subsidiaries are set out in Note 75 to the
Statements”.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion
on the Group’s future business development and possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the sections
headed “"Management Discussion and
Analysis” and these sections form part of this Directors’ Report.

“Chairman’s Statement” and

The Group's financial risks are shown in Note 26 to the sections headed
“Notes to the Financial Statements”.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators can be found throughout this Annual Report.

The Board believes that a strict compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations is pivotal to the success of the Company. For this purpose,
the Board has delegated responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the
Corporate Governance Committee and Senior Management to monitor
and implement the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
the legal and regulatory requirements that have a significant impact on
the Company.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

BEEeREEE)

Business Review (Continued)

As an entity incorporated and listed in Hong Kong, the Company is
governed, managed and operated pursuant to the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571), the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on the corporate level. The Board has adopted the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, and its
committees have their own terms of reference defining their respective
rights, duties and obligations. Besides, the Company is deemed to be a
“public body” under the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) to
reflect the nature of the GETS services and the Company’'s market
position as a major service provider granted a licence by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“Government”) in running important public functions. The Company has
also acted in strict compliance with the Employment Ordinance (Cap.
57), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485), the
Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) and the different legislation
against discrimination.

On the operational level, the various businesses of the Group are
conducted in accordance with, among others, the Competition
Ordinance (Cap. 619), the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance
(Cap. 593), the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486) and the
Electronic Transactions Ordinance (Cap. 553). The member companies of
the Group have registered their trademarks and domain names to
protect their intellectual property rights, which are considered crucial to
their businesses. In particular, the Company conducts its core business of
providing the GETS services to the industrial and trading sectors in
conformity with the Import and Export Ordinance (Cap. 60) and the
GETS Contract signed with the Government in addition to the above-
mentioned ordinances.

For the Group’s environmental policies and performance and the key
relationships with its employees, customers, suppliers and community,
the discussions are shown in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (“ESG Report”) and the ESG Report forms part of this Directors’
Report.
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Major Customers and Suppliers
The information in respect of the Group’'s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

Directors’ Report (Continued)
EFeREE A

TEEFRHEER

RAFRFEZIZEPRHEEE D BIEEAEE
MERLERBEERDT

Percentage of the Group’s Total

EAEEHEENED L
Sales Purchases
SHEH 2 2
The largest customer BAREP 20.3%
Five largest customers in aggregate A AR P A&t 29.9%
The largest supplier HREER 21.8%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hRHERAE 33.0%

Of the five largest customers, four are banks and one is a leading retail
chain in Hong Kong. As at end of 2019, their length of relationship
with the Company ranges from less than 1 year to 15 years.

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers or suppliers.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs at that date are set out
in the financial statements on pages 102 to 197.

Recommended Dividend

An interim dividend of HK 3.3 cents per share (2018: interim dividend of
HK 3.5 cents per share) was paid on 9 October 2019.

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK
6.5 cents per share (2018: final dividend of HK 6.0 cents per share) for
the year ended 31 December 2019. The proposed dividend is expected
to be paid on or about 29 May 2020 to qualified shareholders subject to
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out
in Note 14 to the “Notes to the Financial Statements”.

Share Capital

Details of the issue of shares and the movements in share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in Note 25 to the “Notes to the
Financial Statements”.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the financial year 2019 and up to
the date of this report were:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily

Non-executive Directors
Dr. LEE Delman

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company at the date of this
report are shown on pages 31 to 37.

In accordance with Article 100 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, at each AGM one half of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of two, then the number nearest to but
not greater than one half) shall retire from office. Ms. CHUNG Shun
Kwan, Emily, Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent, Mr. CHAK Hubert, Mr.
CHAU Tak Hay, Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy and Mr. HO Lap Kee,
Sunny, M.H., J.P. will retire at the forthcoming AGM. All retiring Directors,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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Directors (Continued)

The Directors of subsidiaries during the financial year 2019 and up to
the date of this report were:

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily
Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, subject to the
statutes, every Director of the Company shall be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which Director may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of the Director’s
office or otherwise in Such permitted indemnity
provision is in force at any time in the financial year and at the time of

relation thereto.

approval of this report.

Director’s Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Dr. LEE Delman was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 29
October 2012 and is the President and Chief Technology Officer for TAL
Apparel Limited and accordingly may be regarded as interested in all
contracts and other dealings between TAL Apparel Limited and members
of the Group during the year under review.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract, transactions or arrangements of
significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party or
were parties, in which a Director of the Company or any entities
connected with the Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory compensation.

“2-NGER ESBEFTEHSARAN 81 /

Directors’ Report (Continued)
EFgREE @

E= (&)

RIBE-NFUBRFEREERRE APEEDH
MEARERNT :

WERR A
HERELE
B 22+

BExL

EEFNBERX

BREARANEMRERAY REEZSARE
S ARBIBREENEARBEETEHER
MITRIS S B B A A 7 T AT R R R AR B
B — IR R SOR B B (F o b FF A0 B (B 15
REFBRFEEABHEAREHAEERFR -

N

EENXRE  RHIENESR

FHEABLIR - T-——_F+A-TNEEEER
FWITES WABMERAEXARARNBE L
RARE RIS AR ERAXARAR R
AEBMRERAZHMERNBFERNTILNH - &
HREMZXSTENDERE -

B EXAAON  RERLFEREMER - NAF
SEMBARMEIT L ARREFH AR EER
REPBEEEANSNEMNEZSL RHHL
e

EENRHEESN

BRREERITORRBFAG LEREEINES
BESEARRTIARB AR —FARMEEE
(—RROEERERIN) T AR RERRBE L -




Directors’ Report (Continued)

BEEeREEE)

Directors’ Service Contracts (Continued)

All Directors shall retire by rotation in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company and the Listing Rules or at such time as
may be required by resolution of the Board of the Company.

Details of three Executive Directors’ employment contracts, four Non-
executive Directors’ and five Independent Non-executive Directors’ service
contracts are set out below.

Mr. TSE Kam Keung signed an employment contract to act as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 1 July 2015, for a
three-year term until 30 June 2018, subject to a 3-month written notice
to terminate the contract by either the Company or Mr. TSE. The
contract extended upon its expiry on 30 June 2018 for a period of not
more than 3 years with other terms remain unchanged.

Under the employment contract of 30 August 2004 signed between the
Company and Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew, the contract can be
terminated by the Company or Mr. CHENG by giving one month’s notice
or payment in lieu of notice. On 15 November 2011, Mr. CHENG was
appointed as Acting Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
and on 26 June 2012, he became the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. In line with the business developments of the Company,
he was re-designated as the Chief Technology Officer of the Company
on 1 January 2017.

Under the employment contract between the Company and Ms. CHUNG
Shun Kwan, Emily dated 20 March 2008, Ms. CHUNG acts as the Chief
Operations Officer of the Company. The contract can be terminated by
the Company or Ms. CHUNG by giving one month’s notice or payment
in lieu of notice. Since Ms. CHUNG reached retirement age at her 60,
her employment contract was extended on 14 July 2016, 17 July 2017,
16 July 2018 and 16 July 2019 respectively, each for a 1-year period.

In the 2017 AGM, the Company entered into service contracts with
three Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S., J.P,,
Dr. LEE Delman and Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth; two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAU Tak Hay and Ms. CHAN Chi
Yan, each for a period of three years. The service contract can be
terminated by the Company or the Director by giving one month’s
notice in writing or payment in lieu of notice.
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Directors’ Service Contracts (Continued)

In the 2018 AGM, the Company entered into service contracts with a
Non-executive Director Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAK Hubert, Mr.
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy and Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P., each
for a period of three years. The service contract can be terminated by
the Company or the Director by giving one month’s notice in writing or
payment in lieu of notice.

Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in

Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures
As at 31 December 2019, Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SBS., JP, a

Non-executive Director, had a deemed interest in 101,125,000 shares of
the Company through his indirect shareholding in TAL Apparel Limited
and 95,673,000 shares in the Company through his direct shareholding
in Eastex (HK) Limited respectively. Dr. LEE Delman, a Non-executive
Director, had a deemed interest in 101,125,000 shares of the Company
through his indirect shareholding in TAL Apparel Limited. The deemed
interests 101,125,000 shares of the Company held by Dr. LEE Nai Shee,
Harry, S.B.S., J.P. and Dr. LEE Delman were the same shares held by TAL
Apparel Limited. Mr. TSE Kam Keung, Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
and Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily, Executive Directors of the Company,
held 4,070,000, 2,755,843 and 2,994,605 ordinary shares of the
Company registered in their own names respectively as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO").

The Directors of the Company are entitled to options under the share
option schemes of the Company, details of which are set out in the
section “Share Option Scheme” below.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the Directors of the Company or any
of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age has interest or
short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company, any of its holding company, subsidiaries or other associated
corporations, as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies.
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Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme currently in operation was adopted on 9 May
2014 (the “Share Option Scheme 2014"). Under the Share Option
Scheme 2014, the Board has the absolute discretion to offer any
employees (whether full or part-time), directors (including Independent
Non-executive Directors), consultants, business associates or advisers of
the Company or any company within the Group options to subscribe for
shares of the Company, provided that the total number of shares issued
or to be issued to any one grantee in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. The grantee shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company as nominal consideration for the grant upon
acceptance of the offer of an option. Each option has a 10-year exercise
period and the details of vesting conditions are set out in Note 24(a)
under the heading “Notes to the Financial Statements” on pages 176 to
178. The Share Option Scheme 2014 will expire on 8 May 2024.
However, share options granted under this Share Option Scheme before
its expiry date will remain valid, subject to the same terms and
conditions.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme 2014 is:

(a) to assist the Company to attract and retain the best available
personnel; and

(b)  to provide additional incentives to employees, directors, consultants,
business associates and advisers to promote the success of the
Group;

by providing them with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company through an offer of grant of options. The Shares subject to
the Share Option Scheme 2014 will be identical in nature with the other
Shares of the Company.
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The total number of share which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme 2014 shall not
exceed in aggregate 10% of the issued capital of the Company at its
adoption date, being 79,207,319 shares on 9 May 2014 (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Options that have lapsed shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The Scheme Mandate
Limit may be renewed by obtaining approval of shareholders in general
meetings of the Company provided that such total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme 2014 under the Scheme Mandate Limit as
renewed shall not exceed 10% of the shares issued at the date of
approval of such limit (the “Refreshed Limit”). Options previously
granted (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised)
shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Refreshed Limit.

The subscription amount payable in respect of each share option upon
exercise of an option shall be determined by the Board and shall be not
less than the greater of:

(i) the closing price of the shares on the SEHK's daily quotation sheet
on the date, which must be a business day, of a written offer of
such option (the “Date of Grant”); and

(i) the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated in
the SEHK's daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Date of Grant.

At the AGM of the Company on 8 May 2015, shareholders approved the
amendments to clauses 10.1(D), 10.1(E) and 2.1 of the Share Option
Scheme 2014. Such amendments to the Share Option Scheme 2014 give
the Board a discretion to waive or extend the 90-day Limitation with
authority to impose conditions to any such waiver or extension and to
provide an appropriate exercise period for each grant of options during
the scheme period. This provides the Board with necessary flexibility it
needs to deal, in the best interest of the Company, with the different
types of situations that may arise over the course of the ten-year validity
period of the Share Option Scheme 2014.
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)

BRESS(E

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share options T 3 # & F N AR 2 &) B8 I # 1 £

during the year:

Effect of
options lapsed
upon termination

No. of options of employment/ No. of options Market value
outstanding as  No. of options  No. of options  No. of options expiry of the outstanding as Exercise  per share on
at 1 January  granted during exercised during cancelled during 10-year exercise at 31 December Exercise  price per exercise of
2019 the year the year the year period 2019 Date granted period share options”
R-B-N%§ HELER, R-B-h&
—-A—H THETEH t=A=+-8 3381
8 K AT Y FREHG FRTEN FRTHN BT R i RATHEMN R THEESR
BREBE BRERE BREHE BRESE BRENTE BREBE RA® TES TEE BROWHE"
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Directors
S
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, 900,000 — — — — 900,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
S.BS., JP. ZT-ME +F
FhEEL ~A=Z+E
SB.S., JP. 100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—T-8F TF
tAZ=H
Dr. LEE Delman 200,000 — — — — 200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
£ N —E-mE +F
~A=+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—E-HF +F
+tA=A
Mr. YING Tze Man, 200,000 — — — — 200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
Kenneth —T-mF +F
HEFXRE ~NA=+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—T-8F +F
+AZH
Mr. CHAK Hubert 900,000 — — — — 900,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
Bmwsst “E-ME +F
~A=+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—T-8F TF
+tAZH
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay 500,000 — — — — 500,000 10 years 1.90 —
AERLE &
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—E-BF +F
+tA=A
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, 800,000 — — — — 800,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
Jimmy —Z-mF +F
BB E ~NA=+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—Z-8F +F
+AZH
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, 900,000 — — — — 900,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
M.H., J.P. —T-ME +F
IS E 5% E - MH, P, ~A=+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—T-8F TF
+tA=A
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Share Option Scheme (Continued) BERESE (&)

Effect of
options lapsed
upon termination

No. of options of employment/ No. of options Market value
outstanding as  No. of options  No. of options  No. of options expiry of the outstanding as Exercise  per share on
at 1 January  granted during exercised during cancelled during 10-year exercise at 31 December Exercise  price per exercise of
2019 the year the year the year period 2019 Date granted period share options”
R-ZB-N&F R&ALER/ R-B-h&
-A—-H THEIEH +=A=+-8 R
i RATHEM FREHG FRTEN FREHH BT KR i RATHEM B8R TERSR
BRERE BREHE BREBE BRERE BRENY BRERE BRHBM TEE TEE BROMHE"
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Mr. TSE Kam Keung 200,000 — — — — 200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
Bk —E-NF +F
~NA=+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—“E-0F t+F
+tA=H
1,200,000 — — — — 1,200,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 —
—E-RF tF
+tAmA
2,400,000 — — — — 2,400,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 —
—E—tF %
mMA=+NA
2,400,000 — — — — 2,400,000 04/05/2018 10 years 134 —
—E-N\E %
TAMmA
— 2,400,000 — — — 2,400,000 12/04/2019 10 years 1.406 —
“E-AE +E
mA+=A
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, 1,200,000 — — — — 1,200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
Andrew —Z-mF +F
BrRBEE ~AZ+8
1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—T-1F %
+tAZH
900,000 — — — — 900,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 —
ZT-RF t+F
+tAmA
500,000 — — — — 500,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 —
—E—tF FF
MA=+NH
900,000 — — — — 900,000 04/05/2018 10 years 1.34 —
—E-NF t+F
HAMA
— 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000 12/04/2019 10 years 1.406 —
—Z-NF +F
mA+=H
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, 500,000 — — — — 500,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
Emily —T-mF +5
BIEF L L ~A=t+H
700,000 — — — — 700,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—T-0F t+F
+tAZH
900,000 — — — — 900,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 —
—E-REF TF
+tAMmA
1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 —
—F—tF +F
mA=+NAE
1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000 04/05/2018 10 years 134 —
—T-N\E +#%
TAMA
— 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000 12/04/2019 10 years 1.406 —
—E-NFE +F
mA+=A
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Effect of
options lapsed
upon termination
No. of options of employment/ No. of options Market value
outstanding as  No. of options  No. of options  No. of options expiry of the outstanding as Exercise  per share on
at 1 January granted during exercised during cancelled during 10-year exercise at 31 December Exercise  price per exercise of
2019 the year the year the year period 2019 Date granted period share options®
R-F-h& EELER, R=-B-h#F
-B-8 +EIEH t=A=t-8 BRE
i RATHEMN FREHB FRITEN FRTHH RS 4] HRATEN sk TEESR
BREHE BRERAE BRERE BRERE BRENTE BRERE REAH TEH TEE  BROWHE"
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Employees 2,300,000 — — — (300,000) 2,000,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
"R —TomE
~NA=t+H
2,100,000 — — — (200,000) 1,900,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—E-8F t+F
+tA=H
2,300,000 — — — (200,000) 2,100,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 —
—E-RE t+F
+tAmA
2,400,000 — — — (100,000) 2,300,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 —
—E—tF t+F
mA=+NR
3,100,000 — — — (200,000) 2,900,000 04/05/2018 10 years 134 —
ZE-N\FE TF
TAMmA
— 3,500,000 — (200,000) (200,000) 3,100,000 12/04/2019 10 years 1.406 —
—E-NE +F
mA+=A
Ex-employees 2,900,000 — — — — 2,900,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
AlEE —T-NFE t+F
ANA=TH
2,900,000 — — — — 2,900,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—ZT-1F t+F
+AZH
2,100,000 — — — — 2,100,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 —
—R"EF t+F
+tAmA
500,000 — — — — 500,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 —
—EB—tF +F
mA=+/\H
Total
@it 40,600,000 7,900,000 — (200,000) (1,200,000) 47,100,000

n

Being the weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised.

The options granted to the Directors are registered under the names of
the Directors who are also the beneficial owners.

Information on the accounting policy for share options granted and the
weighted average value per option is provided in Notes 1(q)(ii) and 24(a)
to the “Notes to the Financial Statements” respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the Company,
or its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of
the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in the Company or any other body corporate.

BIZS A R) 8 i A B2 2 B AR A 7T (£ B H A1 A9 DA
U E -

?%ﬁ%ﬂ%h%ﬁu EMHEERD MEE
MEBRHEBA -

EHEEERLERENS B LS5 1R ENE
T EERE RS BB B 7% H K W) /4727
1(q)ii) & 11 i#24(a) -
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e
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Equity-Linked Agreements

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year, save for the share option schemes
described in this report.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares

Directors’ Report (Continued)

EERBEE(
BR RE 8 17 2
W 25 3R 5 P 0 B AR AT EUSN - YA N (AT B

AARFERGER  WEAT S ERRER B -

FTERRRERO REERDH
BERKE

The Company has been notified of the following interest in the ARBEFR-_T—AF+_A=+—BEEAL
Company's issued shares as at 31 December 2019 amounting to 5% or 72 &) 2 %71 Hﬁfﬁﬁ’]%ﬁﬁkﬁ%ﬂ 388 AR5 % 3k LA
more of the ordinary shares in issue: ERREMT
Ordinary shares
ZRR
Corporate/
Registered individual Number of % of total
shareholders interests shares issued shares
aa/ HERITRAG
BRRR 8 AR ROHE BEASL
Substantial Shareholders FERX
South China (Jersey) South China (Jersey)

Holdings Ltd. Holdings Ltd. — 101,125,000 101,125,000 12.73%
TAL Apparel Limited HEREKRARAA 101,125,000 — 101,125,000 12.73%
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, FIyEHE L - SBS, )P

Harry, S.B.S., J.P. — 95,673,000 95,673,000 12.04%
Eastex (HK) Limited Eastex (HK) Limited 95,673,000 — 95,673,000 12.04%

The register of interest in shares and short positions kept under Section
336 of the SFO indicates that the interest disclosed by South China
(Jersey) Holdings Ltd. is the same as the 101,125,000 shares disclosed by
TAL Apparel Limited, its 100% owned subsidiary; and the interest
disclosed by Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S. J.P. is the same as the
95,673,000 shares disclosed by Eastex (HK) Limited, his 100% wholly
owned company.

Apart from the above, the Company had not been notified by any
person who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2019, which was recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

=~ LFEF R

BEES REE G EBEETOHRDEZ X
KB EFEMATR - South China (Jersey) Holdings
Ltd T B R M R X AR AR (K2 EW
B “ﬂ)ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁgﬂ’ﬂm 125,0008% % 17 /& [/ — #L i%
n o RETIEE T sBS, JPATHK B A M a6
Eastex (HK) Limited (HE2E#H AN R R) IHEED
95,673,000/% A% 17 /&8 /] — #L A £ -

BEXAS R E-AFTZA=+—H"
BEEMATHAGEERRA  XRREEBAQFR
D RAEERD N ERIORE - L ERHENRIEE
H R E GO E336GMRERTHFNELM
7 o
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EFEgWEE @

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at the date of
this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

There are no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions pursuant to the Listing Rules during the year of 2019.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

The Company did not have any bank loans and borrowings as at 31
December 2019.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 198 to 199 of the
Annual Report.

Retirement Scheme

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees. Particulars of this retirement
scheme are set out in Note 23 to the “Notes to the Financial

Statements”.

Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the Independent Non-executive
Directors to be independent.

EHNARERE
REFATAMRAHAH ARRALTES
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Auditors

The Company’s auditor, KPMG, will retire at the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed
at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S., J.P.
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2020

Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Other Information

Hitt & ¥

Purchase, Sales or Redemption of the
Company'’s Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities.

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 5 May 2020 to
Friday, 8 May 2020, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered to determine the shareholders’ entitlement to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting (“AGM") to be held on
Friday, 8 May 2020. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the AGM,
all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong for registration, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 4 May
2020.

The register of members will also be closed from Thursday, 14 May
2020 to Monday, 18 May 2020, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the final
dividend, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong for registration, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 13
May 2020.
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Report of the Auditors
R EREE

hepnac

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tradelink
Electronic Commerce Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 102 to 197, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
%A R EE #)

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

B ETEH

MR EFEASRBRMANERHE  RAHA
PR BHREANEARAEENFTH - FUE
BERERMBIBERGAVBEBRERRHAERR
ETREEN RMATEHELERREHEZFNE
H o

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of
front-end Government Electronic Trading Services

RHUAMBBENETFESRBHRSERER

Refer to notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 115 to
117.

R LU BERXNEIRAARREIISEZE17H A
BATIHEK °

The Key Audit Matter
BREtEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ESNAEBEZXEE

Revenue of the Group is derived from the provision of
front-end Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS")
for processing certain official trade-related documents and
from project and other service income. Revenue from GETS
constitutes a major portion of the E-Commerce segment,
which accounted for 73% of the Group’s revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Revenue is recognised when the customer obtains control of
the promised service in the contract.

The Group uses complex information technology (“IT")
systems to track the point of service provision for GETS. The
calculation of the GETS charge is automatically performed
by the IT systems based on pre-defined key parameters,
including unit price and transaction volume.

EEENKERERERES TRAE T EZHEEXHH
R BTEF 8 2R ([ GETS 1) R2k 518 B A E it iR 7% W
A GETSHBMABRETFHEDBNEIESLD MEFH
BoaMEEEEBE T -NAFT A=t -HILFEK
#=H73% °

Yo sk T 5 P I ERA 40 175 7E O BR 75 12 thIl BE 1R FERR
EREEREMNEMM R (BB R 5K R BGETS

R E RGN - GETSERAMATEREAMRRESRER
BERENARSB(BRENBEEREARSB) BT -

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue in
respect of GETS included the following:

e with the assistance of our internal IT specialists, identifying
and evaluating the key relevant IT systems and the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key
internal controls, with particular emphasis on the
capturing and recording of GETS transactions.

e with the assistance of our internal IT specialists, assessing
the calculation logic of the pre-defined formulae built into
the IT systems and the related parameters (including unit
price and transaction volume) used in the calculation of
GETS charges;

e comparing the details of the monthly manual journal
entries relating to the input into the accounting system of
aggregate GETS revenue with the reports generated by
the IT systems, on a sample basis;

BHPARFHGETSINE AN BT IRF B

o ERMAMEAMKERNBE T - 25 RFEBEN
HREAMBRRGARBERO A ZS R Bk &
T3 - MR RI58 FEGETS R 5 B 7l 3 e ic 8%

o ERMAMEAMKERNBI T  FAHEERABKERL
TREMNEAEATEANEGTESR ARG EGETSE AR
ERNERS2B(EREVERRRSE):

BEAGTERERHGETSR NS E A A TR 8FH1E
HEAMBRRARELEN RS ETHERLER
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of
front-end Government Electronic Trading Services
(Continued)

Report of the Auditors (Continued)
ZHEN R EE (#)

FEETEE R

RUEAMGBTETE S RE RS (E)

Refer to notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 115 to
117.

ERE R EIREN FIRAARREIISEZEE117H 4
BEBE ©

The Key Audit Matter
BERETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRANETNMWEEZEE

A record of GETS transactions is generated by the IT
systems from which the GETS charges, in an aggregate
amount, are manually input into the accounting system on
a monthly basis.

We identified revenue recognition in respect of GETS as a
key audit matter because of its significance to the Group's
total revenue and because the reliance on complex IT
systems with the subsequent manual input into the
accounting system increases the risk of error in recording
revenue.

GETSHRZX Bk EMBBREREL  GETSBAMNES
BHIRABUAFHASHESR -

HAIEGETSH IR ER B REREFEE BREMGEE
SEBAKRENESZES  LERNEBEMNEANEZR
BARRETHEAGI RAILINT TN ERER -

e comparing the unit price for each GETS charge as recorded
in the IT systems with details in contracts signed with
customers, on a sample basis, and to test the operating
effectiveness of internal controls in respect of the
authorization of and input of the unit price changes;

e comparing cash receipts from customers during the year
and subsequent to the financial year end with invoices
issued to customers during the year, on a sample basis;
and

e inspecting underlying documentation for other manual
journal entries relating to revenue which were considered
to be material or met other specific risk-based criteria.

e MEBEBAMKASGML BN GRAGETSE MM ENE
REZFEITNSOFBETLE TARAREMLER
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e MERFARMBFERRUBREEFLPNRSEFEAR
BEPBEEMBERETLER R

e MELRWRBMERSNEMERNLN S EMEFERR
R E b A TR 8k AB R X1 -

TE-NEFFR EZBEEFEZERAA 95




Report of the Auditors (Continued)
%A R EE #)

Key audit matters (Continued)

Loss allowance of debt securities measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income

B ETEE (&)

ZREMETHBEEAABEABENERESSBRARA

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 122 to 123.

BRI A REN ISR IR FEI22H £ FI123H ) 25t
B o

The Key Audit Matter
BRERETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ENMEEZEE

The Group invests in corporate bonds to earn interest
income as part of the Group’s cash management strategy,
which is governed by the investment guidelines approved by
the investment committee of the Group. As at 31
December 2019, the Group held a portfolio of debt
securities measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) with a fair value of
HK$318 million.

The Group measures loss allowance of debt securities using
the expected credit loss (“ECL") model, which requires an
ongoing measurement of credit risk associated with a
financial asset. It is subject to a number of key parameters
and assumptions, including the estimates of probability of
default, loss given default and discount rate, adjustments
for forward-looking information and other adjustment
factors. Management judgment is involved in the selection
of those parameters and the application of the
assumptions.

EEEREACEBEFUBRDABKA EA ESERS
EREEN D ZKXBY BEEEREAZESHED
WEESIFRE - R-_E—AE+-_A=+—8  E4£H
BEEBREMEEARREARBEZ ([FVOC)WAESE
BES KRR EEAB318,000,0007T °

EEEZEREHEEER(ECLN)ERFEEHESFNE
BRE AEEAERSENERMBEERBNERR
B HPEPSETIZ2URRER BHEELORET - EH
BELEREE FIEMEEHNNBAEREMARRR - H2
ZEZHRERERY RELEHE -
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Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for debt
securities measured at FVOCI included the following:

e obtaining an understanding on the key parameters and
assumptions of the ECL model adopted by management,
including the basis of the segmentation of the debt
securities based on credit risk characteristics, the historical
default data, and the assumptions
management’s estimated loss rate;

involved in

e evaluating the appropriateness of the key parameters and
assumptions adopted in the calculation of loss allowances
by comparing against historical default data and seeking
collaborative evidence from external sources;

BMARFEEBEME2ERARAABEABNERE
FERBENENEF R
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Loss allowance of debt securities measured at fair
value through other
(Continued)

comprehensive income

Report of the Auditors (Continued)
ZHEN R EE (#)

FEETEE R

EBHMEENSERAABEABENERRSERER
(%)

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 122 to 123.

ARG AU BERENFISRREI22E Z FE123H #1251
BE -

The Key Audit Matter
BERETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRANETNMWEEZEE

We identified the loss allowance of debt securities
measured at FVOCI as a key audit matter because of the
significance of these financial assets to the Group’s total
assets and because the recognition of ECLs is inherently
subjective and requires the exercise of significant
management judgement.

BB EBEME2ERAER AL BEAENELE
BERBERABRENFH AR%SHBEEY EKHE
REENEEMNAREEERNERFERANTHM
MFREREOEKRHE -

e evaluating the validity of management’s assessment on
whether the credit risk of the debt securities has, or has
not, increased significantly since initial recognition and

whether the debt securities is credit-impaired by selecting

samples based on specific risk criteria; and

e assessing whether the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements on loss allowance of debt securities is
appropriate with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
%A R EE #)

Information other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon

The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report

The directors are responsible for the other information.

other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the

our responsibility is to read the other information and,

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibilities
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

3 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
%A R EE #)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public
communication.

interest benefits of such

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Sylvene Fong.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

24 March 2020

—E-NEFER

Report of the Auditors (Continued)
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BRBERBFA RS W B RRA
N EE(FE)

NHEEZZEREBNFED  RABEWLE
BHANEEMBRRNEARSER  AME
PREARERT FIR - A AR RS PR ELE
FH BRIFARARAIAFCHABBEESLFA
FRBHFERNBERT MRS ERMER MR
SHEBRERENNAERRBBELN AR
M BRPRESEERET BBZER -

HERBIZBMBENETREABRART R

o

i

EEREEAERR
BEEA
BB P IR

AT TR
RKFRENE

—E-_TF=A=-+MAH

EZBETESARLAT 101




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEBHER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZ =T —NF+_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ZE-N\F

(Note)

(K1 7E)

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

Bt &t BET T BT T

Revenue W 3 337,175 271,930

Interest income FEWA 14,985 15,152

Other net income Hh Uz 5 58 5 1,611 405

Cost of purchases REE AR (87,916) (29,283)

Staff costs & 8 A 6(a) (119,143) (114,142)

Depreciation e (8,022) (6,893)

Other operating expenses Hih g (37.471) (32,403)

Profit from operations BERF 101,219 104,766

Impairment loss on other financial assets £ fth 81 % & & Jl E 5 18 26(a) (1,303) (156)

Impairment loss on interest in RS QAR RE

an associate E 18 16 (4,500) —

Share of results of associates FIR [ R NCIE 798 1,540

Profit before taxation RR B A& 6 96,214 106,150

Taxation 18 7(a) (14,013) (16,382)

Profit for the year 7 B a A 82,201 89,768
Earnings per share (HK cents) SREF GEA) 13

Basic BN 10.3 11.3

Diluted B 10.3 11.3

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 using the — Hfit - ZEBER =T — L F—H— B EFLEIETEN
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative KB RIRA( BB B IREERDE 165 - RIZUL
information is not restated. See Note 1(c). Tk WHEBILEEM - BRI -

The notes on pages 109 to 197 form part of these financial statements. 51098 & 51978 A KT sE 8 ok B 75 R & 19 — 26

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company % ° AT E & Fl 5 B IR A2/ RER
attributable to the profit for the year are set out in Note 77. BARREFFIEERA LT
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GEEEREMEZEKE R

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE—_ZT—hE+=-A=+—BILEE

2019 2018
—ZE-AF —T—)\F
(Note)
(K1 52)
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
k=3 BT BT
Profit for the year 7 A 82,201 89,768
Other comprehensive income for the 75 B H fth 2 [ Wk 25
year (after tax and reclassification (BRBREHSE
adjustments): TEE)
ltems that may be reclassified HesgEgmoEs
subsequently to profit or loss: BHRIEE -
Exchange differences on translation of BRABRBBINEBD
financial statements of the MK FTISEN
operations outside Hong Kong =5 (477) (880)
Debt securities measured at fair value i R H fh 2 E W R
through other comprehensive ARnEEFE
income (“FVOCI”) — net movement ([FVOCI]) K &S
in fair value reserve BHE— AREER
wEE)FH 12 11,511 (15,648)
Total comprehensive income rEEEEKREEE
for the year 93,235 73,240

Note: Brat - XEBER-F—NF—H—HREHEEETEY
B RIRA(BBR R ER)E 1655 - RIFUE

Tk WEBIERER - AR Z1C) -

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative
information is not restated. See Note 1(c).

109 ZF197EMM BN B HREN — I

o

The notes on pages 109 to 197 form part of these financial statements.

D M

SE-NEFH NSBEFHSERAN 103/




Consolidated Statement of Financial

R B AR R &

As at 31 December 2019 R=—Z—hE+=-_A=+—H

Position

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
(Note)
(Ht &)
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
K&t ok BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment LESN N 14(a) 23,710 26,587
Goodwill EES 15(b) 9,976 9,976
Interest in associates P Bt 2 R B #E 2 16 13,977 18,078
Other financial assets HmB s & E 18 279,118 305,499
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 8(b) 1,230 3,719
328,011 363,859
Current assets RENEE
Trade receivables and contract assets EWEREEHNEE 19 63,587 44,117
Other receivables, prepayments and H A E YRR - T RE
other contract costs K E A& # A 20 18,749 15,918
Other financial assets H A B 75 8 B 18 38,524 42,233
Deposits with bank |ITIF 12,238 4,222
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEE 131,184 82,253
264,282 188,743
Current liabilities RENEE
Trade creditors, contract liabilities and ~ JEfTERF - A4 BE R
other payables H M S 3B 21 204,893 194,222
Taxation 18 8(a) 11,859 3,241
216,752 197,463
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (&) FE 47,530 (8,720)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERABEE 375,541 355,139
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Provision for long service payments REIRTS € BE 22 3,120 3,179
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBEAE 8(b) 1,030 1,203
Other payables Hfh pE S FE 21 464 —
4,614 4,382
NET ASSETS EEFRE 370,927 350,757
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e MBI K #)

As at 31 December 2019 R=_Z—h&+_A=+—H

2019 2018
—ZE-AF —T—)\F
(Note)
(Bt &t)
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
o3 BT BT T

Capital and Reserves EXRFEE
Share capital % A5 25(b)(i) 296,093 296,093
Reserves G 74,834 54,664
TOTAL EQUITY BREE 370,927 350,757

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 using the

modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative
information is not restated. See Note 1(c).

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24
March 2020.

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SBS., J.P.
Chairman

TSE Kam Keung
Executive Director

The notes on pages 109 to 197 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

B &

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZ =T —NF+_A=+—HIFE

Retained
Share Capital  Exchange Fair value Other profits Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve (Note) equity
AR REER
BEA BEXAFEE ERRE EEHRE HtHE (Fit) RBEAR
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wiz BT B¥Tr BETx BYTT B¥Tr BB®Tx  B¥%Trn
As at 1 January 2018 R-Z-N\§-5-H 296,039 5,028 1,795 (1,506) — 53,042 354,398
Changes in equity for 2018 ZE-N\FHREAEZRD
Dividends approved in respect of ~ FFERHERE
the previous year 11 — — — — — (50,062) (50,062)
Issue of new shares BITHRG 25(b)(i) 54 (5) — — — — 49
Equity-settled share-based VARG 2 B3 A RR 17 /%
transactions AR5 — 944 — — — — 944
Lapse of share options BRELRY — (16) - — — 16 _
Profit for the year AR A - - - - - 89,768 89,768
Other comprehensive income for ~ REEE 2K
the year — — (880) (15,648) — — (16,528)
Total comprehensive income for AEEZEUGZEE
the year — — (880) (15,648) — 89,768 73,240
Transfer to other reserve ERHEMEE — — — — 12 (12) —
Dividends declared in respect of the AFEEERZREMR S
current year 11 — — — — — (27,812) (27,812)
As at 31 December 2018 R-Z-NE£+=A=t+-H 296,093 5,951 915 (17,154) 12 64,940 350,757
Changes in equity for 2019 ZE-NFHREAERED
Dividends approved in respect of ~ FEEDHER B
the previous year 11 — — — — — (47,678) (47,678)
Equity-settled share-based PARRIE B B AR5 %
transactions ERHOR S — 836 — — — — 836
Lapse of share options B R — (37) — — — 37 —
Profit for the year KEE & A — — — — — 82,201 82,201
Other comprehensive income for  AF & H i 2 @
the year — — (477) 11,511 — — 11,034
Total comprehensive income for ~ AFE2ENE LB
the year — — (477) 11,511 — 82,201 93,235
Dividends declared in respect of the AFEERZFREMNR S
current year 11 — — — — — (26,223) (26,223)
As at 31 December 2019 R=FB-AF+=A=+-H 296,093 6,750 438 (5,643) 12 73,277 370,927

Wit - AEBER-F—NF—H—HARMBEEETEY
EEREAE BB HEERDFE 165 « IRIFM
Tk WHEBIILEEH - RAEIC) -

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 using the

modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative

information is not restated. See Note 1(c).

FI09BE EZF197E MM WM B RER D — 2

57 ©

The notes on pages 109 to 197 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

GERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z T —NF+_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
ZE-hE —E-N\F
(Note)
(K7 5t)
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 BT T BT T
Operating activities ReExE
Profit before taxation R 5% A A 96,214 106,150
Adjustments for: FHE
Depreciation e 6(b) 8,022 6,893
Net loss on disposals of property, plant H&E W « BB L& #H
and equipment [E5 18 55 6(b) 6 10
Interest income on debt securities FREMEZEBEZA R
measured at FVOC| BEITENEEESFD
M EMA (12,364) (13,841)
Interest income on deposits with banks 81777 Z HI 7 B UK A (2,621) (1,311)
Share of results of associates FriG Bt & N R EE (798) (1,540)
Equity-settled share-based payment LAREZEE W AR D B
e 2 6(a) 836 944
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) &5 BB () FiE 6(b) 2,071 (1,023)
Net gain on disposal of debt securities & % i 5 ftb 2 m W =5
measured at FVOC| BRARBETEN
ET5 5 7 1) W a8 5 58 5 (218) —
Gain on disposal of an associate & — S R E W 5 — (405)
Impairment loss on interest in A — B R AR
an associate BB B 16 4,500 —
Impairment loss on trade receivables EWEREEHEERE
and contract assets B 18 6(b) 1,751 791
Impairment loss on other financial Hi W% EaERAERE
assets 26(a) 1,303 156
Operating profit before changes in R &EEELBHATH
working capital REBA 98,702 96,824
Increase in trade receivables, contract  JEUWBRF - AN EE -
assets, other receivables, H b FEWERIE - TR
prepayments and other contract 18 & E A& #IR A8 0
costs (24,328) (10,890)
Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors, ERER aH8ER
contract liabilities and other Hh FE A R EG 0
payables CRi) 16,501 (855)
Decrease in customer deposits received B WEFIZEH D (6,339) (5,921)
Cash generated from operations REEENES 84,536 79,158
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EREBNEN (3,043) (13,003)
Tax outside Hong Kong paid B EARINGIE (36) —
Net cash generated from operating RETEBELENRESFHR
activities 81,457 66,155
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

HEBRERERE)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZ=_—%

—NE+ZA=+—HLFE

2019 2018
—ZE—-hEF —ZT-N\F
(Note)
(K7 :t)
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 BYT T BT T
Investing activities REFS
Proceeds from disposal of debt B B e E fih 2 T WA
securities measured at FVOC| i NRBEASNER
i % P15 BRIA 66,214 3,981
Payment for purchase of debt Eﬁ?\iﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁ”&é
securities measured at FVOC| EBEAnBEFENED
EH XA FRR (27,885) —
Payment for purchase of property, BAME  HERZE
plant and equipment FTZ 5/ 18 (3,593) (6,512)
Interest received 2 A S 15,804 16,222
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & Bt & Tﬁﬁ/%#\lg — 405
Placement of deposits with bank T?)\fﬁﬁf (8,521) (33)
Net cash generated from investing BRETBHFELERSTFH
activities 42,019 14,063
Financing activities MEER
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEHRENERTE (606) —
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSHNFE 71% (38) —
Proceeds from shares issued under RAR B AR RE AT 81 B 1T AR 19
share option schemes FT 15 ®E — 49
Dividends paid to equity shareholders B fZARQ TBRAER B A
of the Company s\ (73,901) (77,874)
Net cash used in financing METEHMANESEH
activities (74,545) (77,825)
Net increase in cash and cash ReRBRLEEEMFHE
equivalents 48,931 2,393
Cash and cash equivalents as at R—BA—HWERERERES
1 January 8 82,253 79,860
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 R+=-A=+—HHES
December RESZEE 131,184 82,253
Analysis of cash and cash ReRESEESN
equivalents
Deposits with banks and other AT R E A& R ETE X
financial institutions 114,958 68,092
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERS 16,226 14,161
131,184 82,253

Hiat : XEBER -F—NF—H—HRBEETEY
KB REAE B B EERDE 1657 < IRIFM
Tk WHEBIILEEH - BHEIC) -

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative
information is not restated. See Note 1(c).

FI109E EF17E MW F WK R KM —FB

e

The notes on pages 109 to 197 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R R M R

1 Significant accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK").
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Company and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) are discussed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 7(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 comprise the Group and the Group’s interest in
associates and a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis, except for debt securities
measured at their fair value (Note 1(i)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

1 FESEFBEE

(a)

(b)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% 3k & MY 5% (&)

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

110

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(c)

(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods. Major sources of estimation uncertainty are disclosed in
Note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16, Leases, and a
number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for
the current accounting period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments have
had a material effect on how the Group's results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases —
incentives, and HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the substance of
transactions involving the legal form of a lease. It introduces a
single accounting model for lessees, which requires a lessee to
recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases,
except for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
("short-term leases”) and leases of low value assets. The lessor
accounting requirements are brought forward from HKAS 17
substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the
financial statements to assess the effect that leases have on the
financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an
entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 January
2019. The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective
approach and there was no impact to the opening balance of
equity at 1 January 2019 upon the initial application of HKFRS
16. Comparative information has not been restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 17.

1
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

1 =

81 75 3k & MY 5 ()

ZEE3 B (8)

() EFBEREH (&)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition options applied

are set out below:

(BB B8RS EA)H165 - HE (B)
EHBESHBASPORENTER
FER R 0B R S i — SR B
mF -

New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to
the concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the
basis of whether a customer controls the use of an
identified asset for a period of time, which may be
determined by a defined amount of use. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct
the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in HKFRS
16 only to contracts that were entered into or changed on
or after 1 January 2019. For contracts entered into before
1 January 2019, the Group has used the transitional
practical expedient to grandfather the previous assessment
of which existing arrangements are or contain leases.
Accordingly, contracts that were previously assessed as
leases under HKAS 17 continue to be accounted for as
leases under HKFRS 16 and contracts previously assessed as
non-lease service arrangements continue to be accounted
for as executory contracts.

T-NEFFR

T B 193 E £
HEEZE ST 2 EZEGI M
SER - KBEEVBBEERDE 16
RIRBEP 2D ER —BRAE
EHBNEENER (KA A EER
REEE) MBEEFEHEE - BT
FERETABNEENREIAR
Wz REPEEEAD EBENR
B BIRINE A EE b4 o

AEEEB(EEVBBREEDF
16REENMERRAR_Z—N
F-A-HARZRITIREERNA
B-HN—_ZE—-—NF—-—H—BRIF
YHAaHmE AEECRABR
ERRENEZRARBLZFBHE
SHEMERFE - Bt £ATR
BC(EESFEADSE1TRFERE
ENANBEBEER(EREMBEE
EHDF165 R THEARR - MsLA
AEREHERBZ N A OESE
ABRRBBITAKN -

EZBETESARLAT 111




Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% 3k & MY 5% (&)

1

12

Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)
b. Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance leases,
as was previously required by HKAS 17. Instead, the Group
is required to capitalise all leases when it is the lessee,
including leases previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17, other than those short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. As far as the Group is
concerned, these newly capitalised leases are primarily in
relation to property, plant and equipment as disclosed in
Note 14. For an explanation of how the Group applies

lessee accounting, see Note 1(j).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 January
2019), the Group determined the length of the remaining
lease terms and measured the lease liabilities for the leases
previously classified as operating leases at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the relevant incremental borrowing rates as at 1 January
2019. The weighted average of the incremental borrowing
rates used for determination of the present value of the
remaining lease payments was 3.56%.

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied the
following recognition exemption and practical expedients at
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16:

(i) the Group elected not to apply the requirements of
HKFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets to leases for which
the remaining lease term ends within 12 months from
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, i.e. where
the lease term ends on or before 31 December 2019;
and

(i) when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the Group applied a single
discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics (such as leases with a similar
remaining lease term for a similar class of underlying
asset in a similar economic environment).

1
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1 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

b. Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued) b.

The following table
commitments as disclosed

recognised as at 1 January 2019:

reconciles the operating
in Note 27(b) as at 31
December 2018 to the opening balance for lease liabilities

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 TESHHER)

() EFBEREH (&)

(BB BHREER)E 165 - HE (F)
BN EEt BIE T Z R ZE (F)
TREINHZ27O)BRBER =T
—NFETZA=T-HANKREHE
AFEERN T -NF-—A—BER
MEERENFINERNER

lease

1 January 2019

“E-NF
—HA—H
HK$'000
AT
Operating lease commitments at RZE-—NFF+Z_A=+—HHE
31 December 2018 EHEE AR 1,015
Less: commitments relating to leases exempt B BABEERNEEERARE -
from capitalisation:
— short-term leases and other leases — EHEE RFHREBAR
with remaining lease term ending —T-NF+=A
on or before 31 December 2019 =T —HEZAERD
HtpHEE (178)
837
Less: total future interest expenses AR RF B AR (23)
Present value of remaining lease payments, FABENROREERR=2F
discounted using the incremental borrowing —NF— A — B ARG &R =8
rate at 1 January 2019 and total lease RIERZZE-—NF—-—A—B®ER
liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019 MEEaEBEE 814
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

b.
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Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued) b. FEHA B EE G ERBIEZE(E)
The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously HBERDERAKEHENHENA
classified as operating leases have been recognised at an MERAEEEDCRR  AeBAS
amount equal to the amount recognised for the remaining RHETHEEBENEERESE I
lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or RZZE-NF+_A=+—HBER
accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in HMBRARANERNEZE GRS
the statement of financial position at 31 December 2018. RERENKEFHEN RS REE
fTHAE-
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no leases RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—H =K
previously classified as finance leases. SEVELENSBAMEEENE
= .
The following table summarises the impact of the adoption TRBAMNKNEEGZE M BMRREK
of HKFRS 16 on the Group's consolidated statement of (BB B REERDE 165 M
financial position: -2
Carrying  Capitalisation Carrying
amount as at of operating amount as at
31 December lease 1 January
2018 contracts 2019
R-ZZE—N\F
+=A R=ZT—NF
Eg=1 KgeErE —A—B/
MEREE &HEXE BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT T
Line items in the consolidated SRM(FEBHMBRE
statement of financial position 2 HI)5$163E &/
impacted by the adoption of FEMBRRERER
HKFRS 16:
Property, plant and equipment M BWE REE 26,587 814 27,401
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 363,859 814 364,673
Trade creditors, contract liabilities FEEEFR - AHWEEBE R
and other payables (current) Efb EAFIECRS) 194,222 494 194,716
Total current liabilities REBEEHLAE 197,463 494 197,957
Net current liabilities REBEETE (8,720) (494) (9,214)
Total assets less current EERAERRBAE
liabilities 355,139 320 355,459
Other payables (non-current) H fth FE A 3038 (FEm Eh) — 320 320
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBELEE 4,382 320 4,702
Net assets BEEFE 350,757 — 350,757
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

G

Impact on the financial result, segment results and cash
flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee is
required to recognise interest expense accrued on the
outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. This does not result in significant impacts on
the reported profit from operations in the Group’s
consolidated statement of profit or loss and segment
results, as compared to the results if HKAS 17 had been
applied during the year.

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a lessee is
required to split rentals paid under capitalised leases into
their capital element and interest element. These elements
are classified as financing cash outflows, similar to how
leases previously classified as finance leases under HKAS 17
were treated, rather than as operating cash outflows, as
was the case for operating leases under HKAS 17.
Although total cash flows are unaffected, the adoption of
HKFRS 16 therefore results in a change in presentation of
cash flows within the consolidated cash flow statement.

(d) Revenue and other income
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises

from the sale of goods or the provision of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is

transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

T-NEFFR
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1 Significant accounting policies
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(Continued)

(d) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for
more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS
15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing is 12
months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Transaction fees, handling fees and registration fees
Revenue is recognised when the control over the services
have been transferred to customers.

(ii) Annual subscription fees
Revenue is recognised on a time-apportioned basis by
reference to the period of the subscription.

(iii) Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the
control of the goods have been transferred to customers
and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

(iv) Dividends
Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder's right to receive payment is
established.

1
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(d) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
FVOCI that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see Note

1(k)(1)).

(vi) Services income

Services income is recognised when the control of the
relevant services have been transferred to customers and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

When the outcome of a contract can be reasonably
measured, recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-cost method, i.e.
based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs.

revenue from the contract is

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in Note

1(0).

remaining amount of the

(e) Property, plant and equipment
The following items of property, plant and equipment are
stated in the statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation (or amortisation) and impairment
losses (Note 1(k)):

buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold
land, where the fair value of the building could be
measured separately from the fair value of the leasehold
land at the inception of the lease (see Note 1(})),

interest in leasehold land; and
other items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use

assets arising from leases of underlying plant and
equipment (see Note 1(})).

1
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

118

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(f)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:
Leasehold improvements lower of 5 years or
the remaining term of

the lease

Platform hardware and software, 3-5 years
computer and office equipment

Motor vehicles 3 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Building 20 years

Leasehold land unexpired term of the

lease

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group

balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to extent that there
is no evidence of impairment.

preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEFSFTBEGE)

(Continued)

(f) B2 R R IFERES (B

(f) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result in
the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with Note 7(n) depending on
the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset (see Note 1(i) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture
(see Note 1(g)).
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(f)

(9)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any impairment losses (see
Note 1(k)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties, contractually agree to share control
of the arrangement and have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost,
adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment into
the associate or joint venture that forms part of the group's
equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group's share of the investee’s
net assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment
(see Notes 1(h) and (k)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the
investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate or the joint venture, the Group's interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with any other
long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or the joint venture.

1
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)
Unrealised profits and
between the Group and its associates and joint venture are

losses resulting from transactions

eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted

joint venture or vice versa, the retained
for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note 1(i)).

In the Company's statement of financial position, its
investments in associates and joint venture are stated at cost
less impairment losses (see Note 7(k)), unless classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as

held for sale).

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the Group's previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and

liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (i) is greater than (i),
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

then this excess is recognised

1
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)
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(h) Goodwill (Continued)

(i)

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each
cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and
is tested annually for impairment (see Note 1(k)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell
the investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL") for which transaction costs are recognised directly in
profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, see Note 26(e). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments
Debt securities held by the Group are classified into one of
the following measurement categories:

e amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method (see Note 7(d)(v)).

e fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCl”), if the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit
or loss.

1
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(i) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

Investments other than equity investments

(Continued)

e fair value at profit or loss (“FVPL") if the investment
does not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI. Changes in the fair value of
the investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVOCI such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections
are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’'s perspective. Where such an
is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
until  the investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve

election

is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other
income in accordance with the policy set out in Note

1@)iv).
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Significant accounting policies 1

(Continued)

(j) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both
the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee
(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets
which, for the Group are primarily office equipment.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2019

25 BUR (&)

() HEEE

RERRIGE  REBFHA X
REBEEHE - MEOETEMNR K
R ESERD#RNEENRRNKE
AlZeBERNRBEEHE -HWEFPAR
EANERERAEHNEE LB ZER
BSBAREENER - BIERE T =
il -

(i) EREBEA
A) B=F—NF—F—HEEH

7Y B
?2;/:'\?’] ZHERSMIFEE
CAREEEERETESIEE

EXPEBEHEERD RAEM
BRSEHE R D )\%%E?%ﬁﬁﬁ
HEMNE-—HEHD

REERBAE NEEER
EREEENEEARE R
HR2ER AT EREE
RMEEEENHEERN  StA
SEMEIERMAERME -
MASEREEEER LA

P AR BURTE 2T R (E 5
ﬂ S EEGEEE AR - B

ERENMCEERBNEE R
mmﬁ%&§mgﬁﬁwﬁﬁ
% o

EHEEERML HEAEY
#4578 H AR B SRR (B
R WmBER AR SR X
%ﬁ CALE AR SN

+ BI DA AR B R 3 8 SR M K AL
ﬁ RUOFHREL HEAE
E%%W$ﬁi'ﬁﬂgﬁi
AR EBRMERGFH - W 3E
W%%h%&%YWT“ﬂT
R eMmABRERBE
BHREEEANSTHMBEER
ek -
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESFHTBEGE)

(Continued)

(j) Leased assets (Continued) () HEEEGE)
(i) As a lessee (Continued) (i) EHREAAGE
(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (Continued) A) BE=F—NF—A—HELEA

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-

7B ()

IR E AN TH B R e AR A 2 A A
BENHERAGE HF B
BHEBENTKREE ML
R F2E B HI S 2 BT 7 H B0
T8 & S A B A ] P E A2 O T
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use assets also includes an estimate of costs to & E WK I8 B A I R B R
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to HEEENERBBEELENZ
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is & B FTAE T ifn A A {51 AKX

located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 1(e)
and 7(k)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the
Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of whether the
group will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property,
plant and equipment’ and presents lease liabilities in
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B 7% R Y A ()
1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEFGHBEE)
(Continued)

(j) Leased assets (Continued) () HEEZEE (E)
(i) As a lessee (Continued) (i) EREHEAGE
(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019 B) R=ZF—NF—HA—HIEH
H B

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group
classified leases as finance leases if the leases
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group. Leases which did not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group were classified as operating leases.

Where the Group had the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
were charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis was more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent
rentals were charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they were incurred.
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(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) GEEBBEREERE
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract () B2RIAREGHEENGEERFE
assets
AEERTIEERRBEHEERS
B(TECLD BERE

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs"”) on the following items:

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables);

contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see Note (1)),
and

debt securities measured at FVOCI.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

81 75 3k & MY 5 ()

1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEFSFTBEGE)
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) (k) GESBEREERE (&)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract () ESRIAREGHEENEEEBR

assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate financial assets,
trade and other receivables and contract assets are
discounted using effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof where the effect
of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets
are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.
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(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

()

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this the Group
considers that a default event occurs when the financial
asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

reassessment,

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

— existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’'s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group; and

— significant changes in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument or
similar financial instruments with the same expected
life.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 TESEBEE)

(Continued)

k) FEEEREERE (H)
HERMIARGHNEENRFERR

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract (i)

assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is

(#&)

1= B Jm B K #5450 (AE)
EERRAE T BRE LA ERE
REREEN ERELET BT

performed on either an individual basis or a collective SRITEAMNMEENE - ErrlmAE
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective BELEETR @RI ARARE

basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt securities that are measured at
FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value
reserve.

e — LEF R

EZBETESARLAT

SERFBGINnBARIREER
[\ f B AR ) 87 4R o

HHEEBERNERE A HER
B -URBMERTAGERRE N
FHERBARNED - AHEEER
SHENEMEPINBABR R
BEEB AEE®RAMELHMIA
B BB 2 B - 035 1B S 18 1 4 AR AR
ERABREEREE HEEBEME2E
WHEAREBEAZENEBESR
AR HEBEBEREMEEK
BER URAABEREBRG -

129




Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% 3k & MY 5% (&)

1 Significant accounting policies
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(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

()

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 1(d)(v)
is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract
asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

1
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

1 £

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the
case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets;

— goodwill; and

— investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures in the Company's statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’'s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

— Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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132

(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

— Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

— Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect
of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year (see Notes 1(k)(i)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the
interim period relates.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

()

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see Note 1(d)) before being unconditionally entitled to
the consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected credit losses
("ECL") in accordance with the policy set out in Note 7(k) and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see Note 7(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see Note 1(d)). A contract liability would also be recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see Note

1(m)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method (see Note 7(d)).

(m) Trade and other receivables

(n)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due. If
revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is

presented as a contract asset (see Note 1(1)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see Note 1(k)

().

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost.
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134

(o)

(p)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEFSFTBEGE)

(Continued)

(p) FREH ()

(p) Income tax (Continued)

All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from the
reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.
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Significant accounting policies 1
(Continued)

(p) Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each other
and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current
tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax
liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

(q) Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution retirement plans

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits that
are due to be settled within twelve months after the end
of the period in which the employees render the related
service. Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and
the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year
in which the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(q) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Share based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Where the employees have to
meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to those share options, the total estimated fair
value of the share options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options
will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior
years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year
of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of share options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve) except
where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company's shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
capital reserve until either the option is exercised (when it
is included in the amount recognised in share capital for
the shares issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).

Provision for long service payments

Provision is made for potential long service payment
obligations that may arise upon cessation of employment
of the Group’s employees in the future, to the extent that
there is a reasonable probability that the amounts are likely
to become payable. Such provisions are made on a
systematic basis, taking into consideration the salary and
years of service of the employees who may qualify for such
payments in the future based on their past services
rendered.
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(Continued)

(r) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the company initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items, including goodwill arising
on consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or after 1
January 2005, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss
on disposal is recognised.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(s) Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements,

parties are

considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

@)

(i)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in Note 1(s)a).

A person identified in Note T1(s)a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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(t)

(u)

(v)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy
set out in Note T1(k).

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment (see Note 7I(e)) or
intangible assets.

incremental costs of

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained
e.g.
obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs
of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

an incremental sales commission. Incremental costs of

1
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1 Significant accounting policies 1
(Continued)

(v) & AR (F)

(v) Other contract costs (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that will be
used to provide goods or services in the future; and are
expected to be recovered. Costs that relate directly to an
existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract may include direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only because the Group
entered into the contract (for example, payments to sub-
contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the
contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for
the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any
costs that relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or
loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is recognised.
The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in
Note 1(d).

BORARKRAEZERBEANLFE
BMAMIRAENEREERL  EER
BMERBRREBIEREE R IR
% WHHKRE - BIRA S LR E R
ARG N EZRENKALEEE
BT EEDH KESE- TP H
BENOKNARERAREET LA L
(anAB RN ) MELMKAR - KR
mEE - -ME BEEARERETLEE
BRI BRIK AR E LR R -

BB HRARRK AR R 5t # 85 KR
EEEBIE -REBBERS ﬁ&$§§
MEREEBHATIEE FERER
$%Iﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬁi%%ﬁ%ﬂ§&
R R B RREE - R E & R MHZ
EERARBEBLHRERBRAIH
ERAKA o

BERCAHRANEENEERBOHR
HEERERBEDFE - ARG
n/u VE E+E5Z ﬁﬁ/\\\/z/jgf7(d) °

(w) Government grants (w) E&ﬁ?ﬁﬁ))%
Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial EAERRAEERNMEAREE KB
position initially when there is reasonable assurance that they EATH ’““E’Mlﬂt‘t—ﬁ-r Al EM AR RE

will be received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for
the cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

—E-NEFER

NIRRT HE S - HELAEEE
EXRXHNHEPDERNELEGHEMXNR
—HIMZ AR CEERBE AER B
AN REERAFBEAEBENFHEE A
BERBAENR  ERUTBRFTERX
MAAREERNERFHANEEEANE
B;ﬁriﬁgﬁ/m °
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Accounting estimates and judgements

Key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to the preparation
of these financial statements are as follows:

Revenue recognition

As explained in policy Note 1(d), revenue from provision of certain
services is recognised over time. Such revenue and profit recognition
on uncompleted projects is dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to date. Based
on the Group's recent experience and the nature of the services
undertaken by the Group, the Group has made estimates of the
point at which it considered the work was sufficiently advanced
such that the outcome of the contract can be reasonably measured.
Until this point is reached the related contract assets disclosed in
Note 19 do not include profit which the Group might eventually
realise from the work done to date. In addition, actual outcomes in
terms of total cost or revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting period, which would affect
the revenue and profit recognised in future years as an adjustment
to the amounts recorded to date.

Goodwill

Note 15(b) discloses management’s judgement in relation to the
identification of the Group’s E-commerce segment as the
appropriate cash generating unit for goodwill impairment
assessment. Further to that, management takes into consideration
the projected volume and activity level and cash flows of the
E-commerce businesses, discounted to present value at a risk-
adjusted discount rate. These projections are based on assumptions
that take into consideration management’'s knowledge of the
business environment and their judgement on future performance.
There is inherent uncertainty in the estimation process and the
underlying assumptions relating to the future, and accordingly
actual performance may differ significantly from the projection.

2
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2 Accounting estimates and judgements

(Continued)

Investments in associates

The Group reviews internal and external sources of information at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that the
Group’s interest in Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science &
Technology Service Company Limited (“Nanfang”), an associate of
the Group (Note 16), may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased. The
Group estimates the interest in Nanfang's recoverable amount when
any such indication exists. The recoverable amount of the interest in
Nanfang, or of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use. In assessing
whether there is any impairment in the carrying value of the
Group’s interest in Nanfang, management may take into
consideration the projected volume and activity level, future growth
rate, and cash flows of the underlying business of Nanfang,
discounted to present value at the risk-adjusted discount rate. These
projections are based on assumptions that take into consideration
management’s knowledge of Nanfang’s business environment and
their judgement on future performance and underlying risks. There
is inherent uncertainty in the estimation process and the underlying
assumptions relating to the future, and accordingly actual
performance may differ significantly from the projection.

Investments in debt securities

For investment in debt securities measured at FVOCI, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the debt securities
since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. As explained in
Note 1(k)(i), ECL is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the debt securities’ credit risk since initial recognition. In
measuring ECL, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or
effort. This includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The evaluation of credit risk of a debt security requires analysis of
the credit standing of a particular issuer and involves management
judgement. When assessing credit risk of debt securities, the Group
places emphasis on issuer specific factors, such as significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency on interest or principal
payments. A credit rating downgrade, worsened liquidity or decline
in fair value below the amortised cost is not by itself considered a
loss event, but rather incorporated in the credit risk analysis along
with other available information. Particular attention will be on
those individual debt securities for which there was a cumulative
fair value loss at each reporting date.
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Revenue

The principal activity of the Group is the provision of Government
Electronic Trading Services (“GETS"”) for processing certain official
trade-related documents. The principal activities of the subsidiaries
are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements.

Revenue represents the value of services provided and goods
All of the Group’s revenue is within the
scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers. The

supplied to customers.

amount of each significant category of revenue recognised during
the year is disclosed in Note 4.

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from customers are
set out in Note 26(a).

Segment reporting

The Board of Directors of the Group reviews the internal reporting
by segments to assess performance and allocate resources. The
Group has identified the following reportable segments:
E-Commerce: This segment generates income from processing
government trade-related documents and supply
chain solutions.

Identity Management: This segment generates income from the provision
of security products, digital certificates, security
solutions and biometric-based authentication
solutions for identity management.

Other Services: This segment comprises handling fees for the
conversion of paper form to electronic messages,
income from the provision of technical support
and other project services.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to fees and sales generated and the expenses
incurred by those segments. The measure used for reporting

segment results is profit before interest, taxation and depreciation.
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4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 7EH®E (&)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by timing REANEHMIIIZEFEHKE AR
of revenue recognition, as well as information regarding the RETFTESSUEERSER S BRBETHE
Group's reportable segments results as provided to the Board of MNEBASEHE_Z—NFR_Z—N\F
Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of T A=+ —HALEFEAE2RDBEENH
segment performance for the years ended 31 December 2019 and IR e

2018 are set out below.

31 December 2019
—E-hAE+=ZA=+—H
Identity Other

E-Commerce Management Services Total
ErHE SHEE H iR % st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥TT BT T BT B¥TT

Disaggregated by timing of Rz &R 2 5
revenue recognition

Point in time Bl 207,501 16,748 27,065 251,314
Over time & B 38,830 39,085 7,946 85,861
Revenue from external ESR g

customers 246,331 55,833 35,011 337,175
Inter-segment revenue 7 B Y = — 7,823 9,592 17,415
Reportable segment revenue T 2 3§ 5 B Uk 5 246,331 63,656 44,603 354,590

Elimination of inter-segment 85 53 B ) s =

revenue (17,415)
Consolidated revenue FReEWka 337,175
Reportable segment profit A £ 3} 5 B % F 69,241 10,630 14,845 94,716
Interest income B WA 14,985
Other net income H A W 25 ) F 58 1,611
Depreciation e (8,022)
Impairment loss on other Hmbi s & ERERRE

financial assets (1,303)
Impairment loss on interest in A — B & A B EZE Y

an associate BEERE (4,500)
Share of results of associates — PT{h B & A &) ¥ 48 798
Unallocated corporate expenses 7k % fic (b % 5 &2 (2,071)

Consolidated profit before %R & BR%i A1 % R
taxation 96,214
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4 Segment reporting (Continued)

146

—E-\FTZAS+—B M)

4 7EHHE (&)

31 December 2018 (Note)

Identity
E-Commerce Management Other Services Total
BEFEE HMHER H A IR %5 B3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ok v BT BT T ok e
Disaggregated by timing of R WERE 2 5
revenue recognition
Point in time s 158,409 27,353 18,378 204,140
Over time W& B 33,305 29,990 4,495 67,790
Revenue from external EIRINE
customers 191,714 57,343 22,873 271,930
Inter-segment revenue 7 BB Uk 25 — 7,823 12,266 20,089
Reportable segment revenue 7] £ % % B W 191,714 65,166 35,139 292,019
Elimination of inter-segment 85 o 7
revenue (20,089)
Consolidated revenue mEe s 271,930
Reportable segment profit A £ {5 % F 72,730 7,593 14,756 95,079
Interest income B A 15,152
Other net income H A Y23 ) 58 405
Depreciation e (6,893)
Impairment loss on other Hmbi s & EREEE
financial assets (156)
Share of results of associates — FT{f 8 & A R % 4E 1,540
Unallocated corporate income 7 % B & % U A 1,023
Consolidated profit before %% & BR #i A 3% F
taxation 106,150
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 using Wix: FEBEER-F—NF—HA—HEFE

the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,

comparative information is not restated. See Note 1(c).
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4 Segment reporting (Continued)

()

(i)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date

As at 31 December 2019, there is no transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligations under the Group's
existing contracts (2018: HK$58,162,000). This amount
represents revenue expected to be recognised in the future
from services contracts entered into by the customers with the
Group. The Group will recognise the expected revenue in
future when or as the work is completed, which is expected to
occur over the next 12 to 24 months.

The Group has applied the following practical expedients in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for provision
of services such that the above information does not include
information about the revenue if either of the following
conditions is met:

(a) the performance obligation is part of a contract that has an
original expected duration of one year or less; or

(b) the entity applies the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.B16
such that it recognises revenue at the amount to which it
has a right to invoice, which corresponds directly to the
value to the customer of the entity’'s performance
completed to date (e.g. a service contract in which the
entity bills a fixed amount for each hour of service
provided).

Geographic information

No geographic information is shown as the revenue and
operating profit of the Group is substantially derived from
activities in Hong Kong.

5 Other net income
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() REEREREEFEINEHNRA
S R 2R A 7R BB B WK R

R-E—-hhE+-_A=+—H #HEH
REAREENBEEANTRGEOE R
MRZGERZZE - NF: B
58,162,0007T) ° lt £ REIE B KPP HEA L
BT R A HTERB R AR RERK
ik o BEm TR AEEER AR
BREHKE  HBBHERARIZE24
18R %A -

7% B B 3 E IR 4R T 0 84 8 A 10 6B
THUCE 75 B 75 1 5 2 8D 158 5121
BREVETRE 5%  BUEM A THIE
— B EE - AL RE BT R 8 1 i
BR

() BOEEBARETENE DA
KU THEDH— D &

EREMKEAMBHRSEINSE
15.B165% KO AT 1T B 77 0% » BUE IR
HERLAZZNSEER RS
HERURERESETKEND
EFPBEEWMEREASERMR
BN KRREESRORBEE L) -

(b)

i EE R
AR ASEB KD WS R & ERFY
RABBLERE AT ESHEER -

(i)

5 Hfth s F R

2019 2018

—E-hF —ZT—-)N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Government grants BIF# & 967 —
Net gain on disposal of debt securities LESZAEMEENKER

measured at FVOC| AABETENEEES

B U 5 F B 218 —

Other income H oAb g A 426 —

Gain on disposal of an associate & — SR A — 405

1,611 405

In 2019, the Group successfully applied for funding support from

the

Enterprise Support Scheme and the Research and Development

Cash Rebate Scheme under Innovation and Technology Fund (“the
Fund”), set up by the Hong Kong Government. The purpose of the
Fund is to encourage innovation by granting financial assistance to
commercial entities whose research and development projects meet
certain criteria.

—E-NFER

R-F-h&E AEEXDEEBBRFRL
MEF R EES ((RER]) THEEXE
AERKRAENEREOEAIRFEEX
E-ZESEHEERRNMEARBNEE TR
HEOEERBRAEMBEEL  SBEIH-
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6 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6 BRB AT A

BREBADEFIB HE S GEA)

2019 2018
—E-AF —T—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(@)  Staff costs: (a) EEMKA:
Contributions to defined FLE A FGR RET B 4
contribution retirement plan P 3,258 3,116
Equity-settled share-based payment DA P& 4 45 30 DARR 1
expenses ABERITAHMAX 836 944
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEARHMET 115,049 110,082
119,143 114,142
(b)  Other items: (by HbEE:
Auditors’ remuneration =% S A Bl & 1,026 1,033
Depreciation e
— interest in leasehold land held — BEBANEE
for own use (Note 14(a)) TR
(K7 &t 14(a)) 142 142
— other property, plant and — HtWE BER
equipment (Note 14(a)) &t (K 14(a) 7,260 6,751
— right-of-use assets* — R EEE
(Note 14(b)) (Kt 14(b)) 620 —
Impairment loss on trade receivables EMER TR R & &
and contact assets (Note 26 (a)) BERESE
(#1526 (a) 1,751 791
Total minimum lease payments for NARIB(ES G T4
leases previously classified as ADENTSR D AK
operating leases under HKAS 17* EHENHEZR
K H & s~ — 1,415
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) FEH &R (W)
R 2,071 (1,023)
Net loss on disposals of property, HEME  BE &
plant and equipment REHEBHIEFE 6 10

148

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach and adjusted the opening balances as at 1 January 2019 to
recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. After initial recognition of
right-of-use assets as at 1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee is
required to recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of
the previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See Note 1(c).
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7

Income tax in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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7 GREBEBERNAEH

(a) FEBBERNBIES !

loss represents:

2019 2018
—E-h%F —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax EIfi%iE — FBFEH
Provision for the year NEFEEE 11,760 12,117
Over-provision in respect of prior year LNEFEBEREE (40) (5)
11,720 12,112

Current tax — outside Hong Kong BEARiE — FHBEN

Provision for the year KEERE 1 35
Over-provision in respect of prior year L FEBEEE (24) —
(23) 35
Deferred taxation I FE B 18 2,316 4,235
14,013 16,382

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2019 is calculated
at 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the year. Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong is
charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in
the relevant countries.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2019 takes into
account the enhanced Research and Development tax
deductions claimed on staff costs incurred during the year,
pursuant to Schedule 45 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance. The
qualifying expenditure is entitled to enhanced two-tiered tax
deductions, i.e. 300% for the first HK$2 million and 200% for
the remaining amount.

TE-NFNBENSRBEDREE
HEERBUE T 16.5% (ZF— N\F -
16.5% )&t E - BB B AR WA
RARBERNERBRITHEZLRK -

RIB(HRB GO RIS —F—hEH
EENGEHBECHARTFACELR
BRAFERNMERERFZHEI
MBIR - cEEALARZAREING
A HI B AR - B & % #2,000,0007T A
#REE D B 7] 7300 % £ 200% i 75 F R
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7 Income tax in the consolidated 7] GREBEZRNVFAEH (&)
statement of profit or loss
(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (b) ZBABRERFTENH B HESS
profit at applicable tax rates: A RN ¢
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T—)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit before taxation B B B v A 96,214 106,150

Notional tax on profit before taxation, R HE AR R B R E A PR 1S

calculated at the rates applicable to BB R AR R B AR A 5T

profits in the countries concerned BENEREME 15,695 17,319
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses I A= b0k RS2 1,567 929
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue FERRBL Wz 00 B 75 52 25 (1,693) (1,529)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERABABIEEIED

recognised HBTE 2 3
Tax effect of prior years’ unrecognised FRANEEERERBE

tax losses utilised BENTEEEE (31) (206)
Statutory tax concession EEMIEBE (1,463) (129)
Over-provision in respect of prior years — DAfE4F [Z {258 # {5 (64) (5)
Actual tax expense BERMEBEZ L 14,013 16,382
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8 Income tax in the consolidated 8 LMEHMBMARNVAER
statement of financial position
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) ZEHMBMRRRNWAGEHES :

financial position represents:

2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$°000
BETT BETIT

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for — ZN4F [Z & 7 715 B B &

the year 11,760 12,117
Provisional Profits Tax paid B EHFER (34) (9,068)
11,726 3,049
Balance of tax provision outside Hong LEFEBBRIIFIER
Kong relating to prior years & 45 84 133 157
Provision for taxes outside Hong Kong KEEEBBIINERME
for the year — 35
11,859 3,241
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) CEINELHEEERERE !
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in ERGEMBRNERERNETHIEE
the consolidated statement of financial position and the E/S(AR)NEKRIHS RFANEFHN
movements during the year are as follows: TS 8

Depreciation

allowances in
excess of
related Credit loss
depreciation Tax losses allowance Total
Deferred tax arising from: FEERBH
RETHSENEERE: HERE REFE GFEEBREE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT BT

As at 1 January 2018 RZZ2-\F—-A-H (223) 6,823 151 6,751
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss ~ RBHEE (Gt A) /K (980) (3.323) 68 (4,235)
As at 31 December 2018 R=Z-A\F+=A=t-H (1,203) 3,500 219 2,516
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss ~ REBHE XA/ (1K) 173 (2,798) 309 (2,316)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=+-H (1,030) 702 528 200
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8

152

Income tax in the consolidated
statement of financial position
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(c)

(Continued)

8 #x

o)

Bt ® R 3R B9 PR 1§ B

il

(b)

CRANEEHRBREEREE
(&)

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
ik ok v
Representing: i
Deferred tax assets on the e Mg R R AT
consolidated statement of financial EERIBEEE
position 1,230 3,719
Deferred tax liabilities on the e BiRE AT
consolidated statement of financial RIERITE B &
position (1,030) (1,203)
200 2,516

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has total tax
losses of HK$16,849,000 (2018: HK$33,977,000). In accordance
with the accounting policy set out in Note 1(p), deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of HK$4,254,000 (2018:
HK$21,211,000) of such losses. Based on a forecast prepared by
management, future taxable profits against which the losses
can be utilised will be available in foreseeable future. The tax
losses do not expire under current tax legislation.

Deferred tax assets not recognised:

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of HK$12,595,000 (2018: HK$12,766,000)
as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which
the losses can be utilised will be available. The tax losses do
not expire under current tax legislation.

(c)
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RBER AEENREBEEEA
7 16,849,000t (= — \F : B ¥
33,977,0007T) © IRIEM iZ1(p)FnE ) &
FHECR - B2 E E B 88 164,254,000
(=T — )\ F : #%21,211,0007T) # R
EEHREEE - REEEEBMHEERE
B - AT RS PR 8 BT B AR PR R ER B v A
ABE S 518 - IRIBIR TR AR - BIE
BRI EREA -

AERNEZEHEEE

AEBYERRFHEBEBEEER
12,595,000t (= & — A F: B ¥
12,766,00070) RIELEHBEE  RE
BRARTKRAIGEREERF RS
ZEBEBSNLNER RBRERITHBEE
BoHEBEBYEIEHA -




9 Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation is

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% R Y A ()

9 EERTTRARME

BB B(A ARG E383(N G E AR (FE
EENEERROE2FRENEEHS M
Nk

as follows:
Other
emoluments
in connection
with the
management  Basic salary,
of the affairs allowances Contributions
of the and other to retirement Share-based 2019
Company benefits schemes Bonus* payments Total
HHEE ExEe. BB 43
ADAEH BER Bk RE®R C—E-hE
BE  WHEMHS Htb 3R sHEfR AT HX @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BET T BETT BETT
Executive directors 7ES
TSE Kam Keung EiloE — — 5,032 18 3,615 288 8,953
CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew L) — — 2,961 18 433 m 3,523
CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily ERE — - 2,638 18 627 90 3,373
Non-executive directors FYTES
LEE Nai Shee, Harry FhE 140 — — — — — 140
LEE Delman FEX 100 - — — - — 100
YING Tze Man, Kenneth S 130 - — — - - 130
YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent KA 100 - — - - — 100
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHITES
CHAK Hubert 360 — — — — — 360
CHAN Chi Yan 340 200 - - - - 540
CHAU Tak Hay k 380 — — — — — 380
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy E 390 - — — - — 390
HO Lap Kee, Sunny -3 350 — — - — - 350
Total ot 2,290 200 10,631 54 4,675 489 18,339
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9 Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

154

9 EERTHAREMNE (B)

Basic salary,  Contributions
allowances and  to retirement Share-based 2018
Fees  other benefits schemes Bonus* payments Total
R NikfE  ZE-N\F
e  REMER RARFEHER A ERHIA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT BB BETT BB BETT
Executive directors HTES
TSE Kam Keung EifE — 4,896 18 2,930 286 8,130
CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew HiEmE — 2,868 18 334 122 3,342
CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily EE 7 — 2,556 18 693 135 3,402
Non-executive directors FHTES
LEE Nai Shee, Harry FNE 110 — — — — 110
LEE Delman FER 75 — - — - 75
YING Tze Man, Kenneth HEFX 85 - - — - 85
YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent RKE 45 — — — — 45
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
CHAK Hubert B 330 - - - - 330
CHAN Chi Yan REE 310 — — - - 310
CHAU Tak Hay BB 350 — — — — 350
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy EHE 370 — - — — 370
HO Lap Kee, Sunny [DE-S 330 — — — — 330
Total Bt 2,005 10,320 54 3,957 543 16,879

*  Bonus represented actual bonus paid during the year

The above emoluments include the value of share options granted

to certain directors and chief executive under the Company’s share
option schemes, as estimated at the date of grant. Details of these
benefits in kind are disclosed under the section “Share Option
Scheme” in the Directors’ Report.

* JEALIEFAE N A BEERIEA

LI BERBARBDBREIRTE
TEERTRAHNBRENE L A HNMGE

FHEE - ERAEDMENFEERE

SEEREE ) —f%E-
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Bt R R M ()

10 Individuals with highest emoluments 10&&E& A £
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2018: FR ABERFATHR=2(ZT—N\F:
three) are directors during the year whose emoluments are disclosed —R)REE HENMSE AN FIWE -
in Note 9. The portions of the emoluments that were not TEBRESEEAESHRZHMESIHI N T
attributable to the period during which they were in directorship BE -HMMEBE(ZTE—N\F - MB)ALZ

were disclosed below. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect M BRERT :
of the other two (2018: two) individuals are as follows:

2019 2018
—E—-hE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Salaries and other emoluments e REMMS 2,773 2,832
Share-based payments LARR 19 & B 1) 2 1+ 66 64
Retirement scheme contributions RRET B R 36 36
2,875 2,932

The emoluments of the above two (2018: two) individuals with the FHME(ZZE-—N\F WB)ERFALH

highest emoluments are within the following bands: MemBa@ENDT :

2019 2018
—E—-hEF —ZT-N\F
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
HK$ BT AE A
1,000,001-1,500,000 1,000,001-1,500,000 — 1
1,500,001-2,000,000 1,500,001-2,000,000 2 1
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11 Dividends

(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the

Company attributable to the year

MKRE

(a) *FEERNARAREFAEANR
B

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
ik BT T
Interim dividend declared and paid of B TR &KIEMS &R ER S
HK3.3 cents per share FR3.381L
(2018: HK 3.5 cents per share) (ZE—NF : Fi’35
A 26,223 27,812
Final dividend proposed after the end of RIF&H = F K HITHRA
the reporting period of HK 6.5 cents B ¥R 45 B AR Bk B >R AR
per share (2018: HK 6.0 cents per REFRESENM(ZF
share) based on issued share capital as —N\F : B%6.078 M)
at the year end 51,651 47,678
77,874 75,490

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the year

RS HRRFURE R AR S RPD IS
HARERAAE-

(b) BRE—EMBFE  ARFA#
ERRNFARARAREFEANE
TR E

B E— B RFEE I

Final dividend in respect of the previous

financial year, approved and paid R A HEE ROR 8 R

during the year of HK 6.0 cents per AR B k6.0 1L

share (2018: HK 6.3 cents per share) (ZZE—N\F:5Hk63
A

2019 2018
—g-ne —E-NE
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
47,678 50,062
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12 Other comprehensive income

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) = MY 5 (#)

NREMEZEKE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T—)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Debt securities measured at FVOCI EREMZAWERLA
BEESENEEES
Changes in fair value recognised during AEEEBRAZAREE
the year 28 10,426 (16,013)
Reclassification adjustments for amounts HE ABRRB#ETE
transferred to profit or loss: oA
— net gain on disposal transferred to profit — BEEBERNEENRS
or loss bR} (218) —
— impairment loss (Note 26(a)) — BB E B (K7 7#26(a) 1,303 365
Net movement in the fair value reserve 2R E 2 T W as R
during the year recognised in other rEEARBERKEE
comprehensive income )5 11,511 (15,648)

There is no tax effect relating to the above components at 31
December 2019 and 2018.

13 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company of HK$82,201,000 (2018: HK$89,768,000) and the
weighted average number of 794,634,000 ordinary shares
(2018: 794,624,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year,
calculated as follows:

—E-hhERER_E—-N\F+=-ZA=+—
PR BRHIEHE -

1B3ERER

() ERELRER
BREKRRF TREA R B L EARRE
FE AFEAE R M %82,201,0007T (= F
— )\ : 8%89,768,0007T) R AFED

EJFHL

1T LB A% Y I A S 3 A% 2794, 634 000
f% (= Z — )\ 4 : 794,624,0000% & 38 %)
AE AW

Weighted average number of ordinary shares ZERMETHRH
2018
—E-N\F
‘000
F &
Issued ordinary shares as at 1 January R—A—BHBE#ET
T m AR 794,634 794,586
Effect of share options exercised EITEERENTZE — 38
Weighted average number of ordinary BR+ZA=+—HH
shares as at 31 December A A 0 HE T 19 B 794,634 794,624
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BT & M ()
13 Earnings per share (Continued) 138KREAER (&)
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) EREBERR
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the RS R A TR IE AR R 7 E 8RR
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the B A FEAL & F) 7 #82,201,000T (= F
Company of HK$82,201,000 (2018: HK$89,768,000) and the — J\4 : % #89,768,0007T) & % i Ik &
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 794,634,000 D04 F 15 B £(794,634,0008 (= — N\
(2018: 794,634,000) after adjusting for the effect of the £ : 794,634,0000%) (B 3t AN 1 7 BB Ak 42
potential dilution from ordinary shares issuable under the FETA TROTETARNETAEYE
Company’s share option scheme, calculated as follows: EERAB)FE - FAMT:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) TERMELHRE (KE#E)
2018
—T—)N\F
‘000
F &
Weighted average number of ordinary R+ZA=+—8A%
shares as at 31 December TR e T 794,634 794,624
Effect of deemed issue of shares under 1% {EAR J& AN 12 &) B Ak i
the Company’s share option schemes STEILERERTRG
for nil consideration k-4 — 10
Weighted average number of ordinary R+—A=Z=+—8%
shares (diluted) as at 31 December T 3E AR hn ke T AR B
(RR#5E) 794,634 794,634
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14 Property, plant and equipment 1AE-BERSZHE

(a) Carrying amount (a) BREIE

Platform
LECETEENT Ownership
software, interest in Other
computer and leasehold land properties
Leasehold office Furniture and held for own leased for own

improvements equipment Motor vehicles fixtures Building Subtotal se carried at cost

FABHR BEERN HEFRRNW

%4 BER HELH 2w
BENXLEHE BOERE RE BRREE | £ i BEERR BRI @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT BETT BETT BETR BETR BETT BETT BETT

Cost: RE:

As at 31 December 2018 RZZ-NE+ZA

=t-8 13,678 161,723 1.278 3,226 33,250 213,155 6,018 - 219,173
Impact on initial application of & X fE FB(E
HKFRS 16 (Note) EER A
Y8 W) - - - - - - - 814 814
As at 1 January 2019 RZE-AE-F-H 13,678 161,723 1.278 3,226 33,250 213,155 6,018 814 219,987
Additions hE 84 4,228 - 25 - 4337 - - 4337
Disposals RE (32 (539) - (1) - (578) - - (578)

As at 31 December 2019 RZE-hE
+=ZA=1+-8 13,730 165,412 1,278 3,244 33,250 216,914 6,018 814 223,746

Accumulated depreciation: R34 %

As at 1 January 2019 RZZE-NE—-A-AR 12,153 151,578 1,130 2,906 22,862 190,629 1,957 = 192,586
Charge for the year ERRT 495 4,932 148 142 1,663 7,380 142 500 8,022
Disposals RE (32 (533) - (Ul — (572) - - (572)

As at 31 December 2019 RZZ-NE
+=ZA=1+-8 12,616 155,977 1.278 3,04 24,525 197,437 2,099 500 200,036

Net book value: REFE:

As at 31 December 2019 RZZE-NE

+-A=+-8 1,114 9,435 — 203 8,725 19,477 3919 314 23,710
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified it REEEFANEETE WL B KRR
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances as at (BB & ERDFE 165 - U
1 January 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to BR-FE-NF—A—HAEHE
leases which were previously classified as operating leases B LIER BB RIZ(BEE 5
under HKAS 17. See Note 1(c). ERIDEI17H 7 EREEHE

BEZRABEEE - BMEEIC) -
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14 Property, plant and equipment

160

(Continued)

(a) Carrying amount (Continued)

149% - -BERRE (&

~—F

(a) RRMEE ()

Platform
hardware and
software, Interest in
computer and leasehold land
Leasehold office Furniture and held for own
improvements equipment  Motor vehicles fixtures  Building  Subtotal use Total
TaRHR
P BEERY
HENERE BLAZRK HE RMREE EF Pt BELTHER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
RETT BETT BETT RETT AETT AETR RETT AT
Cost: RA:
As at 1 January 2018 R=E-\%5-f-H 12,459 155,761 1,278 3,291 33250 206,039 6,018 212,057
Additions RE 1219 6,275 — - - 7,494 - 7,494
Disposals RE - (313) - (65) - (378) - (378)
As at 31 December 2018~ K=&
TZRE=1-8 13,678 161,723 1278 326 33250 213155 6,018 219,173
Accumulated depreciation: B3t E :
As at 1 January 2018 RZZ-NE-A-H 11,693 147,602 937 2,815 21,199 184,246 1815 186,061
Charge for the year FREX 460 4,289 193 146 1,663 6,751 142 6,893
Disposals RE - (313) - (55) — (368) — (368)
As at 31 December 2018 K= \%
TZE=1-8 12,153 151,578 1,130 2,906 22862 190,629 1957 192,586
Net book value: REFE:
As at 31 December 2018  R-T-N\£
TZA=t-H 1,525 10,145 148 320 10,388 22,526 4,061 26,587
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14 Property, plant and equipment 1A% - BERSZEE)
(Continued)
(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EFAEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by FRAEEEREBEERE S NERE
class of underlying asset is as follows: FESNWAT
31 December 1 January
2019 2019
—E-h%F —ZE-hF
t=A=+-8 —A—H
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
k3 BETR BT T

Ownership interest in leasehold — #H{FE AWM E Lib KiE
land and building held for own  FHHAEREEZ  EE
use, carried at depreciated cost BT E K AN - F
in Hong Kong, with remaining FEN T102505F
lease term between 10 and

50 years () 12,644 14,449
Other properties leased for own FAEEE R H MY E -
use, carried at depreciated cost &7 & B Al BR (i) 314 814

Platform hardware and software, &8 {F & &8« T K
computer and office equipment, WA E&E - IBITEK
carried at depreciated cost 51| Bk (i) 623 —

13,581 15,263
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14 Property, plant and equipment

(Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in

profit or loss is as follows:

149 % - BERRE (E)

(b) EREEE (&)
HREEEBEEANBANFEE S0
T

2018
—E-N\F
(Note)
(K1 :t)
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use CTREAEREAEER
assets by class of underlying asset: AE D HITEZH
Ownership interests in leasehold land HELHREFHOESRE
and building s 1,805 1,805
Other properties leased for own use HEFERONEMYE 500 —
Platform hardware and software, FaEHREMg - B
computer and office equipment, PAERME BITEX
carried at depreciated cost 75 AR 120 —
2,425 1,805
Interest on lease liabilities HEABNE 38 —
Expense relating to short-term leases and 74 B 52 BAF & % Fl 44 7 HA
other leases with remaining lease term RZZE—-—NF+=A
ending on or before 31 December =T —HIZAERD
2019 H i 10 & 19 F % 235 —
Expense relating to leases of low-value  ARKEEEHRENH
assets, excluding short-term leases of T BEEEEEEDN
low-value assets HEHEE 78 —
Total minimum lease payments for leases A AR IECE & & 5F 2 A))
previously classified as operating leases TRy AKERSE
under HKAS 17 WSz REBEENK
a5 — 1,415

Note:

The group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified

retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances as
at 1 January 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets

as at 1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to

recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of

the previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Under this approach, the comparative information is not

restated. See Note 1(c).

162 Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2019

EE

L B AN ET 8 % B R
(BB HHEER)DE 165 I
BR-_FE—-NF—H—He) B4
B LR BB RE (B =5
EADEI7R D EREEHE
EZRABEE R-F—NF—
A—HERBERRHEEER X
LB ((ERAMN) RERRZHEE
ERITE - I HRAAEBRILER
B EFX o RIFM 7% WHEE
FLLEWER - BHEEIC) -




Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

81 75 3k & MY 5 ()

14 Property, plant and equipment 1A% - BRERRZE (&)

(Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (b) EAEEE (&)

During the vyear, additions to right-of-use assets were
HK$743,000. This amount related to the capitalised lease
payments payable under new rental agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in the consolidated cash
flow statement and Note 21(d), respectively.

(i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

held for own use

The Group holds a building for its office. The Group is the
registered owner of the property interest, including part of
undivided share in the underlying land. Lump sum payment
was made upfront to acquire the property interest from
the previous registered owner, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the land lease,
other than payments based on rateable values set by the
relevant government authority. These payments vary from
time to time and are payable to the relevant government
authority.

(ii) Other properties leased for own use
The Group has obtained the right to use other properties
as its warehouse and service centre through tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial period of
two to five years.

The leases do not include an option to renew the lease for
an additional period after the end of the contract term.
None of the leases contains variable lease payments.

(iii) Other leases

The Group leases platform hardware and software,
computer and office equipment under leases expiring from
two to five years. Leases do not include an option to
renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated and do
not include an option to purchase the leased equipment at
the end of the lease term at a price deemed to be a
bargain purchase option. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.

—E-NEFER

TN EREEENEEET743,0007T °
WEeBNEARBRENHEHEENNE
B ER K -

Tﬁfﬁ’]iﬁ%‘}ﬁﬁj%@%ﬁ&ﬁﬂ‘é/\%ﬁi@
AN HBEINERGABRERERR
Kti21(d) °

() FEERHELTHREFNETE
s
AEEBAEETERENRLE -
EI%%%F*W%ﬁ%imT

AoEEEN - MWBLER
A°—$ﬂ RIBRCERY - LBB
EELHEAABAMEREZ BH
AREH B G RIFEN
122 48 B IR A Bl AR E B B R = A
ﬁﬁﬁmﬁm%%°&#ﬁ XA B
WE - WA THBERAEE -

(i) HEFERANEMBYE
AREEDEBHEE R E RIS ®
REMDERERERRBH L -
HE-—RNGAHAMEREF -

BEUTOERADFRLREE
57 5851 30 00 0 PR <
B s T RAEN K -

(iii) HHAE
AEBRBAMERFERNEE
ﬁ S PRBEMHRES  BERRHEA

R -HETTBENENES
%ﬁ%m%é@ﬁ%%@%% a
ﬁT@%Fﬂ& HIE R IRAR

EREER ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁf&“
ﬁWL§% HELAEReT#ME
SR
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15 Interest in subsidiaries

164

follows:

Place of
incorporation/

(a) Details of the subsidiaries which principally affected
the results, assets or liabilities of the Group are as

15 Fir 45 Y BB 2 R R &

() TEHEXREFXE

Proportion of

Particulars of issued ownership interest

EEFRRE

WHEBARREMT

Proportion of

ownership interest

establishment and eld by the eld by
Name of company and operatlon paid up capltal Compan subsi dlaag Principal activity
Eﬂﬂﬁﬁ/ﬁ SRR HAAREE HWEARE
S e HRRARE REERREANL HAREEELL FEEK
D|g| Slgn Certification Services Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% —  Certificate authority services
BETRERBAERAT BE 10,0008 & 3 FEGERS
Trade Facilitation Services Limited Hong Kong 50,000 shares 100% —  Dormant
) 50,0008 % 3 ERXY
D\g\ral Trade and Transportation Network Hong Kong 41,000,000 shares 100% —  Provision of electronic messaging
5 41,000,0000% % {7 routing and transformation
%lﬁ'%ﬁé’%@ﬁa BEERRD
M\sﬁul E A RERRE
Up Forward Technology Limited Hong Kong 1 share 100% —  Investment holding
EEMRBRAR B 1R R 13 REER
EClink Technologg Limited Hong Kong 99 shares 100% —  Investment holding
SRAENRERA FE 99k A& 13 REER
Tradelink PayTech Solutions Limited (previously Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares 100% — Payment technology solution
known as Tradelink E-Biz Secure Solutions &% 1,000,000 & 3 XRAMBEBRATR
%%Lﬁmﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁ BRAGGIEESBE
FTHBEEARERAA)
iTradelink eMarket Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% —  Provision of e-commerce services
EE 10,000 8 {3 RUEEFHERE
VSHIP Limited Hong Kong 1 share 100% —  Provision of e-commerce services
FE B3¢ RUEETHERS
BHBRM)-ABRD Macau MOP25,000 100% —  Provision of e- commerce services
R RFI%25,000 REETHE
EREAFREFHARBEERAA - PRC  HK$8,400,000 100% —  Provision of e-commerce and
HE 7 #8,400,0007C e- Igglstlcs services
/\@%ﬁg&@%%//\LHEﬁX
REEFBRRERAR" PRC RMB500,000 — 100%  Provision of e-commerce and
H AR #500,0007T & I9v9|st|cs services
ETHERETNRRE
REEESREFRHHERLA PRC RMB100,000 — 100%  Provision of e-commerce and
H AR #100,0007T e Iggstrcs services
ETHEREFMRRE
REERNFBUBARRA! PRC RMB100,000 — 100%  Provision of e-commerce and
HE AR %100,0007 e- Igglstlcs services
/\@%ﬁg&@%%//\LHEﬁX
EMERFBETFHEERAA™ PRC RMB500,000 100% —  Provision of e-commerce and
H A K #500,0007T & Igg|st|cs services
ETHERETNRRE
Each of these is controlled subsidiaries as defined under Note L‘/( EIGE RN A 1(F) P T TE B R FE I MT%
1(f) and have been consolidated into the Group’s financial NR WERAEENTBEREREE
statements. iR
#  Subsidiaries not audited by KPMG. The financial statements of the " BEHER AL ESR ?55/77 e
subsidiaries not audited by KPMG reflect total net assets and total e - ZEUWHAESH G FR
revenue constituting less than 1% of the respective consolidated T2 269 [] 8 22 5] 87 75 #8 2 AT IR W ) 48

totals.

*  Companies registered as a wholly-foreign owned enterprise in the

PRC.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

81 75 3k & MY 5 ()

15 Frfa B BB 2 A R == ()

(b) Goodwill (b) &

15Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)

The goodwill recognised by the Group arose from the
acquisition of Digital Trade and Transportation Network Limited
("DTTNCo") in 2009 and is attributable mainly to the technical
expertise, intellectual property and the synergies expected to be
achieved from integrating DTTNCo into the Group’s existing
business and customer base. The goodwill has a carrying
amount of HK$9,976,000 since the acquisition date of 26
March 2009.

The E-Commerce segment of the Group is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the acquisition of DTTNCo in entirety,
and there are no other units within the Group that the
goodwill can be appropriately allocated to. Accordingly, the
E-commerce segment is identified as the cash-generating unit
("CGU") containing the goodwill for the purpose of impairment
evaluation of the goodwill.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations use the CGU's cash
flow projections based on financial forecasts covering a six-year
period. Cash flows beyond the six-year period are extrapolated
using a medium term growth rate adjusted on the basis of
management’s best estimates. The growth rates used do not
exceed the long-term average growth rates for the business in
which the Group operated. The future cash flows are
discounted, at a discount rate specific to the Group of 10%
(2018: 10%) for the assessment period, to determine the value
of the CGU. Based on management’s assessment, there is no
impairment recognised in respect of the goodwill for the year
(2018: Nil).

—E-NEFER

REBERVEAENRAR-_ZTAFK
BHBESIERAKAERADA
([DTTINCO DFTEAY T BREEER
g~ AR EME R TERT A HIDTINCOZE A E
BB REFEAREAERNTHA
mE-AREBEH _TTNAE=A
Tt RAABR BENEEEABE
9,976,0007T ©

HREBEHAEEETEE S BAIZER
I BEDTTNCo & &b Ik 1 PT 2= 4 &9 1 [B) 3K
moMERESBEREIRELAER
HMmEM  HETFTHESBEZNAE
SrnEmENReELAEN((HREEL
BAz]) - DAME A R B R R E R o

IR & B 4 BT A T] Uiz B BREE T AR I 4
BENAELIET HERSELEMER
EANFHENMBEEAINTERES R
o NFHENENESRDBREETE
B & EMAaHm AP B R KR #E
BT o BT {5 A Ay 38 R SR 4 R i AN 52 B BT
KEEBNRATHEER - KRRES
REAFGEHEASEN S ERHAER
10% (ZZF—NFE :10% )R UEFE
ReELEMNER - RETEENT
b RAFEDARHERRTWRE
ZE-NF:F)-
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 75 R 2% Bt 5% (@)
- . Py — a2
16 Interest in associates 16 b E AT R
The following list contains the particulars of associates, all of which Ti’%%ﬁﬂ BERAFHE ZERRAERIE
are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is not MEHRENFEETEEELR:
available:
Proportion Proportion Proportion
Place of Particulars of of Group's of shares of shares
Establishment issued and effective  held by the held by a
Name of associate and operation paid up capital interest Company Subsidiary  Principal activity
xEE ARH
BERTR FMEERES FERG WEARME
BENR AR BRIREELE RERAFE BAk Bt ROBEIHE  EEEHR
Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science & PRC RMB10,000,000 20% 20% —  Provision of e-commerce
Technology Service Company Limited H AR %10,000,0007T services (Note)
(“Nanfang") REZTHERS (Wit)
EREAEFHMEREARLR ((AA])
FEERREERTAEEERAA PRC RMB45,000,000 26% - 26%  Supply chain management
("U-Link") HE A R #45,000,0007C development and
services
HEEERREREIRE
BMZBERNTESRMER PRC RMB1,000,000 49% 49% —  Provision of e-commerce
(TZBEH]) H AR #1,000,0007C and e-logistics services
REZTFHEREFIR
R %
Note: Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science & Technology Service Company Wit : BRETEEEZREERLETIRE

Limited, a high-tech company providing advanced e-commerce
services in Guangdong area, enables the Group to gain exposure to
this market through local expertise.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.
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16 Interest in associates (Continued)

(a) Summary of financial information on associates
Summarised financial information of the principal associate,
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and
reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed below:

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

81 75 3R & MY 5% ()

16 fr 4 B & 1 T e 2 (4R

() HEARANUBERNME

TXRBEZIEBHERANMBEHEE
(ERSABREMZRELIRE  IE
HIFAUBHRERPOREELR)

2019 2018
ZE-hF —ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Gross amounts of Nanfang’s assets MAFEERBERE:
and liabilities:
Current assets MBEE 48,330 38,328
Non-current assets FnBEE 34,168 42,497
Current liabilities nyaE (16,323) (14,263)
Non-current liabilities FEREEaE (1,913) (5,198)
Equity 125 64,262 61,364
Revenue & 66,287 63,220
Profit from continuing operations SRS A 3,992 7,700
Total comprehensive income 2 HWEETE 3,992 7,700
Reconciled to the Group's interests in EEAREBEREHEZREN
Nanfang AR
Gross amounts of net assets of Nanfang 5 & E/FEAH 64,262 61,364
Group'’s effective interest rEBERER 20% 20%
Group’s share of net assets of AEBREEINEE
Nanfang FE 12,852 12,273
Goodwill EiS 1,125 5,805
Carrying amount in the consolidated RZ&MBEHRERFH
financial statements SR & 13,977 18,078

TE-NEFFR EZBEEFEZERAA
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16 Interest in associates (Continued)

16 frih Bt & A = ()

(a) Summary of financial information on associates

() BEQARANMBERNME (H)

(b)

(Continued)
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material:

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share 7K & & F {5 3% S B
of those associates’ loss from
continuing operations

E AR

Total comprehensive income

o

REFARKEBHRLE

FEME R E R R RARA EF

2018
—E2-hF —E-N\F
HK$"000 HK$'000
BETT BET T

Impairment loss on interest in an associate

At 31 December 2019, the Group carried out an impairment
assessment for the recoverable amount of Nanfang. As the
recoverable amount of Nanfang was less than the carrying
amount, additional provision for impairment loss of
HK$4,500,000 was made for the year ended 31 December
2019. In prior years, provision for impairment loss of
HK$3,000,000 was made. The estimates of the recoverable
amount of Nanfang were based on the present values of the
budgeted future cash flows, discounted at the market risk-
adjusted discount rate of 14% (2018: 14%), by reference to
the projected volume, activity level and future growth rates of
the underlying business of Nanfang. For the years ended 31
December 2019 and 31 December 2018, same basis of
impairment measurement in respect of the interest in Nanfang
is performed by management.

17 Interest in joint venture

168

Details of the Group’s interest in a joint venture, which is

(b) R—HEKELAREENRESSE

R-B-AF+-_A=+—80 A&EH
EEhE AR Y E S EEITRERFG -
HREANKESERARKAE &
REBEEZZT—-NAF+_A=1+—HLHF
E AT IR EEINR (B 5 18 B 45 5 54,500,000
TL-RUEEE  HRBEBEREES
#3,000,0007C - Fg A A] KBl £ R IR E
FAAMBEENTEIRE EBKER
RRWEER AN BERRBESREN
WE K14%(ZZT—\F:14% )™
15 B\ B 58 B2 B IR 2R 8L I8 i A0 A ff & o &
2-F—hF+-_A=+—HEK=Z
—N\NE+_A=+—RHLEE EEE
FRAREEEFEFHESZNRE-

1T7HEEERTER

RAMERAE T

accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial

statements are as follows:

TREINNEERA
RAEEDEZRGAMBHRRARNT

Proportion Proportion Proportion
Place of Particulars of of Group’s of shares of share
establishment issued and effective  held by the held by a
Name of joint venture and operation paid up capital interest Company Subsidiary  Principal activity
E¥ - | LN
SRR FERRER FERS WEIRMS
REAFER BRUIREELE BRRAFE BAk Bk  ROBEIHE FEXHR
ERIBRRBRERAA PRC RMB4,920,000 49% — 49%  Provision of e-commerce
e AR %4,920,0007C services

RESTHERS
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17 Interest in joint venture

As the recoverable amount of the joint venture was less than the
carrying amount, provision for impairment loss of HK$1,280,000
was made in prior years. For the years ended 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2018, there is no improvement in the financial
situation of the joint venture and no reversal of provision for
impairment of joint venture is recorded.

18 Other financial assets

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 5 ¥R R MM 5 ()

17FREEERRER

HREERTIMAKESBENEE K
ERBAFEARBREBEBEEBE
1,280,000 c &HE-_ZE—NE+-_A=+—
AR=E—NF+=-A=1+— Eﬁiﬁ A
EBATMERRLEN S WEBBEED
AR E B -

18EMMBEE

2019 2018
—E-nF —ET—-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Debt securities measured at FVOCI BREMEEAWREEAR
BEAENESHE
— listed — W 317,642 347,732
Representing: &
— Non-current — ERH 279,118 305,499
— Current — RE 38,524 42,233
317,642 347,732
As at 31 December 2019, 65% (2018: 71%) of the total amount —NWE+ZA=+—8H " B5E165%

was invested in investment grade corporate bonds. The remaining
35% (2018: 29%) was invested in non-investment grade or non-
rated corporate bonds. All corporate bonds held as at 31 December
2019 were tradable in open market.

As at 31 December 2019, the loss allowance of one of the non-
investment grade debt securities, which has a gross carrying amount
of HK$12,938,000, was measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs as there was an unfavourable change in its external market
price during 2019 which indicated that its credit risk had been
increased significantly. Other than that, all other debt securities did
risk at 31 December 2019. Loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs in

not have significant credit

accordance with the policy set out in Note 1(k)(i).

As at 31 December 2018, the debt securities did not have

significant credit risk.

(ZZ2E—NF 7M%)REREERABEE
o MR T35% (ZF—N\F :29%) 8l E
RIFERERBISRBETROBERES - R
T-NF+_A=+-—BRBENMELERE
FHAIRAFEMBERS °

T-—NEFE+ZA=+—8 BaRENE
ﬁ?{“EA_gi NEFEREBRAFEE  BRE
FERBEEAREEN KR —HE@AE
7% 75 #12,938,0007T H FE 1% & 4 Bl & % &
WERREDZASR2HEHEEERN
SHEAE -BREUN RZZT—NF+ZA
_+ H FIEHEMEBESTESEAEE

% o BB BB IRIEA F 1000 FTE R IR
*ﬁwﬁf\\igﬁﬁ,ﬁﬁﬁggﬂﬂmﬁ%ﬁu‘l‘if’

RZE-N\F+ZR=+—H
mEXEERR -

CEBESL
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19 Trade receivables and contract assets 19FEWBEFRRENEE

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance FEUWERF MKk BEEE 35,610 33,554
Contract assets, net of loss allowance ARNEE MBBBEES 27,977 10,563
63,587 44,117
(a) Trade receivables, net of loss allowance (a) EWERZ - HIRE 1B &
Ageing analysis BRER DT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of PSR REZAHRNBREIER
trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss HatE  BURERERMNERER T T -

allowance, is as follows:

2019 2018

—E-NF —ZT-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Less than 1 month 0 S ! 22,734 19,313

1 to 3 months —Z={8A 5,486 7,097

3 to 12 months ==+=f@A 6,990 4,952

Over 12 months Hid+ — & A 400 2,192

35,610 33,554

All the above balances are expected to be recovered within one FEE LSS AR —FAE - BE
year and some of them are covered by deposits from customers FRIFEFPIRHMNEEMRE (RN

(see Note 21). 21) e

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk EAEAEEEERR MERERELED
arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 26(a). EERROE—FFBRHRA F260)
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19 Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(b)

Contract assets, net of loss allowance

The Group's contracts include payment schedules which require
stage payments over the contract period once milestones are
reached. These payment schedules prevent the build-up of
significant contract assets.

All of the revenue recognised during the year are from
performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in the
current year.

All of the contract assets are expected to be recovered within
one year.

20 Other receivables, prepayments and
other contract costs

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) = MY 5 (#)

MVERERRENEE (&)

(b) EREE NREBRRHE
AEENASHNEBRENRKHER REE
ERMBREERNA MR EERX
B ZENRERERE LTEKREKRS L
BE-

FREROAARZHRENRAFED
ER (B ER)WBHET -

EEHNEERSR —FRKRME -

20 Htb R R TE » A RIER
H & 8B A

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

—E-hF —2-N\E

t=a=+-5 [EEEEERE:

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Other receivables and prepayments Hh JE WK TE ] TE AN 508 13,717 11,176
Other contract costs HAh & B AR 5,032 4,742
18,749 15,918

(a)

(b)

Other receivables and prepayments
All other receivables and prepayments are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2019 relate
to the costs to fulfil contracts with customers at the reporting
date. Other contract costs are recognised as part of “cost of
purchases” in the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which revenue from the related sales or services is recognised.
There was no impairment in relation to the costs capitalised
during the year (2018: nil).

All other contract costs are expected to be recovered within
one year.

SE-NFFH HPABFEHSERAT 171/

(a) HftEW R IBER AN KE
BT E b U SRR R FE A BORTR B —
FARODRERRFA

(b) Hith & AR A
RZB-NF+-A=+—HBERED
Hi &R AERBEHHRETERRER
BHMEARR - EfbaHRARKE
R E SR o R R R MR MR
BmRAERABRBRAIN -5 - F
N BEEARAEACHRE(CE
BVASRE -

FrEEMENRATBRN —FRKRE -
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21Trade creditors, contract liabilities and 21E(ER - §NEERH#M
FE {3 Fh 18

other payables

172

31 December 1 January 31 December
2019 2018
—Z-NF —Z-N\F
—A—B +ZA=+—H
(Note)
(K1it)

Note HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iz BYT T BETT BETT
Trade creditors & 5 BR 3K (a) 29,810 11,447 11,447
Customer deposits received BEWEFPEZES (b) 128,511 134,851 134,851

Accrued charges and other FE =T 7 2 K o fth B A
payables WA 33,423 38,358 38,358
Contract liabilities aRER (© 12,662 9,566 9,566
Lease liabilities HEBE (@) 951 814 —
205,357 195,036 194,222

Representing &
— Non-current — R 464 320 —
— Current — B 204,893 194,716 194,222
205,357 195,036 194,222
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified MaE - AEEEFEEEENEEXIRA(EF

retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which

were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17.
Comparative information as at 31 December 2018 has not been
restated. Further details on the impact of the transition to HKFRS

16 are set out in Note 1(c).
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21Trade creditors, contract liabilities and 21E{EN - 8V E8ERHEM
other payables (Continued)

(a) Trade creditors

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade creditors, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

AR

(a)

X1 ()

FE 1% BR K
RBEHR REZAHFE BHER
RHBREE D MTAOT

2019 2018
—E-nF NS
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Less than 1 month LR—EA 29,658 11,079
1 to 3 months —Z==@A 152 368
29,810 11,447
(b) Customer deposits received (b) CEF#ZE

(c)

Deposits received are monies received from customers before
they are allowed to make trade transactions through the use of
the Group’s systems. Generally, customers are only allowed to
incur transaction charges up to the amount deposited with the
Group. Deposits are refundable to customers on demand.

Contract liabilities

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences this will give rise to contract liabilities at the
start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the project
exceeds the amount of the deposit. The amount of the deposit,
if any, was negotiated on a case by case basis with customers.

Movements in contract liabilities

(c)

BERZEEATFPEREERNEEN RS
ETEZRHHE TP WHRERIA - —
BRAEH TPANRENRZE  EIL
EPRAREXNONRER/R - REW
EEPERTIARE -

BHNEE

AEBENEERBMIG ﬁﬁﬂ&lﬁlﬁiﬁ :
HHERAENRIGFEREHEE -
ERERMIER K& tﬂ&éé%’ﬁﬁutc'
BeMEB WA IREERETFLE
R

BHREENED

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
As at 1 January ®n—A—H 9,566 14,295
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result & % B ERFF AR H
of recognising revenue during the year Mt NGB ElE
that was included in the contract i 4
liabilities at the beginning of the
period (8.732) (13,152)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result AL BEEIEREM
of billing in advance N 11,828 8,423
As at 31 December W+=ZA=+—H 12,662 9,566

As at 31 December 2019, the amount of billings in advance of
performance expected to be recognised as income after more
than one year is HK$800,000 (2018: HK$836,000).

RZB—hF+=ZA=+—8" BHH
R—FEERABBABBLORAGES
% BB ¥5800,0007T (Z T — \F : B#
836,0007T) °
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21Trade creditors, contract liabilities and

other payables (Continued)

(d) Lease liabilities

174

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of the current and
previous reporting periods and at the date of transition to
HKFRS 16:

21EBAER - aNABERHEM

FE 1+ :3E (&)

(d HE&E
TRBRAEERE A R £ —E3HRS 5
MERBENEBEE(EEMBRE L
ADFIRERNEEABENNRELH
A

As at 31 December 2019 As at 1 January 2019 (Note)
RZB-AF+ZA=1+—H0 Sty Rl= )

Present value

Present value

of the of the
minimum Total minimum minimum  Total minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHRE REHAE =EAE =EAE
FRAE EE L TRBE OEECE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T BT T BT T
Within one year —£R 487 510 494 513
More than one year but within fBi#—F{ERLFR
five years 464 488 320 324
951 998 814 837
Less: total future interest B RRFBRX
expenses HEE (47) (23)
Present value of lease liabilities & & &3 & 951 814

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances as
at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17. None of the leases was previously classified
as finance leases. Comparative information as at 31
December 2018 has not been restated. Further details on the
impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 1(c).
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22 Provision for long service payments

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

81 75 3R & MY 5% ()

2REBRBEEBRE

2018

—E-)\F

HK$'000

BT T

As at 1 January »n—A—H 3,179 3,093
Released/utilised BERBEHA (59) (20)
Provisions charged to profit or loss RiBw= Nk E & — 106
As at 31 December wW+Z—A=+—8” 3,120 3,179

23 Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

24 Equity-settled share-based

transactions

(a) Share option scheme

The Share Option Scheme currently in operation was adopted
on 9 May 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme 2014"), whereby
options will be granted to eligible persons, including Directors,
employees, consultants, business associates or advisers as the
Board of the Company may identify from time to time
("Grantees”), entitling them to subscribe for shares of the
Company, subject to acceptance of the Grantees and the
payment of HK$1.00 by each of the Grantees upon acceptance
of the options. Each option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company.

The share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
2014 vest after 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36
months (75%) and 48 months (100%) respectively from date of
grant and then exercisable within a period of 10 years. The
Grantee may exercise the share options subject to the
conditions in respective option offering letter. The subscription
amount payable in respect of each share upon the exercise of
an option shall be determined by the board of directors and
shall be not less than the greater of:

(i) the closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated in the
SEHK's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of such
option; and

(ii) the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated
in the SEHK's daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of such
option.

23 & &R K8 R

AEBRE(EBRTEATE S BUEHG) -
ERB(EBRERBRIEIERANEES R uH
FlEAEST B ([REETE] - wBEL T
BABYSTATENTEHEEITEKRSE -
BEAESTE  EFXrHEEEASARE
EHHEEREEEBASSLNER  MARH
ABLAE AE30,000 B LR - AEEH
FEEEHHREEEBEBEES -

0N REFEEIURDAHER
B 5

(a) BB ESE
BITERESZEN _T—NFRANA
ERM(IZZT—WFERESE]) &
I ARREFERTIHEEZEER
AT (RIEES RE BEEM £
EHAREHBER(EABRADBEHLER
BOETHSEMNREAARRG E
BEERBAENFAEE  BBEER
AR B 4 BE AR A B B S B 1 .007T o
BHERERTHEE AEFNRE KA
A R)E B -

RIE =T — WFBRE SR LA ER
G- e A = Sy e a1 B ol 1]
WA -Z+~@AREM+NER%E »
Bl 53 B25% ~ 50% - 75% & 100% - K&
BRI+ FHRITE - AR ARIRREE
BEREZNHNEMSIEGTEERER
T o (RI1T {8 B AR i 78 5L AR AR 10 X A+
WREBRESREESET BTED
RTI&EaeHE:

(i) RNERERHEARETEMIME
B (B = P51 AR {0 50 & P Bk A2 AT
WmE: &

(i) EEBRERD BT EE %
B REEBIMEABRERMT
BRI NEBE BB AEFIRTE -
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24

176

Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 LIRELEZEIURMGEER
(Continued) R H (4E)

(@) Share option scheme (Continued) (a)
The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the
year are as follows, whereby all share options are settled by
physical delivery of shares:

BRER 8 (&)
TS SR 6 17 1 O A Y 16 R IR
o Bk ABBREAROED S X

NP
HEHEZUW

Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
B ER
THABE BEKH EHES
Options granted to directors:
ERTESHERE:
— on 30 June 2014 4,600,000 12 months (100%) from 30 June 2014 10 years
— RZZE—WmFA=+H BE-ZT—NFXNA=1+HBF12MEF(100%) +F
— on 30 June 2014 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZZE—WmF~A=+H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + 4
from 30 June 2014
B —MEAAA=THRBF12@EAQ25%) *
244E A (50%) - 3618 A (75%) K 481E A
(100%)
— on 2 July 2015 800,000  100% on 2 July 2015 10 years
—RZE—AFtHA=-H RZTE—RAF+HAZHF100% +4F
— on 2 July 2015 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— R-ZE—-—HE+H=-H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F
from 2 July 2015
BE-E—AF A ZHRBF12EAQ5%) 24
& A (50%) * 361 A (75%) %481 A (100%)
— on 4 July 2016 3,000,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— R-ZE—XFtHAWMA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F
from 4 July 2016
BT —AFtAMABR12EAQ25%) - 24
& B(50%) ~ 361 A (75%) X 481E A (100%)
— on 28 April 2017 3,900,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZZE—tFMmMA=+N\H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + &
from 28 April 2017
BE-Z—+tFMmMA -+ N \BE12A
(25%) ~ 2418 A (50%) ~ 361E A (75%) K 481
H(100%)
— on 4 May 2018 4,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZE-N\FHAWMA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4F
from 4 May 2018
B-Z—N\FHAMBART12MEAQ25%) - 24
&l A(50%) ~ 361E A (75%) & 481E A (100%)
— on 12 April 2019 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— RZZE-AEWMA+=H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T4

from 12 April 2019

BE-F-nFOA+TZAEF2EAQR%)
2418 A(50%) ~ 361 A (75%) % 481E A

(100%)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 ARELE W IR HER

(Continued) W5 (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) B RESE (&)
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BRED
IAYE HEEH EHER
Options granted to employees:
EERTEENERE:
— on 30 June 2014 2,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— RZZE-—WHFEXA=+H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + 4
from 30 June 2014
B-T-—MEXNA=+TBRF12EAH25%)
2418 A(50%) ~ 3618 A (75%) K& 481E A
(100%)
— on 2 July 2015 2,100,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZZE—RFE+HAZH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T+
from 2 July 2015
B-T—AF+tA=-HB12(EAQ25%) - 24
& A (50%) * 361& A (75%) K& 481E A (100%)
— on 4 July 2016 2,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— RZE—XR"FtAWmA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + &
from 4 July 2016
BT —"F+tAMAB12EA25%) * 24
& A (50%) * 361& A (75%) K& 481E A (100%)
— on 28 April 2017 2,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— RZE—+tFHA=-+NH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + &
from 28 April 2017
BE-Z—+tFmMA=-+N\B#E12(EA
(25%) ~ 2418 A (50%) ~ 361 A (75%) & 481
H(100%)
— on 4 May 2018 3,100,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— R=ZE—N\FRHAWMA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F
from 4 May 2018
BT /\FHAMABT12MEAQ25%) 24
18 A(50%) ~ 361 A(75%) %4818 A (100%)
— on 12 April 2019 3,500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZE-—hhFNA+=H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&F

from 12 April 2019

B-ZE-AEMA+=BEF12EAQ25%)
2418 A (50%) - 3618 A (75%) & 481E A
(100%)

—E-AFEH HPBEFESARAT 177/




Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% 3k & MY 5% (&)

24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 AREEEW IR MO EER

178

(Continued)

(@) Share option scheme (Continued)

M5 (&)

(a) BB RRMEET & ()

Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BRER
IAE¥E HBERY BHES
Options granted to
ex-employees:
ERTFAESNERE:
— on 30 June 2014 2,400,000 100% on 30 June 2014 10 years
— RZE—WFA=+H RZZE—WFA=+THE100% T4
— on 30 June 2014 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— R-ZE—WMEXA=+H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F
from 30 June 2014
BZZ—MOFNA=T+HREFH12(EA25%)
241 A (50%) * 361 A (75%) K& 481& A
(100%)
— on 2 July 2015 2,400,000  100% on 2 July 2015 10 years
— R=ZZE—AFtA=H RZZE—RAFEAZHEF100% T4
— on 2 July 2015 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— RZZE—hFEA=H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +&
from 2 July 2015
BE-Z—hFtAZHRBT12AQ25%) - 24
& B (50%) - 361 A(75%) & 481# A (100%)
— on 4 July 2016 1,600,000  100% on 4 July 2016 10 years
—RZE—R"FAlA RZTE—R"E+LANHEF100% +F
— on 4 July 2016 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— RZZE—A"FtAWEA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + 4
from 4 July 2016
B R"FLAMBRF12(EAQ25%) - 24
& A (50%) 3618 A (75%) K& 481E A (100%)
— on 28 April 2017 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZZE—+tFWEA=+NH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + 4
from 28 April 2017
BE-_Z—+tFWNA -+ N\Bi12(EA
(25%) ~ 2418 B (50%) ~ 361 A (75%) K 481
H(100%)
48,500,000
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 LIRELEEW UK A ER

(Continued) RS (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) B AEST 2 (4E)
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share BRENSE RMEEHTEENT

options are as follows:

2019 2018
o TN
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
¥ NFE T
TEE BREZAE IEE k"R
HK$ ‘000 HK$ '000
BET Tk BT F ik
Outstanding as at 1 January R —A—HERTE 1.66 40,600 1.73 33,398
Granted during the year FARE 1.41 7,900 1.34 7,400
Exercised during the year ERNTTE — — 1.01 (48)
Forfeited during the year FRE WK 1.62 (1,200) 1.01 (150)
Cancelled during the year FREHE 1.41 (200) — —
Outstanding as at R+=ZA=+—4
31 December 8 AT 1.62 47,100 1.66 40,600
Exercisable as at R+-—BA=+—H
31 December AT 29,400 24,125
No share options was exercised during the year ended 31 BE_ET—hE+_BA=+—BLEE
December 2019. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the A ETEEMBERE - HE_Z— )\
weighted average share price at the date the share options F+_A=+—"HIEFE REBERET
were exercised was HK$1.34. BB DN RE G R% (B A S 1 347 -
The options outstanding as at 31 December 2019 had exercise RZE-—AF+ZA=+—8 " #KRT
prices ranging from HK$1.34 to HK$1.90 (2018: ranging from FHERENTEBEN FTHBE134TES
HK$1.34 to HK$1.90) and weighted average remaining #1907 (= FE— N\F : N FE 34T
contractual life of 6.7 years (2018: 7.3 years). ZEHEEI00T) HMEFEY HBEHNE

HR6TFE(ZE—N\F:73F) -

ZE-NEEFEHR ESBETESERLA 179
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions

180

(Continued)

(b) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on Black Scholes Model. The
contractual life of the share option is used as an input into this
model.

Fair value of share options and
assumptions

2019
BRENDAEBERRER —E-—NF

Fair value at measurement date REEAHNAREME
Share price & &
Exercise price B

Expected volatility (expressed as
modelling under Black Scholes Model) £ 71/)

Option life (expressed as weighted
average life used in the modelling
under Black-Scholes model)

FHEID

Expected dividends TEEA AR B
Risk-free interest rate
(based on the yield of Hong Kong
Government Bonds)

HWERFE

T8 BRR 18 (3210 ) 52 &7 @ A
weighted average volatility used in the £z FTF 2 14 F 158 18

B e B U (A 0 e T
BT U P A 2 I 71

ERRANE(ZEEREE

0L REEES IR AER
MRS (HE)

(b) BRENIABERRR

ERREBRERBEMESHREAA
EBE D2REELBRENRALEE
AE BEROBRENGFTAAEBETD
BB D e i AT A FE o R A TR
SR RBRENAGHOFS-

2018

—E-N\F

HK$0.113 HK$0.169
A& 10.113 T 7 #0.1697T
HK$1.39 HK$1.34

A #1.397T & #1.347T
HK$1.406 HK$1.34

7 #£1.406 T 7 #1.347T
23.2% 28.7%

5 years 5 years

5% 54

6.7% 6.6%
1.628% 2.199%

The expected volatility is made with reference to the daily
historical volatilities of the Company with period commensurate
to the expected option life. Expected dividends are based on
historical dividends. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services received. There were no
market conditions associated with the share option grants.
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25 Capital and reserves

(a) Movements in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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25 XK i

(a) EBAEZED
AEEFNRFREMD NGRS L
HROHEHINRNGARZEH R - AR
RBY RSN D MFINEFRNEEF

the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity BEERIIAT
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out as
below:
The Company FNNE|
Share Capital Retained Total
capital reserve profits equity
[N EXFE REHF BEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT
As at 1 January 2018 R-Z2-N§-A-H 296,039 5,028 50,539 351,606
Dividends approved in respect of ~FEEE# RS
the previous year (Note 11) (Bizt11) — - (50,062) (50,062)
Issue of shares (Note 25(b)(ii)) BATRG (BT 222500)07) 54 (5) — 49
Equity-settled share-based NIREE B ARD A
transactions ERNZ S — 944 — 944
Lapse of share options BREXR — (16) 16 —
Total comprehensive income for ~ AFE2HEKELE
the year — — 75,179 75,179
Dividends declared in respect of A& EE R K& &R
the current year (Note 117) B(tar1) — — (27.812) (27.812)
As at 31 December 2018 (Note) R=-ZE-N&£+=A
=t-BH7) 296,093 5,951 47,860 349,904
Dividends approved in respect of ~ E&EE KRS
the previous year (Note 11) (Hfz11) — — (47,678) (47,678)
Equity-settled share-based MR B AR A
transactions AR S — 836 — 836
Lapse of share options BREXH - (37) 37 =
Total comprehensive income for ~ AEE 2 EWE AT
the year — — 83,650 83,650
Dividends declared in respect of ~ AFEBRZEREH K
the current year (Note 17) B(Hi) — — (26,223) (26,223)
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-N%§
+=R=+-H 296,093 6,750 57,646 360,489
Note: The Group, including the Company, has initially applied HKFRS Wit AEBE(EEARE])ER=ZFE—N

16 as at 1 January 2019 using the modified retrospective

approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not

restated and there is no net effect on the opening balance of
the company’s equity as at 1 January 2019. See Note 1(c) and

Note 30.

F—A—HREHEETEREE R
R BE B B IMEER)DE 165 -
RIFUE 5% LEEI L EHEF
AHRAR-_FE-NF—-—A—AH
Bl ma il FEEKFZE - A

BaE1(c) & K1 a#30 -

EZBETESARLAT
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(b) Share capital (b) B

(i) Issued share capital

255K w1 (E)

(i) BBITRAE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —T-N\%F
Number of Number of
shares Amounts shares Amounts
BRHEHE k% -] B EE k-]
in ‘000 HK$'000 in 000 HK$'000
T’ BT T Tk BETT
Ordinary shares, issued ZEKR ERTR
and fully paid: BE:
As at 1 January wn—H—H 794,634 296,093 794,586 296,039
Shares issued under share R 1% & i% # 51 21 3%
option schemes 1THY AR 19 — — 48 54
As at 31 December ®+=ZA=+—H 794,634 296,093 794,634 296,093

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company
do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(b) Share capital (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Shares issued under share option scheme

During the year, no share options was exercised to
subscribe for ordinary shares (2018: 48,000 ordinary shares
at a consideration of HK$49,000) in the Company of which
all was credited to share capital in accordance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. No capital reserve
(2018: HK$5,000) has been transferred correspondingly to
the share capital account in accordance with the policy set
out in Note 1(q)(ii).

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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25 B AL fw s (4&)

(b) B ()

(ii)

BREBRESTERITHRAG

A RETRERNRFLTAR (2
EREEECA RMEFI) ABRERA)
WEREETE(ZST - N\F:
48,0000 T @ k- K B B &
49,0007T) B EE A FHE(Z T
— J\4F : B ¥5,0007T) 2 1R B A7 T
1(q)(ii) BT 0 B R B8 1 &= B AN B ©

Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at (iii) ABRERRKRI B RRITEERE
the end of the reporting period: B 15 3K

2019 2018
ZE2-nEF —N\EF
Number of Number of
Exercise period Cigidi Exercise price options options
TEE BREZE FBIREZA

30 June 2014 to 29 June 2024 Z-MESA=tAHZ HK$1.90
_Y_Eli/\ﬁ +hA A1 9070 11,500,000 11,500,000

2 July 2015 to 1 July 2025 —Z2-hFtAZHE HK$1.78
—E-AFtA—H A1 78T 7,500,000 7,500,000

4 July 2016 to 3 July 2026 —E-R"FtAMAEE HK$1.57
—ZZREtA=H B 57T 7,400,000 7,400,000

28 April 2017 to 27 April 2027 :f—ﬁﬁpﬂﬁ “+tN\HE HK$1.592
ZEZ+FMAZTEA A 159270 6,800,000 6,800,000

4 May 2018 to 3 May 2028 “E-\ERAMAE HK$1.34
—Z-N\§HA=H A1 347 7,400,000 7,400,000

12 April 2019 to 11 April 2029 “E-AEMA+-AZ HK$1.406
“E-NEWA+T—HA 51,4067 7,900,000 —
48,500,000 40,600,000

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(0]

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the grant date fair value of
unexercised share options granted to directors, employees
and ex-employees of the Company recognised
accordance with the accounting policies adopted for share
based payments set out in Note 1(q)(ii).

in

- NEFFR BEZBEFEZERAA

() REHNEERRBER

(0]

N
EXARFBERERTARAES
BELAEBYRERRAZ1(q)
(i) S A B A7 75 2 B ) 52 A 1 BR A
& TR P RE R 1R R 1T (R A A
MEHBEBRAREE-
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

184

(d)

(e)

(ii) Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note

1(r).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change
in the fair value of debt securities measured at FVOCI
under HKFRS 9 held at the end of the reporting period
(see Note 1(i)).

(iii)

Other reserve

The other reserve represents
transfer from annual profits up to a maximum of 50% of
the issued and paid up capital of the Macau subsidiary in
accordance with the Macau Commercial Code.

(iv)

is non-distributable and

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2019, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company
was HK$57,646,000 (2018: HK$47,860,000). After the end of
the reporting period, the directors proposed a final dividend of
HK 6.5 cents per ordinary share (2018: HK 6.0 cents per
share), amounting to HK$51,651,000 (2018: HK$47,678,000).
This dividend has not been recognised as a liability at the end
of the reporting period.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safequard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to enable the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due
for the foreseeable future. The Group has no external
borrowing at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s capital structure is regularly reviewed and
managed with due regard to the capital management objectives
of the Group.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

25 A K f# s (&)

()

(d)

(e)
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risk arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. These risks are limited
by the Group’s financial management policies and practices
described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, contract assets and investments in debt securities.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and deposits with banks is limited because the
counterparties are major banks, for which the Group considers
to have low credit risk. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

Trade receivables and contract assets

When registering as a subscriber, a customer is automatically
assigned with a credit limit based on the amount of its deposit
or bank guarantee and is normally given credit periods ranging
from one day to one month. Credit terms offered by other
companies of the Group are based on individual commercial
terms negotiated with customers. The amount of deposit is
determined on a customer-by-customer basis, depending on its
usage of the Company’s services. Generally, if a customer
reaches or exceeds its credit limit before the normal billing
cycle, an ad hoc bill will be issued to the customers for
payment by bank direct debit. However, if a customer is in
default of payment for whatever reason, its account is
automatically suspended from operation until all outstanding
charges have been fully settled. For that reason, customers may
also, and often do, place deposits with the Company from time
to time to cover their charges.

There is, however, no credit policy for the Company’s ad hoc
customers who are required to pay the relevant charges
(including service charges, service centre handling fees and
Government fees) in full when using the Company over-the-
counter services.
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EERBREHF I RERSNEHEH
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EERBREIZREEEER aHNEE
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26 Financial risk management and fair 260 KRABEERAAEBE
values (Continued) (%)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERM (&)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The Group’'s exposure to credit risk from trade receivables is
influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which the
customers operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 39.3% (2018: 2.1%) and 66.9% (2018: 25.3%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
contract assets are set out in Note 79.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience indicates different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is distinguished between the Group's different
customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and
contract assets:

ERERREHNEE (H)
AEERBERERNEERREER
EREMENFEMEEMIERTFP LY
EBHENITEXNBRAMEZE  Bitfs
BERBREEETHBRAEERHENEAS
BHENEFEERNRRAERESE -
HREBMR393% (ZE—NF:2.1%)
}66.9% (ZF — /\4F : 25.3% ) K & UK
ERBES N ARRKASENEARTF
EARBEFEHRIE-

EBAEBEREBRKERRENEEN
EERBNE—SPELEEER  HP
Kiit19 -

AEEZBAERE2HENEERENS
BOBBRBRRE A ) R B ERERER R
RHEEBBRERB AAKENBER
ERBERBERTRATPIREEZED
BR R - SR a B IR R A B R0 B 1R B
BEAKBETRATEFPEERED

TERREABASREFEESHEEAR
A B M B T 4 4 TR 8
B

Provision
Gross on
carrying individual ECL Loss
amount [ EHH rates ECLs allowance
BHEE A
REAE @EiEE BEE GEEFE BERG
HK$'000 HK$’'000 % HKS$'000 HK$'000
BETRT BETT BETT BE¥TR
Neither past due nor impaired I #E @ BN ERE 46,410 (367) = = (367)
Less than 1 month past due ¥ Hi 3 — 1@ A 8,111 — — — —
1 to 3 months past due mB—==EA 3,997 — — — —
Over 3 months past due B AR R = E A 6,589 (695) 7.8% (458) (1,153)
65,107 (1,062) (458) (1,520)
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26 Financial risk management and fair 26 BEAREERAAEE
values (Continued) (#8)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EE =B (8])

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) ERERRENEE (&)
2018
—E-N\F
Provision
Gross on
carrying individual Loss
amount basis ECL rates ECLs  allowance
EHE TEHR
REAE [EAREE BEBFEX FEFE FERRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BAEFr % BEFrT BETT
Neither past due nor impaired 3 £ i 5 1 4 5 (& 30,262 — — — —
Less than 1 month past due ¥ Hi >3 —1{E A 4,927 — — — —
1 to 3 months past due M —==@A 3,165 — — — —
Over 3 months past due B ERER R =E A 6,098 — 5.5% (335) (335)
44,452 — (335) (335)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past three years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the
historic data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group's view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for which allowance is made on an
individual basis based on expected loss rate determined on the
basis described above.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, management
considers that (i) no impairment allowance is necessary in
respect of those balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered
fully recoverable, and (ii) allowance is made in respect of
balances over 3 months past due on both individual and
collective basis based on expected loss rate determined on the
basis as described above.
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

188

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables and contract assets during the year is as follows:

6B REMEER
(&)

QX NREE

(a) FE R ()
EWRRREHNEE (F)

FA - FRARKERARGNEENEBR
BRERBEZHMT

2019 2018
ZE-hEF —ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
As at 1 January w—A—H 335 163
Amounts written off during the year FAMIE S5 (566) (619)
Impairment losses recognised during FAEBRRMEEE
the year 1,751 791
As at 31 December W+=—A=+—8H 1,520 335
Investments in debt securities BEEIESFRE
Investments in debt securities are normally in liquid securities BEBHRE —RARRA R 5

quoted on a recognised stock exchange, issued by corporate
with sound credit standing (Note 78). Given their high credit
standing, management does not expect any investment
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. Nevertheless, the
Group's financial advisor monitors the situation and will notify
the Group of any change. In addition, the Investment
Committee undertakes annual reviews of the Group’s
exposures.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group does not have
any significant concentration of credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the statement of financial position. The
Group does not provide any other guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

The Group measures loss allowances for debt securities at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.
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26 Financial risk management and fair 26 BEAREERAAEE

values (Continued) (#&)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EE =B (8])
Investments in debt securities (Continued) BEERBHFRE (B
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of debt FRN AREBESFNEBEERE S
securities during the year is as follows: RN

2019 2018
—%-nF —F-NF

12-month Lifetime 12-month Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL ECL Total

1218 B 21 1218 A 2 H

A A 8 5 8 5
FEER fFEESB a FEEE GEEB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BE¥Tr B¥Tr Rkl a1

Balance as at N—A—BW&E&H%
1 January 2,125 — 2,125 5,863 — 5,863

Amounts written off  4F Al $ & ZE

during the year — — — (3,894) — (3,894)
Transfer to lifetime 8 A I £ {5 & (A

ECL not credit 2HEHEE

impaired EiE (308) 308 — — — —

Impairment losses FAEHARRE
recognised during EiE

the year 141 1,220 1,361 365 — 365
Reversal of FAREFIERE

impairment loss

during the year (58) — (58) (209) — (209)

Balance as at 31 R+t-—BA=+—H
December ) 4 f4 1,900 1,528 3,428 2,125 — 2,125
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

190

(b) Liquidity risk

(c)

All cash management of the Group, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and raising of loans, if needed, to
cover expected cash demands, are managed centrally by the
Company. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s current liabilities was
HK$216,752,000. Except for billings in advance of HK$800,000,
all trade creditors, contract liabilities and other payables of
HK$215,952,000 as indicated in Note 21, were due to be
repaid or recognised as income during the next financial year or
repayable upon demand. The Group will address the short-term
liquidity requirement inherent in this contractual maturity date
with internal resources.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk
arises primarily from investments in fixed income debt securities
(Note 18) and floating rate bank balances, which expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate

risk.

26 EBREER A

REE

(%)

(b) "B ESE R

(c)
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2019, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would increase/decrease the Group's
profit after tax and retained profits by approximately
HK$489,000 (2018: HK$376,000). The fair value reserve in the
consolidated equity would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$2,526,000 (2018: HK$3,809,000) in response.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s consolidated equity that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those fixed income debt securities held by the Group
which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the
end of the reporting period. In respect of the exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate bank balances
held by the Group at the end of the reporting period, the
impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) is
estimated as an annualised impact on interest income of such a
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2018 for cash flow interest rate risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through
debt securities denominated in United States dollars and
investments in PRC incorporated entities. Given the fact that
the exchange rates of United States dollars and Hong Kong
dollars are currently pegged, management does not expect that
there will be any significant currency risk associated with the
investment in debt securities denominated in United States
dollars. The Group has not hedged the foreign exchange
exposure in relation to its investments in PRC incorporated
entities.
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26 Financial risk management and fair

values (Continued)

(e) Fair value measurement

HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement categorises fair value
measurements into a three-level hierarchy. The level into which
a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:

e Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

e Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not available

e Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

At 31 December 2019, the debt securities measured at FVOCI
(Note 18) held by the Group fall into Level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy described above.

The fair value of corporate bonds traded in active markets is
based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period and included in Level 1.

During the year ended 2019 and 2018, there were no transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at
the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused
the transfer.

27 Commitments

192

(a) Capital commitments

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2019 not
provided for in the financial statements amounted to
HK$3,687,000 (2018: HK$1,513,000). They were mainly in
respect of the purchase of leasehold improvements and office
equipment for the Group.

In addition, the Group was committed as at 31 December 2019
to enter into a lease of three years that is not yet commenced,
the lease payments under which amounted to HK$1,860,000
per annum.
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27 Commitments (Continued)

(b) Operating leases
As at 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of
property rentals are payable as follows:
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27 &I (1)

(b) K&HE
RZE-N\F+-A=+—H RED
AREEETHE  RENYEESRR
REMNHREESNREENT

2018

—T—)\F

HK$'000

BT T

Within one year —F A 688

More than one year but within five years —FRERLFNA 327

1,015
The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties AEEREAZEMERBEATRE
and items of plant and machinery and office equipment held (BEASTEINEITR B AKEHE
under leases which were previously classified as operating WHERENRERERARRRESR
leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially applied HKFRS HEENABA AEEBEFERLER]
16 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this BYHEERERCERSHEHRE LR
approach, the group adjusted the opening balances as at 1 E1e% o RIBUL L REEBFEN =
January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to these T-NF—A—HWOEELR  UER
leases (see Note 7(c)). From 1 January 2019 onwards, future EzEsEHENHEaB(RNI
lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities in the 1) - BZZE—NF—A—HE XX
statement of financial position in accordance with the policies TAE R TIIRIBEM 27 1() B 8 BUR 7R B
set out in Note 1(), and the details regarding the group’s BMRARAERABEEAG MAEBARN
future lease payments are disclosed in Note 21 (d). EERREENROFBERERNNZ27

(@ -
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28 Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material related party transactions:

(a)

(b)

Recurring transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group provided
security solution services to TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL”), an
associate of a substantial shareholder and generated revenue of
HK$463,000 (2018: HK$64,000). The Group also generated
HK$25,000 (2018: HK$29,000) from TAL for providing
electronic solutions in processing certain government related
documents.

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company’s executive directors as disclosed
in Note 9 and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in Note 10, is as follows:

EREABALRE

BRUESHBRREMEHRENR S REH

BN

(a)

(b)

REBTETATEREHRALRS

KREETHRS
HE-_FT-—hF+ZA=+—HL#HF
EAEEMBERKXRER QA
(TTALDN(BEZ R R B8 A) IR H/F
&7 BRI 8% 15 Wk &5 74 #463,0007T (=
T— )\ : B#64,0007T) o AN £ H T2
HEEETRFHEBXXHOE TR
IR TALER B8 25,000 (ZZE— N\
£ 8 #29,0007T) °

FTEEBEAEME
TBEEBAEBME (BERMZIRKE
BERARRRNITEE N O TR RN
IR BEERETRSHFREENN
R

2019 2018

—E2-hF =Z— NE

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Short-term employee benefits REHEERF 18,079 17,109
Post-employment benefits 1 E 18 18 18 T 90 90
Equity compensation benefits & 7 %5 (8 78 F 555 607
18,724 17,806

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note 6(a)).

29 Charges on assets and contingent
liabilities

194

Pursuant to the terms of the contracts with the Government, the

Group has obtained two bank guarantees totaling HK$2,138,000
(2018: three bank guarantees totaling HK$4,218,000) from banks for

the

due performance of the contracts by the Group. The bank

guarantees and performance bond are secured by a charge over
deposit totaling HK$2,138,000 (2018: HK$4,218,000).

BBt A[MEBRA (R Z6()) -

WEEHRCTRIEAME

AR E B R] S A & K6 R

KEBERZE

BITAHBRITESMERITERAE LB
2,138,000 (ZE—N\F : ZHRTERAE
H B #4,218,0007T) ° IRITER EBHER

A&

H & 2,138,000 (Z T —NF : B

4,218,0007T) 17 AR AE R AR ©
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30 Company-level statement of financial 3022 & B m /) B # ik R &
position

31 December 1 January 31 December
2019 2019 2018
—E-hE —Z-NF —T-N\F
+=A=+-A —A—B +ZA=+—-8
(Note) (Note)
(B i) (B i)
Note HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wiz BETT BETT BETT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment 1% - & E K& 23,078 26,605 25,912
Interest in associates IFIRED: RN X 16 13,977 16,101 16,101
Interest in subsidiaries Fri M B A Rl 15 90,161 91,318 91,318
Deferred tax assets REFIEE E 28 27 27
127,244 134,051 133,358
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables and contract EUWEER R A K EE
assets 26,741 22,654 22,654
Other receivables, prepayments X fth fig U k18 ~ 78 1+
and other contract costs RIEREMER
B A 8,681 6,398 6,398
Loans to subsidiaries BTHBARER 231,014 245,775 245,775
Amounts due from subsidiaries & U [ff /B X &) Z 18 63,358 63,294 63,294
Deposits with bank HRATF R 12,238 4,222 4,222
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFE 87,919 72,714 72,714
429,951 415,057 415,057
Current liabilities REAE
Trade creditors, contract ERER - 208 E
liabilities and other payables K E b & (< 5k 18 167,284 175,699 175,308
Amount due to a subsidiary ER—E W E LA
KIB 14,025 16,399 16,399
Taxation Bi1E 11,259 2,869 2,869
192,568 194,967 194,576
Net current assets REEEFE 237,383 220,090 220,481
Total assets less current EEHAEBERTRBHEAE
liabilities 364,627 354,141 353,839
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30 Company-level statement of financial 302 7B @ /Y B # ik R & (&)
position (Continued)

31 December 1 January 31 December
2019 2019 2018
ZE-hF —T-hF —T-N\F
TEEZETF= —A—HB +ZA=+—H
(Note) (Note)
(#at) (H1 i)
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
gz BYET T BET T BET T
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Provision for long service REREBE
payments 2,748 2,819 2,819
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE 958 1,116 1,116
Other payables E fth & 5B 432 302 —
4,138 4,237 3,935
NET ASSETS BEEFE 360,489 349,904 349,904
Capital and reserves ERRFE
Share capital % A< 25(b)(i) 296,093 296,093 296,093
Reserves & 64,396 53,811 53,811
TOTAL EQUITY R 360,489 349,904 349,904
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 KEEEN_ZT-_TF=A=-1+THAHER
March 2020. BT -
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S., J.P. E
Chairman ZNEEL  sBS, JP.
TSE Kam Keung HITEE
Executive Director it 87 5]
Note: The Company has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using Kt - AREBFER —FE—NEF—H—AEHE
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, 15 5T 28 W% B K ER & BB 7% 3 &5 28
comparative information is not restated. See Note 1(c). RIDE 1695 - IR UL T 2% » I AEE S H B

B A1) -
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31 Non-adjusting events after the

reporting period

After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a final
dividend of HK 6.5 cents per share (2018: HK 6.0 cents per share)
for the year ended 31 December 2019, amounting to
HK$51,651,000 (2018: HK$47,678,000). This dividend has not been
recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

32 Comparative figures

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
Further details of the
changes in accounting policies are disclosed in Note 1(c).

comparative information is not restated.

33 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued
but not yet effective for the annual
accounting period ended 31 December
2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments and a new standard, HKFRS
17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and which have not been adopted in
these financial statements. These developments include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or
after

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a
business

1 January 2020

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8,
Definition of material

1 January 2020

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

~NEFH ERBEBFESERAT 197/

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

81 75 3R & MY 5% ()

BTHEHERAFENS R

RBEHRE BEEREEBE-_ZT—NF
+TZ A=+ —HBLEFEMNKRERESR6.5%
W((ZZ—N\F: 5R60EN) AE£BE
51,651,0007T (=& — )\ & : & ¥47,678,000
) o ZBRERBMEMRLEABRABE -

NRLEEEF

AEECR-_ZF—NF— A REAEER
EBPEERRMCE BB B RS LERDE6
e RBU TR UEBILRER - &5
BERB B E — FFBRAZ1OWE -

BEE=_ZFE—-NF+=A
=t+t—HLEFEEFHEE
MM R MAVIERT %

HEAIRZRETRELENTE
REAHBREFGAM TERHALE

BT E TR K —E R (BB UMW
SEADFR  RREA)  ERBE_F
—NAFFTZA=FT—HLEFEHRER T
ARAPBHRPED Bt @AKE
BRMERMT o

RTF AR

ZEBBRE

SERFBEX

(BERBREEL) —E-FF
EEVACCHPRE V- —HA—H
(BAEGHEF IR R —TTF
(BB ETAER)FE8R —A—H

(BR]) » EX It E £

ZK‘%%%IEE%EDS?"EE%MFE%EEF? 1

EELANTE LN EBERBRMZEE
E$KT§E§¥T£¥ MBWMREREATE -




Five-Year Financial Summary

EFEHEHME

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
%75 [EEEIUICIEE S S A
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 BETT BETT BETT BT BETT
Results S
(vear ended 31 December) (BEF=A=1—HIFE)
Revenue g 2 337,175 271,930 241,830 231,302 222,719
Profit from operations BEHEF 7,2 101,219 104,766 94,169 91,931 85,982
Impairment loss on other financial HtM B EERNERR
assets (1,303) (156) (8,242) — —
Impairment loss on interest in an R—HEBERRAEEN
associate BEBE (4,500) — — — —
Share of results of associates b s RAEE 798 1,540 2,415 (10,557) 6,596
Profit before taxation B B i it 96,214 106,150 88,342 81,374 92,578
Taxation BE 7,23 (14,013) (16,382) (14,222) 2.122) (11,174)
Profit for the year AEE R 82,201 89,768 74,120 79,252 81,404
Attributable to: PATALRER
Equity shareholders of ARAREREA
the Company 82,201 89,768 74,120 79,252 81,404
Profit for the year KERRF 82,201 89,768 74,120 79,252 81,404
Assets and Liabilities EERER
(as at 31 December) (R+=BA=+—H)
Total non-current assets FNDEELR 7,3 328,011 363,859 427,254 465,918 293,609
Total current assets REEELR 1,23 264,282 188,743 134,670 98,706 283,119
Total assets BEBRE 592,293 552,602 561,924 564,624 576,728
Total non-current liabilities knPEELE 1,23 (4,614) (4,382) (3,316) (3,449) (3,548)
Total current liabilities BB ELE 7,2 (216,752) (197,463) (204,198) (210,824) (212,531)
Total liabilities BEEE (221,366) (201,845) (207,514) (214,273) (216,079)
Net assets BEFAE 370,927 350,757 354,410 350,351 360,649
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Notes to the five year summary:

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 16, Leases, with effect from 1 January
2019, the Group has changed its accounting policies in respect of the
lessee accounting model. In accordance with the transitional provisions of
the standard, the changes in accounting policies were adopted by way of
opening balance adjustments to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 January 2019. After initial recognition of these assets and
liabilities, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise interest expense
accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the previous policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Figures in years earlier than 2019 are stated
in accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers, with effect from 1 January 2018, the Group has changed its
accounting policies in respect of revenue recognition. In accordance with
the transitional provisions of the standard, the changes in accounting
policies were adopted by way of opening balance adjustments to equity as
at 1 January 2018. Figures in years earlier than 2018 are stated in
accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

The Group adopted HKFRS 9, Financial instruments from 1 January 2018. As
a result, the Group has changed its accounting policies in relation to
financial instruments. As allowed by HKFRS 9, the Group has not restated
information relating to prior years. Differences in the carrying amounts of
the financial assets resulting from the adoption of HKFRS 9 were
recognised in retained earnings and reserves at 1 January 2018. There was
no difference in the carrying amounts of the financial liabilities. Figures in
years earlier than 2018 are stated in accordance with the policies applicable
in those years.
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Five-Year Financial Summary (Continued)
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Other Financial Assets

HttM BEE

Other financial assets held as at 31 December 2019 with nominal value

at US$3 million or above are as follows:

UTARR=F

—hWF+ZA=+—HF#HE

A HYE 183,000,000 7T 5k BA - #9 E B 75

BE
Nominal
Issuer Principal business Coupon value  Maturity date
BITA FEXEK EEA=E EHE F#A
US$'000
FER
Zhaohai Investment (BVI) Limited Industrial Other 4% 3,000 23 Jul 2020
Hfb T —E_ZF+A-+=H
Sunshine Life Insurance Corporation Limited  Life Insurance 3.15% 3,000 20 Apr 2021
X ABRBRKRNDBRA A ASFRE —E-—FMAZ=+H
Chongging Nan’an Urban Construction & Industrial Other 3.625% 3,000 19 Jul 2021
Development (Group) Co., Ltd. Hfb T —E-—FtHA+ANHA
EETEHFERTERER(EE)ER AR
BOC Aviation Limited Commercial Finance 2.375% 3,000 15 Sep 2021
PRMEEAEERAF [EEIA:: —E_-FAATHA
Union Life Insurance Co., Ltd. Life Insurance 3% 3,000 19 Sep 2021
ERASRBKRHERA A ASBRE —E_-FAATNA
Bluestar Finance Holdings Limited Chemicals 3.5% 3,000 30 Sep 2021
e~ —E_-FAA=+H
China Great Wall International Holdings Il Financial Services 2.625% 3,000 27 Oct 2021
Limited T AR 7% —T-_—F+tA-++tH
China Cinda Finance (2017) | Limited Financial Services 3.65% 3,000 09 Mar 2022
TR T -_F=ANA
ICBCIL Finance Co. Limited Commercial Finance 3.375% 3,000 05 Apr 2022

THREBEEHEMBAR QA

EE A

T _FMARHA
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Investor Relations and Key Dates

REEHEAREEZRH

The Company encourages two-way communication with both its
institutional and individual investors. Extensive information about the
Company’s activities is provided in the Annual Report. There is regular
communication with institutional and individual investors. Enquiries from
individuals on matters relating to their shareholdings and the business of
the Company are welcome and are dealt with in an informative and
timely manner.

Financial Calendar
Closure of Register of Members:
— to ascertain shareholders entitlement

to attend and vote at the 2020
Annual General Meeting

5 May 2020 — 8 May 2020
(both days inclusive)

— to ascertain shareholders qualified for
the Final Dividend

14 May 2020 — 18 May 2020
(both days inclusive)

2020 Annual General Meeting 8 May 2020

Final Dividend Payment Date On or about 29 May 2020

Listings

The Company'’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 28 October 2005.

Annual Report 2019

This Annual Report 2019, in both English and Chinese, is now available in
printed form as well as on the Company’s website at www.tradelink.com.hk
and the website of HKEXnews at www.hkexnews.hk

Stock Code

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited — 00536
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Investor Relations and Key Dates (Continued)

REEBHAAREEZEHH(E)

Registered Office

11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone: +852 2599 1600
Fax: +852 2506 0188

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2862 8555

Fax: +852 2865 0990

Investor Relations

Ms. Wong Siu Yee, Grace

Vice President (Investor Relations and Corporate Communications)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2161 4370

Fax: +852 2506 0188

Email: ir@tradelink.com.hk

Website

www.tradelink.com.hk

EER g Y

BEEEE

MHEE B35

B &R LB

1118 K128

% 3% : +852 2599 1600
fEHE : +852 2506 0188

ROBFERTE

EREPREFELBERADA
BB BT

R RNEFR1835%

A MR T7IE
171281716 %

% 3% +852 2862 8555
{EE : +852 2865 0990

REEBRE

F &N

Blaasl (IR EEBRRDFEEHE)
B5BETFTESERAA
HEEE

MHE A B35

B &R LB

1M1ERI121E

T 5E © +852 2161 4370

{85 : +852 2506 0188

E I : ir@tradelink.com.hk

At

www.tradelink.com.hk
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Corporate Information
NCIE -2

Board of Directors

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily (Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. LEE Delman

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

Board Committees

Audit Committee

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman)
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

Remuneration Committee
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman)
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Nomination Committee

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. (Chairman)
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Investment Committee
Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman)
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
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Corporate Information (Continued)

A A EH )

Corporate Governance Committee
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman)
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily (Chief Operations Officer)
Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie (Chief Financial Officer)

Company Secretary

Mr. HO Chi Kin Joseph

Auditor

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor
registered in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

Bankers

Dah Sing Bank, Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Registered Office

11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone: +852 2599 1600
Fax: +852 2506 0188

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2862 8555

Fax: +852 2865 0990

In case of inconsistencies between the English and Chinese versions, the
English version shall prevail to the extent of such inconsistencies.
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Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

11/F & 12/F, Tower B, Regent Centre,

63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2599 1600 Fax: (852) 2506 0188

Corporate Website: www.tradelink.com.hk
Business Portal: www.tradelink-ebiz.com

BEZBRETEZHARAT
BEREFNESESEERTUBELIRR 1212
E|5E 1 (852) 2599 1600 fEH : (852) 2506 0188
AT - www.tradelink.com.hk

EFES5E4H : www.tradelink-ebiz.com

@ This report is printed on environmentally friendly paper ZA#§ % SAIBERARIRENS



	Cover
	Corporate Profile
	Contents
	Financial Highlights
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Environmental, Social and Governance Report
	Directors’ Report
	Other Information
	Report of the Auditors
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Five-Year Financial Summary
	Other Financial Assets
	Investor Relations and Key Dates
	Corporate Information
	Back Cover



